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Yashili International Holdings Ltd (the “Company” or “Yashili”) [stock code: 01230) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”)

As a whole is a domestically leading professional infant formula producer with international presence that
focuses on the production and sales of premium infant formula and nutrition food. The Group has factories in
Guangdong, Shanxi, Inner Mongolia and New Zealand. It sells infant formula through widely recognized brands
such as Yashily, Reeborne and Doraler, milk powder for adults under brands such as Yourui, as well as various
nutrition food including milk powder for children and dissolvable products.
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

11/F, East Tower, Poly Development Plaza
832 Yuejiang Road Central

Haizhu District, Guangzhou City
Guangdong Province

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room A, 32nd Floor
COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED ADDRESS OF THE COMPANY
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Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
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Wan Chai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

Office of the Board

INVESTOR ENQUIRY HOTLINE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
/_\—Jé*’l’[na]

STOCK CODE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange 01230
COMPANY’'S WEBSITE
www.yashili.hk

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited
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LEGAL ADVISERS
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Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP

As to Cayman law
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Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance)

Notes:
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Yashili
International Holdings Ltd, | hereby present the Annual Report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 to all
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

The partial resurgence of the COVID-19 epidemic in 2022
created a difficult situation for the consumer market in China.
Moreover, the newborn population is still trending downward,
“competition for existing volume” as the
saturation of the infant formula milk powder market becomes

and there is fierce

more evident. In addition, the 2023 implementation of the “new
national standards” for milk powder, coupled with the “recipe
re-registration” system, will accelerate “winner take all”
dynamics and result in greater industry concentration. During
the period, Yashili strived to pursue new opportunities amid
changes and adversity, demonstrating its resilience. Yashili is
committed to developing its business at a stable and healthy
rate and positioning itself to gain market share under the more
stringent regulatory requirements.

On the other hand, the competitive landscape between domestic
brands and foreign brands quietly shifted. Because of the
COVID-19 epidemic, foreign brands with overseas factories
faced pressures on production and transportation, accelerating
In addition, the
China-chic trend in consumption has become more popular, and

the market share gains of domestic brands.

consumer confidence in domestic brands is getting stronger. As
a quality domestic milk powder brand, Yashili leveraged these
market trends during the year, providing new growth momentum
for its business.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
FRRBEE)

The Group continued to promote research and development
work on infant milk powder and nutritional products in
2022, garnering wide recognition for its achievements.
Reeborne “Enzhi” [ B % ) , Reeborne’s first infant formula
milk powder product to apply the world-leading innovation of
MLCT-structured lipid and new OPO, and Reeborne “Jingzhi” (&
Z ), Reeborne’s first desert organic infant formula milk powder
in the world, both passed the new national standard registration.
In addition, the research and development work that led to their
development was highly praised by experts including fellows of
the Chinese Academy of Engineering. On the nutritional products
front, a number of products under the brand Yourui acquired the
national low Gl certification in order to meet the health needs
of the middle aged and elderly. In addition, the Group deepened
its research and insights into hot consumer trends, enriched its
product matrix, and developed specialty products like skim milk
powder with fruit and vegetable enzymes and goji drinks with
collagen peptides.

Yashili continued to strengthen its sales channels for infant
formula milk powder and nutritional products. On one hand,
it focused on opening channels in lower-tier markets by
cooperating with well-known mother-and-baby chain stores and
regional chain stores with presence nationwide. On the other
hand, the Group devoted great effort to promoting channels
and establishing quality stores. On the digital marketing front,
amid the effects of the epidemic, the Group empowered stores
to strengthen their digital marketing capabilities and implement
innovative marketing practices including community marketing,
pop up stores and live streaming commerce. In the meantime,
the Group used the “In-can Code (# A )" to build a parenting
ecosystem driven by both a bonus point award system and
content marketing, thus enhancing customers’ brand loyalty.

In 2022, the Group continued to adhere to the quality policy of
“Trust ({Z#8), Outstanding (£ #) and Preferred (B ®]". With
quality strategy planning as our guiding principle, the Group
continued to implement a comprehensive quality management
strategy and stringent quality control in order to ensure that
our products meet the highest domestic and international
standards, facilitating our own development and that of the
industry. During the period, the Group continued to meet the
standards of advanced international quality and food safety
systems such as FSSC22000, SQF, and BRCGS, and became the
first infant formula milk powder enterprise in China to have its
products assessed and certified under EU food standards (SGS]).
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

The Group assumes its corporate social responsibility
through actions. During the outbreak of the epidemic, the
Group responded to the call of the nation, implemented the
corporate mission of “Nutrient in a drop, blooming every life
(B & & &2 S @4 @), and played an active role in
facilitating epidemic prevention and control efforts by helping
to supplement the daily nutrition needs of the people. The
Group donated materials worth more than RMB47 million in
total. In 2022, in response to the epidemic in the Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region and Guangzhou, the Group made numerous
donations of nutritional materials to the frontline anti-epidemic
units, supporting epidemic prevention personnel and child
patients with severe cases. Yashili's subsidiary in New Zealand
contributed to local employment and economic development,
and at the same time it actively organized and participated in
local charity and community activities.

With the adjustment of epidemic prevention and control policies
towards the end of last year, the normalization of the epidemic
is becoming more and more evident. The consumer market
is predicted to recover progressively, and it is believed that
industry participants such as Yashili will benefit from this.
With the continuous support of major resources platforms
like COFCO and Mengniu, in 2023, Yashili will gather quality
resources from around the world to achieve the best quality
in the dairy industry, firmly root our social responsibility in
the development of the enterprise, and commit to becoming
the trustworthy brand of choice to provide consumers with
comprehensive nutrition and health solutions.

Jeffery, Minfang Lu
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Bk 3 A B B B i

Year ended 31 December & E12A31HILFE

(BREBIBIBAIN - FRESHE

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) HARBTAR®DDE
million unless otherwise stated) & t5R)

Key results FTEHXE

Revenue N

Gross profit EF

Operating loss K EE

(Loss)/Earnings before interest, tax, /B & 1 & # $5 5
depreciation and amortization (& 1#8),/ &F

(EBITDA]
Loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company
Net operating cash flow (Note 1)
Basic loss per share
(RMB cents) (Note 2)
Net asset value per share
(RMB yuan] (Note 3)
Proposed special dividend per share
(RMB cents])
Dividend payout ratio

Key performance ratios

Gross profit margin

Operating loss margin

Net loss margin

Margin of loss attributable to equity
holders

Return on net assets

Net loss to total assets (Note 4)

Asset ratios

Current ratio (Note 5)

Inventory turnover days (Note 6)

Trade receivable turnover days
(Note 7)

Trade payable turnover days
(Note 8)

Debt to equity ratio (Note 9)

Gearing ratio (Note 10]
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Percentage
2021 change
2FHEHL
4,434.7 (15.7%)
1,460.0 (28.1%)
(144.8) 58.4%
19.7 (513.7%)
(81.4) 183.4%
(264.4) 87.4%
(1.7) 188.2%
1.2 (8.3%)
32.9%
(3.3%)
(1.8%)
(1.8%)
(1.5%)
(1.1%)
2.1
110
21
93
31.7%
b.b%




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1.

Cash inflow generated from operating activities for the year less cash outflow

generated from operating activities for the year.

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year.

Net assets at year end divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue at

year end.

Loss for the year divided by total assets at year end.

Total current assets at year end divided by total current liabilities at year

end.

Average inventory balances for the year divided by cost of sales for the year
and multiplied by 365 days.

Average balances of trade and bills receivables for the year divided by

revenue of sales for the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Average balances of trade and bills payables for the year divided by cost of
sales for the year and multiplied by 365 days.

Total liabilities at year end divided by total equity attributable to equity

holders of the Company at year end.

. Total interest-bearing bank and other borrowings at year end divided by total

assets at year end.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THRE®AS

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2022, the Chinese consumer market faced challenges
including regional Covid-19 rebounds and the multi-year
downward trend in the domestic newborn population continued,
leading the development of China’s milk powder market to fall
short of expectations. However, the pandemic situation has
normalized since pandemic prevention and control policies were
adjusted at the end of the year, creating good conditions for a
recovery in the consumer market. At the same time, China’'s milk
powder market is becoming more concentrated and domestic
producers of infant formula powder are taking greater market
share against the backdrop of the “new national standards” and
“Formula re-registration” policies. Furthermore, children’s milk
powder, adult milk powder, and green zero-carbon milk power
have all emerged as new market focuses.

Birth rate trends downward; infant formula market
reaches saturation

Over the past two decades, due to the decrease in newborn
population and other factors, competition in China’s infant
formula milk powder market has intensified as producers
compete for existing volume in an increasingly saturated
market.

The new national standards for infant formula milk powder
issued by the National Health Commission in 2021 came into
force on 22 February 2023 after a two-year transitional period.
The new national standards set stricter regulations on the
nutritional content of infant formula milk powder products.
Under the "Formula re-registration” system, infant milk powder
products that passed the first batch of formula registrations in
2017 were required to resubmit their applications in 2022. The
companies applying for formula re-registration must meet the
requirements of the new national standards, which is expected
to pose challenges to some small and medium-sized brands.
This could lead some brands to voluntarily withdraw from the
market or merge with large companies, providing opportunities
for leading brands to capture a greater share of the existing
market. In addition, COVID-19 and other factors have hindered
relevant departments’ recent efforts to conduct on-site audits
abroad, giving domestic milk powder an advantage in formula
registration.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Domestic infant formula milk powder accounts for a
growing share of the market

The COVID-19 pandemic has posed challenges to foreign brands,
affecting the registration, production and transportation of
infant formula produced in overseas factories and further
accelerating domestic infant formula brands’ market share
gains. Moreover, domestic consumers have gained confidence
in local Chinese brands thanks to the growing popularity of
the China-chic trend during the period, coupled with domestic
food safety regulators’ stricter supervision of the infant
formula industry. Currently, domestic infant formula milk
powder accounts for more than 60% of the overall market. The
market share of domestic infant formula brands is expected to
rise further with the full implementation of the new national
standards and product re-registration.

Children’s and adult milk powder present new
opportunities for industry growth

The milk powder industry is increasingly shifting its corporate
development focus from producing infant formula milk powder
to providing full life-cycle professional nutrition. As nutrition
awareness grows, Chinese parents are paying greater attention
to the nutritional and health needs of children over 3 years old.
Leading dairy companies have launched milk powder products
targeting children over 3 years old in hopes of retaining this
large consumer group, extending the product life cycle and
driving supply-side upgrades in the industry. In addition, data
from the National Bureau of Statistics shows that by the end of
2022, the country’s population aged over 60 or above reached
280 million, accounting for 19.8% of the total population. The
National Health Commission estimates that China will enter
the “medium aging stage” during the 14th Five-Year Plan, by
which time the population aged over 60 or above will exceed 300
million to account for more than 20% of China’s total population.
Milk powders for the middle-aged and the elderly currently have
a low market penetration rate, but are expected to become a
major driving force of the adult milk powder industry as aging
trends continue.

BB A e B 0 AT (4

BEERELNRTHRGESHEIM

XHBREFE  NEBREMEEINTR
MBS EMMEEERER BN - #
—TNEEELRRE TS NEHNIRTT
pesh - MATEH R FETR - N EER
EERBHERERMRE2EERMELR -
BABEEEHPEALMENELEE R
BRI BRI BEEEHZESIHER
MHEHBEEBE0% - BEFHEFE R
EmadfizEaER BEEZEREMS
MBREEHFERT -

RELRHNEALBRRITRERNBE

REFITEEEYRE AP ERETLEES
ARBEHMNEELER KAILBITESR
RERMABSE MELXEZHMIREA
BAXEBBEBIGALZENE SR
Bk - SEEP AL WA 4 S35 A
FTRENAVER BEBEERNEEH
B oEREAREGBEEY  RELKEEST
E¥AL B BERAFTREERT - &
F222FK - 2EH60mMEA EEFANE2.8
B HEEAOMNI8% BEEREEREZR
BE - BRI+ RIS REEE AP
EEWRILEE  BROELENUNEZFAD
MEBRFEIE - FAAIRNIGLEER
20% - BRIREFI MW mBE2EXRDH#F
EFREKE BHEARERLBZET
PEFIMBRABEBRALDITERRE
MEZESEH N -

BITAEERERERAT
2022 F R

11



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B A e B AT ()

Major new consumption trend for green zero-carbon
milk powder products

The dairy industry is undergoing a green frenzy, with
producers rolling out products such as “zero-carbon cow
milk”, “zero-carbon yogurt”, “zero-carbon milk powder”,
and “zero-carbon ice cream”. This signals a new stage of
high-quality development in China’s dairy market. One after
another, leading Chinese brands have launched their first
carbon-neutral milk powders to cater to these trends and
support the national dual-carbon strategy. Milk powder
companies have also taken the initiative to reduce carbon
emissions in their production process. On one hand, these
actions demonstrate companies’ green sustainable development
business philosophies and burnish their brand reputations.
On the other hand, they also positively influence consumer
purchasing decisions.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Staying true to its original aspiration, the Group is committed
to becoming the brand of choice that provides consumers with
comprehensive nutrition and health solutions they can trust.
The Group has tremendous support in resources from its
controlling shareholder, China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(“Mengniu Dairy”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Mengniu
Group”], which advances the Group's business exploration and
internationalization.

Segment results
Milk powder products

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the results of the milk
powder products segment were RMB2,968.2 million (2021:
RMB3,650.4 million), decreased by 18.7% as compared to the
last year, mainly due to the impact of the pandemic on the sales
of adult milk powder and infant formula milk powder.

Other milk powder products

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the results of other milk
powder products segment amounted to RMB511.8 million (2021:
RMB438.4 million], representing an increase of 16.7% from the
last year, mainly due to the increase in the sales of Yashili New
Zealand Dairy Co., Limited (“Yashili New Zealand”) driven by the
increase in orders for whole milk powder.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Dissolvable products

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the results of the
dissolvable products segment were RMB195.0 million (2021:
RMB221.2 million), decreasing by 11.8% as compared to the last
year, which was mainly due to the decrease in sales as a result
of adjustment to product mix.

Others

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the results of other
segments were RMB63.2 million (2021: RMB124.7 million],
representing a decrease of 49.3%, which was mainly due to the
decrease in OEM business.

Product introduction

The Group strives to become consumers’ preferred brand for
all-round nutrition and health solutions. Its products are divided
into two major categories, namely infant formula milk powder
and health and nutrition products, with cow milk powder,
organic milk powder and goat milk powder covering markets
at various price points — including ultra-high-end, high-end
and middle-end. The Group takes pride in its business model of
integrating premium imported dairy raw materials, high quality
milk sources, scientific research and self-developed formulas,
advanced manufacturing and stringent quality management,
enabling it to gather high-quality resources from around the
world to supply the highest quality dairy products worthy of
consumers’ trust. Its brands include:

Reeborne

Reeborne is a high-end infant milk formula brand under Yashili.
The brand has seven product lines in three categories, namely
basic milk powder, organic milk powder, and goat milk powder,
to meet infants’ nutritional needs and provide Chinese mothers
with comprehensive feeding solutions.

Reeborne products include the Reeborne “Enzhi” series and the
Reeborne “Jingzhi” series, which are the first two products to
pass the registration of the new national standards; Reeborne
“Kieember”, the star product produced, canned, and exported
from Yashili's New Zealand factory; “Reeborne” organic
milk powder, which has obtained WIT organic certification;
and Reeborne “TruYn” goat milk powder, which is made with
high-quality small molecule goat milk protein.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B A e B AT ()

“Enzhi”
formula in the world to contain the innovative MLCT-structured
lipid (Medium and long-chain fatty acid triglyceride edible oil)
and new OPO ingredients. It is the product of research that
has helped China solve the long-term issue of dependence on

The Reeborne series is Reeborne’s first infant milk

foreign import of the core foundation
formula products.

lipid materials for infant

The Reeborne “Jingzhi” series is Reeborne’s first infant milk
formula in the world to use premium organic desert raw cow
milk. Its milk sources, organic OPO, and products have all been
certified organic in China and the European Union. Meanwhile,
the “Enzhi” series and the “Jingzhi” series have simultaneously
launched A28-casein and organic A253-casein milk source

products, marking its entry into the specialty milk source race.
Yourui

Yourui is a series of products tailored to the physical
characteristics and nutritional supplement needs of the
middle-aged and elderly. Focusing on areas such as bone, gut,
blood sugar, and cardiovascular health,
Yourui Guyi, Yitian, Shunyi, Liyi, Xinpei, Goat Milk Powder Rich in
Selenium and Calcium, Probiotic Formula Camel Milk Powder,
Pure Camel Milk Powder, and Tihuli Milk Powder. The products
cover three major categories, namely cow milk powder, goat
milk powder, and camel milk powder. Apart from meeting the
basic needs of high calcium and high protein, Yorui products
contain added ingredients such as colostrum basic protein
powder, lactobacillus casei Zhang, CaHMB, EPA/DHA, and
lactoferrin to address various health problems faced by the

the series includes

middle-aged and elderly and to provide scientific nutritional
solutions for their physical needs.

M8 Children’s Formula Milk Powder

M8 children’s formula milk powder is a product specially
developed to cater to the nutritional needs of children aged 3
and above, by adding Bifidobacterium lactis Probio-M8, zinc
elements and 28 kinds of fruit and vegetable powders with
dietary fiber to address parents’ concerns about children’s picky
and unbalanced eating habits and help children grow.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

1.88M Children’s Growth Formula Milk Powder

Mengniu 1.88M Children’s Growth Formula Milk Powder was
developed for children aged between 3 and 15 in China, focusing
on the concept of supporting children’s height growth. It is
scientifically formulated with nutrients needed for children’s
growth and development, namely high calcium and high vitamin
D, CBP (colostrum basic protein powder], vitamin K, breast
milk-derived probiotics (bifidobacterium lactis Probio-M8],
lactoferrin, DHA, ARA and lutein. It aims to help parents make
the most of the golden period in children’s development and
promote children’s healthy growth.

Huicongming (B )

Huicongming is a student milk powder brand that strives to meet
students’ nutrition and health needs. The Huicongming product
series includes Golden Package Student Milk Powder, Super
Golden Package Student Milk Powder, Original DHA Student Milk
Powder, and Jingxue Ruixue (& &2 & £) Student Milk Powder.

Zhengwei Mofang

Zhengwei Mofang focuses on the functional nutritional food
market. The recently launched Zhengwei Mofang — “Goji” (Goji
Berries) the Rising Star series aims to respond to the skin
nourishing needs of young women. The product formula is based
on a nourishing goji berry puree and innovative skin nourishing
ingredients, namely collagen peptide and nicotinamide,
providing women with a scientific and diversified skin nourishing
program.

Fruit Oatmeal

Fruit oatmeal targets the nutritional needs of young female
consumers between the ages of 18 and 35. It contains diverse
ingredients including nuts, milk, and rose petals. Emphasizing
the low-calorie concept, it is rich in dietary fiber and beneficial
to the intestines.

Pure Cow Milk Powder

Mengniu Pure Cow Milk Powder has a simple formula and a
focus on health to serve modern consumers. The ingredients
consist solely of raw cow milk high in calcium and premium
protein, with no additives or added sugar. It is safe with a rich
and fragrant taste.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B A e B AT ()

Brand strategies

Bringing together its superior resources to focus on brand
building, in 2022, the Group conveyed its brand story to
consumers through integrated online and offline marketing
efforts, supplemented by three-dimensional multi-media
campaigns. These brand-building efforts have begun to show
results.

Technological innovation builds high-quality brands; precise
communication promotes consumption transformation

In 2022, Reeborne focused on technological innovation. Its
project entitled "“MLCT-structured Lipid and new OPO Enzymatic
Synthesis Key Technology and its Application in Infant Formula
(K& BRI MLCT M 27 B OPOBE = & K B S R ilT X 72 B e
M HEER) )" passed the appraisal of the national authorities
and received highly favourable comments from a number of
members of the Chinese Academy of Engineering and other
experts. An expert committee unanimously declared that the
project had reached an international leading level'. The project
was also awarded First Prize in the Product Innovation Awards
of the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology. In
addition, Reeborne “Enzhi”, Reeborne’s first infant formula milk
powder in the world to contain the innovative MLCT-structured
lipid and new OPO ingredients, and Reeborne “Jingzhi”,
Reeborne’s first infant formula milk powder series in the world
to use organic desert raw cow milk, were the first two products
to pass the registration of the new national standards.

In terms of nutrition products, the product design of the Yourui
series further addresses the health needs of the middle-aged
and the elderly. Yourui Goat Milk Powder Rich in Selenium and
Calcium contains selected Holland whole goat milk powder,
yeast rich in selenium, calcium, and various vitamins. Yourui
Guyi milk powder for the middle-aged and the elderly contains
Colostrum basic protein powder (CPB) and milk mineral salt,
offering special care for the bones and joints. Yourui Yitian milk
powder for the middle-aged and the elderly specifically contains
Inulin powder and high dietary fiber, which is suitable for daily
use. Several products under the Yourui series have obtained the
National Low GI Certification.

Note:

1 According to the Scientific Technology Achievement Assessment Report issued
by the Chinese Institute of Food Science and Technology.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

In addition, the Group is the first infant milk powder company in
China to have its products assessed and certified under EU food
standards (SGS)2. The Group conducts quality control strictly in
accordance with high standards to ensure that products meet
high standards at home and abroad.

To highlight its products’ technological innovation, the Group
helped its innovative products gain precision exposure
among target groups through online search campaigns and
product promotions. At the same time, the Group used joint
publications with industry organizations and cooperation
with authoritative industry social media channels, to rapidly
increased the influence of the innovative products. The Group
also put out high-quality content through expert promotional
sharing, professional nutritionist recommendations, and
various promotional channels to communicate our products’ key
advantages in a way that resonated with consumers, deepened
brand awareness and expanded our fan base, while helping
terminal stores and channels communicate with consumers and
turn these efforts into sales results. The Group fully utilized
public and private traffic and achieved full-spectrum online and
offline omnichannel marketing.

Leveraging top sporting events to enhance brand influence

In 2022, the Reeborne and Yourui brands succeeded in
leveraging top sporting events and working closely with
spokespersons to enhance brand awareness and influence. At
the beginning of the year, the Group refreshed the theme layout
in terminal stores and on e-commerce channels and carried
out continuous interactions related to hot topics, highlighting
Eileen Gu's gold medal-winning moment, such that the Group
have effectively increased the popularity and influence of the
Reeborne brand on social media and in communities. During
the FIFA World Cup in Qatar, the Reeborne brand cooperated
with tens of thousands of offline stores to carry out World
Cup-themed promotional activities and strengthened its online
community marketing efforts. At the same time, the Group
interacted with consumers on the hot topic of the World Cup
final match and on our new product features to establish a good
foundation for our brand assets. In addition, the Group further
expanded Yourui's brand influence by promoting its status as
the “Global Official Milk Powder of the FIFA World Cup”.

Note:

2 In compliance with: (EC) No 1881/2006, (EC) No 2073/2005 (For items

involving requirements for formulating milk powder).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B A e B AT ()

Product research and development

During 2022, the Group made satisfactory progress in the
registration of infant formula milk powders and the research
and development of adult nutrition products. The Group
created differentiated products by leveraging its strong and
professional research and development team and responding
to market trends and consumer demands. The Group continued
to develop infant formula milk powder products based on the
scientific standard of breast milk nutritional composition, while
innovating and developing new milk powder series for children,
women, adults, the middle-aged, and the elderly to cover the
increasingly diversified nutritional needs of different consumer
groups.

Successful formula registrations of infant formula milk powder

As of 31 December 2022, the Group has submitted a number
of applications for formula registration of infant formula milk
powder products to the Center for Food Evaluation, State
Administration for Market Regulation. As of the date of this
annual results announcement, nine formulas from three product
series have passed the formula registration. Among these,
Reeborne “Enzhi” infant formula milk powder, Reeborne’s first
product in the world to contain MLCT and UPU-structured lipid,
and Reeborne “Jingzhi” infant formula milk powder, Reeborne’s
first product in the world to contain organic desert raw cow
milk, both successfully passed the formula registration on
13 October 2022. In addition, Reeborne “Qinyi” infant formula
milk powder, the Group’s second product containing MLCT
and UPU-structured lipids, passed the formula registration in
January 2023.

Enriching the brand mix and building high-end specialty milk
powder

During the period, the Group launched a brand-new series of
“Native DHA” student milk powder products based on raw milk
rich in DHA for students at the important stage of learning and
brain development. In addition, the Group deepened research
into consumer needs, utilized innovative raw materials, and
enriched the brand mix by developing specialty products like
skim milk powder with fruit and vegetable enzymes and goji
drinks with collagen peptides.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Continuously improving research and development

The Group continued to embark on collaborative projects
with industry-leading research institutes in the areas of food,
agriculture, and nutrition, achieving great success working
with experts and scholars from Jiangnan University, China
Agricultural University, Inner Mongolia Agricultural University,
Sun Yat-sen University, and other institutions to conduct
nutritional research on the nutritional needs of and the products
for infants and toddlers, children, adults, and the middle-aged
and elderly.

In terms of basic research, the Group co-published two
English-language academic articles, five Chinese-language
academic articles and four academic theses related to product
health benefit verification research during the period. In
terms of patents, the Group obtained four granted patents
and submitted seven patent applications during the period.
In addition, one of the Group’s achievements in maternal and
infant R&D, the creation of new OPO infant formula milk powder
produced by utilising MLCT ingredients and UPU technology
for the first time (&)X & FAMLCTAK % FUPU % 1l 4 2 i) 587 A
OPOM 82 4h 52 B 75 ZL ¥y B Bl &), was awarded the Science and
Technology Innovation Award — First Prize of Product Innovation
Award (B 8l %788 — E g 8l 37 28 — % #8) by the Chinese
Institute of Food Science and Technology for its application of
innovative R&D.

Sales channels

In 2022, Yashili continued to strengthen its sales channels for
infant formula milk powder and nutritional products. On the
one hand, the Group continued to develop channels to increase
channel coverage. During the period, the Group was committed
to opening channels in lower-tier markets, and established
cooperative relations with well-known mother-and-baby chain
stores and regional chain stores in the country, especially in
key provinces such as Anhui and Henan. On the other hand,
the Group continued to deepen channel development, build
high-quality stores, and consolidate the foundation of its
channels. The Group launched the In-can Code to help offline
stores stabilize their sales orders and boost channel confidence.
During the period, the Group achieved remarkable results in
deepening channel development and the number of high-quality
partner stores continued to increase.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B A e B AT ()

For the launch of Reeborne “Enzhi” and Reeborne “Jingzhi”,
the Group implemented a channel layout with district-level
and county-level mother-and-baby chain stores and achieved
preliminary results in channel structure optimization. In
order to respond to the changes in sales channels, the Group
increased investment in digital marketing which, in conjunction
with targeted channel product portfolios and a sound product
line, established a solid distribution foundation in core sales
channels. Moreover, during the period, the Group continued to
enhance stores’ sales rates, attract new customers, and drive
repeat sales. The Group stepped up consumer education efforts
and carried out tens of thousands of promotional activities. At
the same time, the Group utilized sports marketing resources,
including spokespersons, World Cup marketing, etc., to step up
marketing efforts.

Under the effect of the pandemic, the Group fully utilized
community marketing, pop-up stores, and live streaming
commerce, and helped stores get better at using digital tools
and innovative marketing. In terms of membership management,
the Group used In-Can Codes to build a parenting ecosystem
driven by a membership points award system and content
marketing, strengthening brand loyalty among customers.
The Group used the membership upgrade system to empower
terminal stores and help them lock in repeat purchases
by customers. In addition, the Group engaged deeply with
consumers through product experience projects and made
consumers the mainstay of its brand marketing efforts through
private domain operations.

Quality safety and management

In 2022, the Group firmly adhered to its quality policy with
the targets of TOP (i.e. Trust ({Z#8), Outstanding (£ #) and
Preferred (& 3&)). With quality strategic planning as its guiding
principle, the Group will continue to carry out comprehensive
quality management to facilitate its development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS [CONTINUED]

In terms of its overall quality management strategy, Yashili
continued to comply with FSSC22000, SQF, BRCGS, and other
leading global quality and food safety systems during the
period. The Group improved the 4Q quality management system
and comprehensively managed the four aspects of quality
planning (QP), quality control (QC), quality assurance (QA), and
quality support (QS]), which covers the whole industry chain
and the entire product life cycle. At the same time, the Group
strengthened the cohesion between “operation and standard,
standard and business, business and system” and focused on
inspection management and partnership management. We

worked towards the four first-class requirements, namely
first-class system (— /i E £ % X), first-class standard (— &
& E21E %), first-class quality (—/E ZMmE), and first-class

organization (— it B £ 48 ).

In terms of improving product quality, adhering to its corporate
value of “consumer first, first, and first (HE&F— - F— + F
—J”, the Group targeted consumers’ concerns and launched a
dedicated improvement campaign to optimize products. Product
life-cycle management and forward-looking management have
been strengthened, and quality design has been integrated into
new product development activities to ensure consumers are
provided with quality products. The Group has fully upgraded its
control requirements for food safety indicators (chemical and
microbial) in key raw materials according to the new national
standards. During the period, our infant formula milk powder
and modified milk powder obtained EU product certifications
issued by the authoritative international certification agency SGS
and the Group became the first domestic infant formula milk
powder company to have its products assessed and certified
under EU food standards.

In terms of corporate safety management, the Group adheres to
the bottom line of compliance to control risks and observes the
three core pillars of safe production, low-carbon environmental
protection, and health protection. During the period, there were
zero grade four or above safety or environmental accidents
and zero occupational disease accidents. During the period,
the Group organized hundreds of Health and
Safety (EHS])” trainings covering 100% of employees. The Group

“Environment,

improved the EHS management knowledge of staff at all levels
using events such as “Earth Day”, “Occupational Health Week",
“Environment Day”, “National Low-Carbon Day”, “Safety Month”,
etc. In addition, the Group strengthened efforts to identify
and control hidden EHS dangers and risks, and implemented
timely rectification and prevention measures for all EHS hidden
dangers discovered during the period.
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In terms of low-carbon management, the Group has successfully
launched its first zero-carbon product — Reeborne’s first organic
desert raw milk infant formula milk powder in the world — which
meets both the new national standards and the zero-carbon
standard. This has improved the Group's corporate social
responsibility image and created an improved concept for new
products. The Group imposes low-carbon control at the source,
and has introduced seven low-carbon construction technology
applications to reduce thousands of tons of carbon dioxide
emissions. A “zero-carbon factory” construction plan has also
been incorporated into new factory design.

Supply chain

In 2022, the Group achieved its three major objectives of
“high quality, low cost, and high speed” through optimizing
and upgrading the entire business chain and overcoming the
challenges and changes in the external environment. The Group
has always insisted on the policy of “building a solid foundation
and preventing risks” and its corporate value of “consumer first,
first and first” to facilitate product sales.

During the period, in the face of various pandemic-related
difficulties, the Group persisted in completing its strategic
supply chain goals. During the outbreak periods from February
to April and October to December in 2022, the Group carried out
closed-loop management to ensure normal and safe production
operations. During these periods, fresh milk was processed
in a timely manner to build sufficient reserves for whole milk
powder production. During the pandemic, the Group donated
and delivered milk powder to affected areas to ensure that
infants were not deprived of food. In terms of downstream
logistics business management, the Group adopted various
procedures to ensure that products reached consumers and met
customers’ needs. In addition, the Group continued to improve
its warehousing layout and organize its transportation routes,
successfully maintaining the standard logistic transportation
time of three days.

In terms of coordination, the Group continued to plan resources
and improve production allocation to maximize production
capacity. At the same time, the Group leveraged technological
innovation to pursue cost-saving projects in the hopes of
streamlining supply chain processes, improving work efficiency,
and strengthening supply security to meet sales demand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS [CONTINUED]

Management system

In 2022, the Group raised digitalization to a strategic priority.
The business has been digitalized end-to-end, with In-Can Code
tracking and dynamic marketing achieved on the marketing
end and TRM system iteration and upgrade completed on the
channel end. The digital business model is advancing at an
accelerating pace.

In terms of marketing, the Group used the In-Can Code to
ensure the recruitment of authentic members and facilitate data
connection of “Product line — Business — Consumer”. In terms
of channels, the Group continued to iterate and upgrade the
channel-end TRM system. The Group optimized procedures such
as expense reimbursement and expense crediting by connecting
online and offline systems. Offline financial processes such as
budget control have been taken online and handled intelligently.
The Group have refined the management and control of
marketing expenses and greatly reduced manual operations,
making financial data more accurate and secure.

In terms of quality management, the Group established a
formula product R&D framework to speed up product definition
by the R&D department and created standard procedures for
the management of the R&D process. Based on the business
objectives of each department, the Group ensured that business
processes and management systems were rational and feasible,
maximized the utilization and sharing of resources,
the communication and coordination barriers between various

reduced

departments, and thereby improved product quality and
promoted optimized cost management.

The Group follows the 4Q quality management system to build a
comprehensive platform for improving quality in all aspects of
the business. The Group used the quality system to analyse the
needs of each business department and factory, and harnessed
big data and Al algorithms to build a smart quality management
system that provides analysis, early warning, and prediction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue
amounted to RMB3,738.2 million (2021: RMB4,434.7 million],
representing a decrease of 15.7% as compared to the
corresponding period of last year.

Bt 7 21
e A
HZ202F12A3B It E A&EB 2K

ANEANRH3,738.28 8 T (2021F : A RE
4434 TEETT) REFRHA T£15.7% ©

2022 2021 Percentage

RMB million RMB million change

By product category REREBERNES ARBEET ARBEETT Bt
Milk powder products 8 EE on 2,968.2 3,650.4 (18.7)%
Other milk powder products  E 4th 3 # & & 511.8 438.4 16.7%
Dissolvable products R E 195.0 221.2 (11.8)%
Others H A 63.2 124.7 (49.3)%
Total O 3,738.2 4,434.7 (15.7)%

As of 31 December 2022, sales revenue from milk powder
products amounted to RMB2,968.2 million (2021: RMB3,650.4
million), representing a decrease of 18.7% from the last year,
which was mainly due to the impact of the pandemic on the
sales of adult milk powder and infant formula milk powder.
The sales revenue from other milk powder products amounted
to RMB511.8 million (2021: RM438.4 million), representing an
increase of 16.7% from the last year, which was mainly due to
the increase in the sales of Yashili New Zealand driven by the
increase in orders for whole milk powder. The sales revenue
from dissolvable products amounted to RMB195.0 million (2021:
RMB221.2 million), representing a decrease of 11.8% from the
last year, mainly attributable to the decrease in sales as a result
of optimization of product mix. The sales revenue from other
products amounted to RMB63.2 million (2021: RMB124.7 million],
representing a decrease of 49.3% from the last year, which was
mainly due to the decrease in OEM business.

The decrease in the sales revenue of the Group was mainly
attributable to the downward trend in revenue as a result of the
pandemic, fierce market competition and decline in birth rate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a
gross profit of RMB1,050.3 million (2021: RMB1,460.0 million],
representing a decrease of 28.1% from the last year. The gross
profit margin was 28.1% (2021: 32.9%], representing a decrease
of 4.8% over the last year, which was a result of an increase in
the cost of raw materials and a higher sales proportion of whole
milk powder, which had a lower gross profit margin.

Selling and distribution expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group generated
selling and distribution expenses of RMB1,088.2 million (2021:
RMB1,146.8 million), representing a decrease of 5.1% from the
last year. The selling and distribution expenses as a percentage
of revenue was 29.1% (2021: 25.9%), representing an increase
of 3.2% over the last year, which was mainly a result of the
implementation of product segmentation and channel expansion
strategies and the greater input in advertising and promotion in
the face of fierce market competition.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, administrative expenses
amounted to RMB233.1 million (2021: RMB239.3 million],
representing a decrease of 2.6% from the last year, which was
mainly attributable to improved efficiency in fees utilisation as a
result of stringent cost control by functional divisions.

Net finance income

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net finance income was
RMB26.5 million (2021: RMB51.8 million). The decrease of 48.8%
in net finance income was mainly attributable to the reduction
of funds available for deposits and the continuous decrease in
interest rates of RMB arising from several cuts to interest rates
and required reserve ratios.

Income tax

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the income tax expenses
of the Group were RMB27.8 million (income tax credit of 2021:
RMB11.7 million]). The increase in income tax expenses was
mainly due to use of deferred income tax assets recognised in
previous years by some legal persons.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Inventory

As at 31 December 2022, the balance of inventory of the Group
amounted to RMB1,074.4 million (31 December 2021: RMB816.0
million), representing an increase of 31.7%, which was mainly
due to the increase in the balance of inventories of the self-
sprayed whole milk powder.

Other current financial assets

As at 31 December 2022, other current financial assets
amounted to RMBO million (31 December 2021: RMB93.9
million).

Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’'s trade receivables
amounted to RMB409.2 million (31 December 2021: RMB414.7
million]. In 2022, the trade receivables turnover days were
40 days (2021: 21 days), representing an increase of 19 days
from last year, which was mainly attributable to the increase
in the trade receivables from large-scale modern trade and
e-commerce platforms within normal credit period as a result
of higher percentage of revenue from adult milk powder during
the period.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2021: nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net cash outflow in
capital expenditure was RMB196.6 million (31 December 2021:
RMB222.2 million). As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s capital
commitment was RMB151.9 million (2021: RMB1.2 million],
mainly related to the purchase of milk powder production
equipment and optimization in software systems.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Provision for doubtful debts of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had provisions for doubtful
debts of RMB6.8 million (2021: RMB11.8 million). These
provisions were made for impaired receivables relating to
customers that were in delinquency of payments. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over such amounts. An impairment analysis is performed by
the Group using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on the ageing of the
balances for the groupings of various customer segments with
similar default patterns (e.g. by customer type). The calculation
reflects the probability weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Provision for impairment and disposal losses of
inventories

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s balance of provision for the
impairment on inventories was RMB51.9 million (2021: RMB44.0
million), which was mainly because some of the inventories
had longer age and corresponding provision of impairment
was required in accordance with policy. In addition, the Group
recorded losses on disposal of inventories of RMB5.4 million
in 2022 (2021: RMB10.6 million), which was mainly because,
under the impact of rebranding, unsuitable packaging materials
were disposed of and the provision for inventory impairment of
deteriorated inventory were required.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has pledged assets with
an aggregate value of approximately RMB1,410.7 million (31
December 2021: RMB1,501.3 million].

Loss attributable to equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the loss attributable
to equity holders of the Group amounted to RMB230.7 million
(2021: loss attributable to equity holders of the Group amounted
to RMB81.4 million]). This was mainly due to fierce market
competition, a decline in revenue and increased costs for seizing
market share.
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Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s liquidity and capital
resources, including cash and bank balances, pledged deposits
to be released within one year, other current financial assets/
structured bank deposits and long-term bank deposits,
amounted to RMB2,135.0 million (31 December 2021: RMB2,679.9
million), representing a decrease of 20.3%. The decrease was
mainly due to the Group’s strategical stocking occupying part
of the operating capital. Details of the liquidity and capital
structure of the Group are set out in notes 38(d) and 38(e) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s net cash
outflow from operating activities was RMB495.4 million (2021:
net outflow of RMB264.4 million]. Net cash outflows from
operating activities increased, mainly due to the working capital
used for strategical stocking in order to cope with the risk of
material price increases.

Investing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash inflow generated
from investing activities amounted to RMB492.8 million (2021:
net outflow of RMB65.5 million), mainly due to the maturity of
deposit products during the year.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash inflow generated
from financing activities amounted to RMB173.7 million (2021:
net inflow of RMB53.7 million), which was mainly attributable to
more loans due to be paid last year.

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings amounted to RMB578.7 million (31 December
2021: RMB320.8 million). The above loans shall be repayable on
demand upon maturity. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s
gearing ratio, which is calculated by total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings at year end divided by total assets at year
end, was 8.2% (31 December 2021: 4.4%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Use of net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering

The Company’s net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering
amounted to approximately RMB1,965.8 million after deduction
of relevant expenses. As of 30 June 2018, the Company had
used up all the net proceeds from the Initial Public Offering in
accordance with the manner as disclosed in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus dated 30
October 2010.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 2,434 (31
December 2021: 2,762) full-time employees. The total staff
cost for the year was approximately RMB526.4 million (2021:
RMB561.7 million).

Refining headquarters functions and strengthening the
business divisions

In 2022, the Group continued to refine the functions of the
headquarters and strengthen the business divisions to
transform organizational strength into business results. With
the normalization of the pandemic, newly developed content
e-commerce and social e-commerce channels have become new
growth drivers. During the period, the Group actively developed
new models of e-commerce and further built an online
marketing platform to increase brand exposure and strengthen
connections with consumers.

Embracing leadership and professionalism and building
the organization’s talent team

The Group attaches great importance to leadership and
professionalism and consolidates its talent reserves through
sales management teams. It held learning activities in functional
sectors such as supply chain, quality, finance, and human
resources to improve employees’ professional capabilities and
continuously develop the talent team.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Reforming remuneration and performance systems to
motivate high-performing talents

This year, the Group optimized its remuneration structure,
enhanced the external competitiveness and internal fairness
of employee remuneration, and added new welfare holidays
such as parental leave, single-child and non-single-child care
leave, and male employee care leave. The Group reformed
and optimized its performance management system based on
industry experience, management needs, and the results of the
survey on performance management effectiveness.

Enhancing the Group’s employer image and attracting
outstanding external talents

In 2022, the Group was awarded the “Outstanding Human
Resources Management Award” by 51job.com and the “"Work
Different” award by Liepin. The Group exhibited its working
experience and atmosphere through campus recruitment
activities, live broadcasts, and social media platforms. In
addition, the Group launched the certification project for
interviewers, which improved interview quality and strengthened
concepts of fair recruitment, thus creating a better experience
for job candidates.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Since the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
responded to the nation’s call and undertaken the corporate
mission of “Nutrient in a drop, blooming every life ([ 255 % & -
SR EEES])". The Group actively assisted in the prevention
and control of the pandemic and provided daily nutritional
supplements for the people. The Group has taken real actions
to fulfil its corporate social responsibility and has made
donations-in-kind totalling more than RMB47 million.

Mid-February 2022 saw a resurgence of Covid-19 in the Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region. In response, the Group launched
the “fight against COVID-19 at home” campaign. Within a week,
hundreds of nutritional supplies including Reeborne “Kieember
(¥ 37)” milk powder, Mengniu Yourui Shunyi, Yitian milk powder
etc., with a total value of more than RMB250,000 were delivered
to the Third Hospital of the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region,
the epidemic response headquarters, and other front-line
anti-epidemic units.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Abroad, Yashili New Zealand actively organized and participated
in local charitable activities while providing local employment
and contributing to economic development. In August 2022,
Yashili New Zealand held a fundraising activity to raise funds
for cancer research in the community where the Yashili New
Zealand factory is located, and all funds were donated to the
New Zealand Cancer Society.

In October 2022, the Group launched the “Firefly Public Welfare
Program” immediately after learning that several critically ill
children admitted into the Hohhot No. 1 Hospital in the Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region were in urgent need of milk
powder. The first batch of Reeborne’s Qinyou milk powder was
urgently allocated to the hospital to ensure food supply for
hospitalized patients.

At the end of October 2022, Guangzhou faced the most
complicated and severe anti-epidemic situation since the
pandemic began. The Group learned that the quarantine
personnel and epidemic prevention and control personnel at
the mobile hospitals in Guangzhou urgently needed nutritional
supplements. In November, two batches of hundreds of boxes
of milk powder for infants, children, the middle-aged and the
elderly, and other nutritional supplies worth nearly RMB100,000,
were sent to the quarantine zones. They were mainly used as
daily nutritional supplements for quarantine personnel and
medical staff on-site.

PUBLIC RELATIONS AND CRISIS MANAGEMENT

In 2022, the Group kept abreast of the times and upheld
the principles of open, active, and mutual communication.
The Group used mass, organizational, and interpersonal
communication channels to immediately answer questions from
the public, the media and the government, and to disseminate
positive messages about the Group and its brands on every
channel, building brand and product awareness and improving
the Group’s corporate image.

During the year, the Group announced the "MLCT-structured
Lipid and new OPO Enzymatic Synthesis Key Technology and
its Application in Infant Formula” project, showcasing its
leading innovative scientific research results to the media and
consumers. During the period, Reeborne launched two new
products that passed the formula registration under the new
national standards. The Group highlighted these upgraded
products and new achievements to the public. In addition, the
Group participated for the fifth time in the high-profile China
International Import Expo, demonstrating the scientific research
level of Chinese dairy companies to the world.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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In addition, the Group made every effort to improve public
opinion crisis management by establishing and optimizing
a mechanism for the prevention, control, assessment, and
handling of public opinion risks. Through the sensitive and
prompt monitoring of public opinion, the Group used this
mechanism to achieve positive results in public opinion
management. In addition, various consumer complaints were
handled in a timely manner by various departments working
together under the crisis alert and prompt response mechanism.
The Group attached great importance to the market, served and
coordinated market sales to provide a stronger support for sales
and provide timely answers to consumers, effectively preventing
the occurrence of crisis events.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group believes that effective communication with
shareholders, investors and potential investors is essential
for enhancing investor relationship and enabling investors to
understand its business performance and strategies. The Group
communicates with investors through various channels and
means such as onsite receptions, telephone conferences, and
non-deal roadshows.

To facilitate effective communication, the Group has also set
up a website (www.yashili.hk) to publish its latest financial
information, corporate governance practices and other updated
data for public reference.

PROPOSED PRIVATISATION OF THE COMPANY

Reference is made to (1) the announcement dated 6 May 2022
(the “3.5 Announcement”) jointly issued by the Company, Star
Future Investment Company Limited (the “Offeror”) and Mengniu
Dairy and (2) the announcement dated 9 March 2023 (the
“Fulfilment of Scheme Pre-Conditions Announcement”) jointly
issued by the Company, the Offeror and Mengniu Dairy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

As disclosed in the 3.5 Announcement, Mengniu Dairy has
proposed that upon the satisfaction of the pre-conditions, it
will, through the Offeror, put forward a proposal to the holders
of shares of the Company in issue (other than those held by
Mengniu Dairy directly or indirectly) for the privatisation of the
Company (the “Privatisation Proposal”) by way of a scheme
of arrangement under section 86 of the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands (the “Scheme”]), on the terms and subject to
the conditions as described in the 3.5 Announcement and as
amended in the announcement of the Company, Mengniu Dairy
and the Offeror dated 16 August 2022, such that upon the
Scheme becoming effective, all scheme shares will be cancelled
in exchange for the cash payment of the cancellation price of
HK$1.20 per scheme share.

As disclosed in the Fulfilment of Scheme Pre-Conditions
Announcement, all pre-conditions to the making of the
Privatisation Proposal and implementation of the Scheme had
become fulfilled as of 9 March 2023. With all the pre-conditions
having been fulfilled, the implementation of the Privatisation
Proposal is subject only to the satisfaction (or where applicable,
waiver) of the conditions to the Privatisation Proposal.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Dumex China Disposal

Reference is made to the circular of the Company dated 29 July
2022 (the "Circular”).

As disclosed in the 3.5 Announcement and the Circular, on 6 May
2022, Yashili International Group Co. Ltd. (“Yashili Guangdong”)
and Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. ("“Danone APAC")
entered into the equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which
Yashili Guangdong agrees to sell, and Danone APAC agrees
to purchase, 100% of the equity interest in Dumex Baby Food
Co., Ltd. ("Dumex China”], subject to the terms and conditions
therein (the “Dumex China Disposal”).

The Dumex China Disposal was completed on 2 March 2023.
Upon the completion of the Dumex China Disposal, the
Company had ceased to hold any interest in Dumex China and
Dumex China had ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company.
Accordingly, the financial results of Dumex China will no longer
be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FUTURE PROSPECTS
Policy implications

The three new national standards for infant formula milk
powder jointly issued by the National Health Commission and
the State Administration for Market Regulation in 2021 were
implemented in February 2023. The new national standards
set higher requirements for infant formula milk powder
companies in terms of raw materials, supply chain, research
and development, and process stability. The product registration
approval process will become more rigorous in the future,
and products that have passed the formula registration under
the new national standards will be subject to more stringent
supervision.

The implementation of the new national standards is
conducive to accelerating product R&D innovation and industry
transformation and upgrade, further driving the high-quality
development of the infant formula milk powder industry.
The tightening of regulatory regulations will encourage
improve R&D,
inspection and other capabilities, and strictly

companies to strengthen raw material control,
production,
control product quality. It will encourage the infant formula
milk powder industry to persist in innovation and inject bold
ideas in the production process,
quality management.
selling points will become the core elements of competition
between high-quality milk powders in the future. In addition, the
implementation of the new national standards gives domestic

technical equipment and
Product innovation and differentiated

milk powder a first-mover advantage. If companies can promptly
complete the formula registration in accordance with the new
standards, they will have a better chance to seize market share
early. Domestic infant formula milk powder’s quality, market
competitiveness, and reputation among consumers will improve
further.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS [CONTINUED]

In February 2022, the State Council issued the “Notice on the
14th Five-Year Plan for the Development of the National Aging
Cause and Elderly Care Service System” ({[+ /0 F |E R E
EEHRNEEZRBBFHAEBEAM) ), actively responding to
the aging population. Against this backdrop, adult milk powder,
especially milk powder for the middle-aged and the elderly, is
a category with high potential. A large number of young and
middle-aged consumers and teenagers also present possible
growth opportunities for the adult milk powder category. There
is great potential for development. It is expected that industry
players will focus on R&D investment,
product unique selling points, and integrate products, channels
and brand advantages with the underlying objective of ensuring
the quality and nutrition of adult milk powders. Companies
that have gained considerable advantages in niche functional
segments and seized opportunities in the rapidly changing
market will have the opportunity to differentiate themselves.

continue to develop

Industry trend

The dairy products industry in China has entered a phase of
steady development. At the 2020 NetEase New Force Dairy
Industry Summit in December 2022, China Dairy Industry
Association vice chairman Liu Chao said that the dairy product
industry will maintain a CAGR of 4.8% over the next five years,
with revenue reaching over RMB590 billion by 2026, according to
the estimates of certain institutions.

In February 2023, following the implementation of the new
national standards, the re-registration of infant formula
products will enter the final stage. This will further fuel
competition in the infant formula industry. Market regulation
will be tightened further and might cause some brands to exit
the market. Given the similarity between products of different
leading brands in each product segment will enjoy
enhanced opportunities. Industry participants will further
step up efforts in scientific research and launch new and
more competitive products, with major differentiation lying
in the ability to capture segment position, strengthen specific
nutritional elements, and use specific milk sources.

brands,
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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In the coming year, with the impact of COVID-19 gradually
fading, it is believed that the willingness to give birth in
third-and fourth-tier and lower-tier markets will increase, and
the birth rate of newborn babies in these markets will rise
significantly compared with upper-tier markets. In addition, as
the consumption power of families in these places increases,
mothers of the post-90s and post-95 generations will drive the
growth in the infant formula market. In the future, deepening
of research and business development efforts in lower-tier
markets will help brands gain advantages in the competition for
existing market volume.

In addition, the digitalization and platformization of sales
channels for mother-and-baby milk powder products will
continue to develop. Meanwhile, digital marketing channels such
as live streaming, community marketing, and private domain
operations will continue to develop at higher speeds and spur
new developments in customer collaboration and physical store
operations.

As for the adult milk powder market, actively responding
to the aging population has been incorporated in national
strategies. It is anticipated that the market for milk powder for
the middle-aged and the elderly will see greater opportunities
for development. In addition, the new national standards have
imposed higher standards for milk powder formula for the
middle-aged and the elderly, which will be favourable for
enhancing product quality. In the future, market attitudes on
milk powder for the middle-aged and the elderly will become
more stringent, and enterprises will increasingly collaborate
with professional institutions to customize solutions to address
the nutritional needs and health issues of the middle-aged and
the elderly identified by research and big data on this age group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

COMPANY STRATEGIES
Brand strategies
Creating quality products and strengthening brand image

In 2023, to effectively navigate the new market landscape
following the implementation of the new national standards
and re-registration requirement, the Group will advance the
development of new technology and innovations in infant
formula under its Reeborne brand, while focusing its resources
on brand marketing of “Enzhi” and “Jingzhi” under the Reeborne
brand. Meanwhile, the Group will continue to strengthen its
brand image and showcase Reeborne’s scientific research
capabilities and social responsibility to consumers. At the same
time, through brand innovation, the Group will further reinforce
Reeborne’s brand influence and deepen trust and cooperation
with distributors and channels in order to increase Reeborne’s
brand recognition among consumers of mother-and-baby
products.

As for nutritional products, Mengniu Yourui milk powder for
the middle-aged and the elderly will be extended to more
segments to comprehensively satisfy the nutritional supplement
needs of the middle-aged and elderly population. The Group
will continuously optimize the product formula and enhance
the strength of the product with a more professional upgraded
formula, so as to take the brand to a new level. Meanwhile,
the Group will vigorously expand milk powder products for
students, the native DHA student milk powder series under the
Huicongming " H2E83". The 1.88M Children’s milk powder will
continue to apply the CBP component to satisfy the key concern
of consumers.

Stepping up marketing activities to deepen communication with
consumers

In 2023, Reeborne will focus on targeted online and offline
communication to reach the brand’s target customers, boost
brand awareness, improve brand recognition, and enhance
conversion. The Group will communicate through major
channels including event marketing, public relations as well
as digital and intelligent targeted communication, in order to
stay at the forefront of new and hot innovation trends in the
infant formula industry. The Group will continue to connect the
Reeborne brand with consumers through content marketing,
and step up digital media efforts to empower front-end sales.
Knowledge-sharing by scientific experts, endorsement from
reputable KOLs and consumer word-of-mouth will enable the
Group to strengthen its brands in terms of scientific expertise
and deliver product information in greater depth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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As for nutrition products, Reeborne will fully leverage its
resource and media advantages, continue to make diversified
media marketing efforts in core and potential markets, and
roll out short videos to showcase product features in scenarios
that grab consumers’ attention. Meanwhile, the Mengniu Yourui
brand will actively strengthen cooperation with sports IPs, and
will combine digital media with international sports events
to promote the brand on the front line and enhance brand
awareness at all levels. The 1.88M Children’s milk powder will
focus on comprehensively generating private domain traffic to
expand its influence in the fan economy, with the aim of driving
omnichannel sales online and offline.

Product research and development

In 2023, the Group will continue to implement the registration of
infant formula milk powder under the new national standards,
continuously assimilate the latest research findings in breast
milk nutrition, develop innovative formulas for infant milk
powder products with breast milk components, continue to track
the launch of its innovative technology products, and conduct
testing, verification and research into product efficacy.

In addition, the Group will carry out further in-depth research
on the nutritional needs of specific groups, and develop
nutritional products with specific custom-made functions, thus
enriching the brand matrix and meeting the needs of groups
such as students, women, the middle-aged and the elderly.

On the other hand, the Group will continue to strengthen its
cooperation with research institutions, and carry out research
on the nutritional needs of different groups, the composition
of nutritional components, and the health benefits of various
products in partnership with relevant experts from Jiangnan
University, the China Agricultural University, the Inner Mongolia
Agricultural University and Sun Yat-sen University. The targets
of the Group’s nutritional research include infants, children,
adults, the middle-aged and the elderly. The Group will continue
to apply the existing research results of the project to its
business and products. In addition, the Group will continue
to strengthen the introduction of nutrition, process research,
and product research and development talents into its team
to improve its innovation capabilities in nutrition science and
process research.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Sales channels
Focus on the core market and cultivate channels

In 2023, the Group will develop its core market through
channel and resource integration, developing district-level
and county-level chain store coverage and deepening store
development. It will continue to implement the In-Can Code
to establish higher standards for safety and traceability and
to stabilize channel sales orders. Meanwhile, the Group will
launch the “precision marketing” system to accurately match
people, goods, and venues and improve marketing efficiency.
Across the country, the Group will cooperate with top provincial
and municipal mother-and-baby chain stores through various
strategies to rapidly increase its sales share in chain stores and
establish steady cooperation with manufacturers.

Empowering the business with smart and dynamic marketing

In respect of marketing and digital intelligence innovation,
the Group will continue to allocate manpower and resources
to promotional activities and will increasingly use dynamic
marketing to educate consumers in order to increase trial
rates and achieve high conversion rates and repeat purchases
among new customers. The Group will deepen its membership
marketing system and use content marketing within its
membership marketing strategy to optimize its conversion
mechanism and loyalty program. In addition, the pandemic has
accelerated the rise of contactless online retail and “livestream
shopping”, leading many brands to invest more in online
marketing. The Group has captured opportunities in these areas
to drive the continued development of its business.

Supply chain

In 2023, the Group will provide the business capabilities and
technical support required for digital operation to users of
its factories through consolidating the business capabilities
and data resources internally and leveraging various external
platforms. The Group will enhance the prediction, alert and
data analysis capabilities within its supply chain system to
achieve the objectives of collaborative operations, strategic
decision-making, and operational excellence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B A e B AT ()

The Group will focus on the sustainable development of the
entire value chain and promote the full implementation of the
strategic system of “Group — Business Department — Factory
(8 — =X — THI
adjusting its structural thinking to accelerate the digital and
smart transformation of production.

heeding consumer demand and

In terms of production management, the Group will implement
real-time data sharing, improve production adaptability, and
strengthen data application management to support operational
decision-making. The Group will also optimize the management
of spare products and parts by enhancing information
management of materials and inventory. The Group will improve
the inspection, maintenance, and repair of equipment and
implement systematic management to lower failure rates and

monitor its operational status in real time.

The Group will enhance cross-departmental business and
technology sharing and interaction.
consolidated in order to establish connections, synergies, and
optimization between internal and external system platforms.
The Group will streamline, optimize, and reshape its business
processes and enhance its digital supply chain analysis system

Business units will be

to achieve innovation.

HUMAN RESOURCES
Maintaining synergy throughout the entire value chain

In 2023, the Group will maintain the highly efficient synergy
throughout the value chain of “research and development,
production, sales and services (#f * E - #§ + iR)",
resources are consolidated and input repetition is minimized,
thus enhancing the organization’s operational capability and
efficiency. In the meantime, the Group will devote additional
resources to its research and development platform in order to
meet consumer needs, enhance competitiveness, and facilitate
the growth of emerging channels.

ensuring that
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Upgrading the talent training system

The Group will create a differentiated and targeted talent
training system emphasizing the three dimensions of leadership,
professionalism and general knowledge. The Group will optimize
the talent development path, build the talent ladder, reform
organizational and talent-related structures to support business
development and implement the organization’s strategy.

Enhance staff capability with remuneration and
performance incentives

The Group will strengthen the correlation between
remuneration, incentives and performance, optimize its
performance management system, and drive the improvement of
personal performance and ability throughout the organization,
enabling the Group to achieve its medium and long-term
strategic goals and phased operational and management goals.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELHSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND/
PURPOSE/VALUE/STRATEGY

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that
Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term and
that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs with
a view to ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is
committed to maintaining and developing robust corporate
governance practices that are intended to ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of directors (the “"Board”] of the Company is
committed to maintaining high corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and

enhance its transparency and accountability.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2022, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions as set out in the CG Code, except for the
deviation from code provision C.2.1 as explained under the
paragraph “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth
of its business and to reviewing such practices from time to
time to ensure that they comply with statutory and professional
standards and align with the latest development.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Group’s code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions.

Specific enquiry has been made by the Company with all
directors and the directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code for securities transactions by employees who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and collective
responsibility for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors take decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them that are commensurate with their role and the Board
responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced composition
of Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors (including
Independent Non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgement.

Responsibilities

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation,
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

monitors the Group’s

All directors, including the non-executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Through active participation in Board meetings,
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interest and serving on Board committees, all non-executive
directors (including the independent non-executive directors])
make various contributions to the effective direction of the

Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The independent non-executive directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

All directors carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the
Company and the shareholders at all times.

The directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and senior managements’ liabilities in respect of any
legal actions taken against Directors and senior management
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage
would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises 6 members, consisting of 2
non-executive directors, one executive director and three
independent non-executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this Annual Report, the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive directors

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman]
Mr. Qin Peng!™

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu)®?

Executive director
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules from time to time. The independent
non-executive directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Notes:
(1) Resigned on 9 March 2023.

(2) Resigned on 9 March 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

The biographical information of the directors including
relationships among the members of the Board are set out in
the section headed “Directors and Management Biographies” of
this Annual Report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other
financial, business or family relationship among the members of
the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEO”)

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and CEO should be
clearly established and set out in writing.

The positions of Chairman and CEO of the Company are held by
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr. Yan Zhiyuan respectively.

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The CEO
focuses on the Company’s business development and daily
management and operations generally. The Board considers
that the responsibilities of the Chairman and CEO respectively
are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are
not necessary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

Each independent non-executive director has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 15 November 2013 and the service contract
shall continue unless and until terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party to another.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive directors are independent.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that all directors,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the non-executive directors of the Company is appointed
for a specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by
rotation once every three years.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board in the
following aspects:

a. the Nomination Committee and/or the Board will evaluate the
independence and qualification of independent non-executive
Director candidates;

b. the Nomination Committee will assess the independence of
each existing independent non-executive Director annually;

c. the Board will evaluate whether each existing independent
non-executive Director has devoted sufficient time to the
Company by reviewing such Director’s attendance at the
board and general meetings;

d. when re-electing independent non-executive Director
who has served more than nine years, the Board and/or
the Nomination Committee will (i) evaluate and determine
whether such Director is still independent and should be
re-elected and [ii] disclose such determination and the
factors considered, the process and the discussion in
arriving at such determination in the circular to shareholders
accompanying the notice of the annual general meeting; and
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

e. the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Audit Committee have the power to obtain external
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of
such mechanisms on an annual basis. During the year ended
31 December 2022,
and effectiveness of such mechanisms and the results were
satisfactory.

the Board reviewed the implementation

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of
the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction
includes visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings
with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for
directors would be arranged and reading materials on relevant
topics would be provided to directors where appropriate. All
directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at

the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
organized more than one training session conducted by the
legal advisers of the Company for the directors. Such training
sessions cover a wide range of topics such as directors’
duties during the offer period and general overview of Codes
on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs.
relevant reading materials have been provided to the directors
for their reference and studying.

In addition,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The record of continuous professional development relating
to director’s duties and regulatory and business development
that have been received by the directors for the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to date of this report are summarized as
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follows:
Type of Training Nete

Directors 2= 1E I B
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu B Bk AE A/B/C
Mr. Qin Peng =g %k £ A/B
Mr. Zhang Ping 9k kA A/B
Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu) B8 1% & (X & Philip Gu) %t &£ A/B
Executive director BITES
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan BERLE A/B
Independent non-executive directors BIUFBTES
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben BEEEE A/B
Mr. Cheng Shoutai BFREE A/B
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway THEEE A/B

Note: B A

Types of Training 55 I 48 B

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars, A: HFEHIE BEETERAGNE Wi g - &

conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant

publications

C: Giving talks at seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision of all major matters of
the Company, including approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
to those that may involve conflict of interest), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

BERIES

B: B MERMMERA
T

HE-BT - BERER

C:EMHER /HEHR,/ N TR
ExanRE

EEeRBEEARAMBEREEMNR
R BRBFEULLEEMBERRFR B
BRBLEE  APEELEREERS
BEAXRGERAMgESEMNa@RE) B
HBEMN ZEEEREMERUBREE
EN=

BEIREBRZERBRLIA 49

2022 F %R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

The daily management, administration and operation of
the Company are delegated to the senior management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed.

All directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are posted on the websites of the Company
(www.yashili.hk] and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk]
and are available to shareholders upon request.

Each Board committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Group’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 8
October 2010 with revised written terms of reference (adopted
on 26 August 2015) in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules

As at 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee consists of three
members including two independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway (Chairman) and Mr. Mok Wai
Bun Ben and one non-executive director, namely Mr. Zhang
Ping with Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway possessing the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of
the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company, and providing advice and comments to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
held four meetings and reviewed the Group's interim and annual
financial results and interim and annual reports, significant
issues on the financial reporting, operational and compliance
controls, the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems and internal audit function, appointment of
external auditors and relevant scope of works, connected
transactions and arrangements for employees to raise concerns
about possible improprieties. The Audit Committee has been
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee met the external auditors three times
without the presence of executive director.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established
on 8 October 2010. As at 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee consists of five members including three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Mok Wai
Bun Ben (Chairman), Mr. Cheng Shoutai and Mr. Lee Kong Wai
Conway and two non-executive directors, namely Mr. Jeffrey,
Minfang Lu and Mr. Qin Peng.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
Its main duties are to evaluate and make recommendation to
the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all directors and senior management of the Group,
including making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive director and
senior management, and establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in
deciding his/her own remuneration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration
policy and structure of the Company, and the remuneration
packages as well as the annual bonuses of the executive director
and the senior management during the year ended 31 December
2022.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established
on 8 October 2010. As at 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee consists of three members including one
non-executive director namely Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
(Chairman), and two independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben and Mr. Cheng Shoutai.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of directors, and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as set out in the
Company’s Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience, etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this annual report, the Nomination Committee reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of independent non-executive directors, to
consider the qualifications for the retiring directors standing for
election at the annual general meeting held on 8 June 2022 and
to consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment of
executive director. The Nomination Committee considered an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives other than gender
diversity perspective of the Board is maintained. Up to the date
of this Annual Report, the Nomination Committee is in progress
of identifying suitable female candidate(s) for appointment to the
Board on merit against objective criteria.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS
Board practices and conduct of meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting
are normally made available to the directors in advance. Notice
of regular Board meetings is served to all the directors at least
14 days before the meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

Board papers together with relevant information are sent to
all directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or
committee meeting to keep directors apprised of the latest
development and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make decisions. The Board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management
where necessary.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board
meetings and where necessary, other Board and committee
meetings, to advise on business development, financial and
accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance,
corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association contain
provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not
to be counted in the quorum at the meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.

The secretary of the meetings is responsible for taking and
keeping minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and final version
are open for director’s inspection.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

Attendance Records of Directors

The attendance records of each director at the Board, Board
committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:

EFHEERMKS

ZFEFHEARATRE E2022F12A31H8
tFERTzESTe €% SFZETe
BZMBERERSHTEHINMOT

Number of Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HERY/€8RH
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting'" Meetings'?
BR BR
Name of director ESps Ese ENZEE HHZEE REZEE BEAEN  KAHAgW
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu BRMEE 4k - 1 1 11 22
Mr. Qin Peng REEE 4k - 1 - 11 22
Mr. Zhang Ping e 4fh 4k - - 11 22
Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu) BIEE (X &Philip 6u) £ £ 4k - - - 11 22
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan BHEfE 4fh - - - 11 22
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben Loy il 44 1/1 1 1 202
Mr. Cheng Shoutai BIALE 3k - i 11 11 22
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway FEELE 34 44 i - N 22

Notes: M o

(1) The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 8 June 2022.

[2) The extraordinary general meetings of the Company were held on 27 June
2022 and 16 August 2022.

Apart from regular Board meetings, an independent
non-executive directors’ meeting was also held without the
presence of other directors on 30 March 2022.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent
procedure for formulating policies on remuneration of directors
and senior management of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management (other than directors) by bands for the year ended
31 December 2022 is set out below:

S EERRE ()

B E2022F12 8318 1 £ - 1% 7 B4 Bl
AroMEBREEEKRE(ESTRINFHFSR
ZIaAT

Number of

individuals

A
Nil to RMB1,000,000 Z = A K ¥1,000,000C 1
RMB3,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 A R #3,000,0017t & A R #4,000,0007C 1
Total FEi 2

Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had
reviewed the Company’'s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and Employee Written
Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this corporate governance report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 14 December
2018 which sets out the Company’s approach on the diversity of
the Board of the Company.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

The Company believes that greater diversity of directors is good
for corporate governance and is committed:

e To pay close attention to candidate(s) for Board with a
combination of competencies from the widest possible pool
of available talent.

e To maintain a Board with diversity perspectives at all levels,
in particular, those are aligning with the Company’s strategy
and objectives.

e To assess regularly the diversity profile of the Board and,
where applicable, senior management prepared for Board
positions under the succession planning of the Company and
the progress on achieving diversity objectives, if any.

e To ensure that the selection and nomination of Board
positions are appropriately structured so that a diverse
range of candidates can be considered.

e To set up appropriate procedures for development of a
broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
senior management that would be prepared for Board
positions.

e To ensure that changes to the Board's composition can be
managed without undue disruption.

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), Board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to the following:

e Gender

e Age

e Cultural and educational background

56 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ARRHEGEEEFEMZTELEMNREEE
R AR

s RERZAAEFHELBERAFZET
RAAENEETSEREA-

s BEBEFEEE UL LI BHRAR
NRREREFE RO E -

s TN GHEZSERREAQREETE
TEBERAEZESERUNSNEEE
(EBR)WZTRR UREBRZT
LER(WA)NER

s BMREZFE %uﬁkﬁh%&méﬁ

BFET UEBEHBEKREZTESRNIRK
BARKRAEZRE -

s RUBENREBFUBEEEZNES
ik - &TTTZ‘“%E_EE BREEE B
HEEESHAEEE -

s MREFGHEHMNAENEIEHERL
@%WFE

REAZEENREBFRTIEFTENRE A
grAR;(IER REAARAN AT
REMBEFENEHRELES -

Rk hEEEEERRESREE (R
aﬂﬁm)h%Fﬁ%EE & %tk
MEETE SERENRRK:

. t5
. Fib
« XERBEES



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

e Professional qualifications
e Skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to the
Company’s business growth.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary,
agree on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on
the Board and make recommendation to the Board.

The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as
applicable) such diversity perspectives and/or measurable
objectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business and
Board succession planning, as applicable.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one of members of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least 50% of the members of the Board shall be
non-executive Directors or independent non-executive
Directors;

(C) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(D) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications;

(E) at least two-thirds of the members of the Board shall have
more than ten years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in;

(F) at least two of the members of the Board shall have
China-related work experience.

The Board is committed to improving the diversity of the Board
and wishes to achieve the above objectives by the end of 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

The Nomination Committee will review the Board diversity policy
as appropriate and recommend revisions, if any, to the Board for
consideration and approval.

GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the
Group.

The following table sets out the gender ratio of the Board as at
31 December 2022:

k%iﬂahﬂ%Mﬁ§$ % Tt R
YTREEFSERIEFLBEBEIT(WMA) M
{/\%%&ﬁt/ﬁ

HRIZ Tt

ARREBERAKEERENERZ Tl

TR E 5 P2022F12A31HE =< & MRl
1

Female Male
zZ B
Board e 0.0% 100.0%

The Board is committed to improving greater gender diversity
in the Board and will appoint at least one female Director by the
end of 2024.

The Company has adopted the following measures to develop a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve gender
diversity:

e To attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with a
combination of competencies from the widest possible pool
of available talent.

e To set up appropriate procedures for development of a
broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
senior management that would be prepared for Board
positions.

Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Nomination Committee
is in progress of identifying suitable female candidatel(s) for
appointment to the Board on merit against objective criteria.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 2,434
full-time employees, 1,055 of whom were female (accounting for
approximately 43.3%]), and 1,379 of whom were male (accounting
for approximately 56.7%). The following table sets out the
gender ratio in the workforce of the Group, including the senior
management, as at 31 December 2022:

S EERRE ()

HE2022F12A31H  AEBEH£F24345 5
BiEE  B©1,0558 LM EEB (hLL#43.3%)
LA %1,379%4 55 1% 8 B (1 £t #956.7%) 48 A °
TREF HR2022F12A3MB A E B B T B
(BPREEREERE)NMERLLH -

Female Male

g3 B4

Senior Management' EREEE 50.0% 50.0%
Senior Management Personnel BREBAEB 30.0% 70.0%
Mid-level Management Personnel RREEAER 31.6% 68.4%
General staff ETEET 44.3% 55.7%
Overall workforce BEBTIKME 43.3% 56.7%

Note:

1 The senior management category includes one non-full-time employee who
works as the company secretary in the company.

The Group has set measurable goals to achieve gender
diversity in the workforce. The Group is committed to achieving
and keeping the proportion of female employees in the total
workforce at 40-50% and maintaining a non-single-sex senior
management team.

Most employees of the Group work on the front line in factory
roles involving medium and heavy labor. Given that the majority
of candidates for such front-line positions are male, the majority
of candidates for the Group's general staff and mid-level
management personnel (who are generally appointed from such
front-line positions) are male. As such, the Group believes that
a 40-50% female representation is a reasonable goal for gender
diversity in the total workforce. Considering the small team size
of senior management and the contingent nature of the ratio,
the Group believes that maintaining a non-single-sex senior
management team is a reasonable goal of gender diversity in
the senior management level.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group considers that it has
achieved gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management].
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

The Group will continue to strictly abide by all applicable labour
laws and regulations, provide equal opportunities for employees
and candidates of different genders by only considering their
qualifications, experience, performance, and other factors
related to the job functions, and ensure that there is no
unequal treatment due to gender differences in recruitment,
remuneration, promotion, or career development.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a Director Nomination Policy on 14
December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. The
policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company as well as the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

Criteria for nomination and appointment of directors

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

e Character and integrity.

e Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy.

e Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.

e Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

e Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

e Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s]
of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

e Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the

Company’'s business and succession plan and where

applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board

and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for

nomination of directors and succession planning.

Nomination process

(a) Appointment of new director

(i)

(ii)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(iii)The Nomination Committee should then recommend

to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, where applicable.

(iv)For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for

election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.

(b) Re-election of director at General Meeting

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.
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(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or
re-elect a candidate as director at the general meeting,
the relevant information of the candidate will be disclosed
in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules
and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and this Policy and
where appropriate, make recommendation on changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
business needs.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy on 14 December 2018 which
sets out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of
its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

A summary of the dividend policy is set out below:

1. In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value.

2. The Company intends to distribute part of the annual net
profits of the Group or other special dividend amount
approved by the Board as dividends to its shareholders,
subject to the conditions and factors as set out below. No
specific dividend proportion has been currently adopted.

3. The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the
Articles of Association of the Company and all applicable
laws and regulations and the factors set out below.
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. The Board shall also take into account the following factors
of the Group when considering the declaration and payment
of dividends:

e financial results;

e cash flow situation;

e business conditions and strategies;

e future operations and earnings;

e capital requirements and expenditure plans;

e interests of shareholders;

e anyrestrictions on payment of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
the following dividends may be proposed and/or declared by
the Board for a financial year or period:

e interim dividend:

e final dividend;

e special dividend; and

e any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

. Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.

The Board will review the dividend policy as appropriate from
time to time.

4.

5.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ responsibilities for financial reporting in
respect of financial statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of insider information and
other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this
Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems, and that it has the
responsibility to review their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that there will
be no material misstatement or loss.
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The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks (including but
not limited to business, operation as well as environmental,
social and governance ("ESG”) risks) it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives,
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk

and

management and internal control systems. The Board is the
highest decision-making authority for overall corporate risk
management, and is mainly responsible for performing the
following risk management duties.

A risk management committee composed of a member of the
Board and the department heads of the Group was established
pursuant to the guidelines of the Listing Rules. By establishing
a comprehensive risk management organizational system,
the Group carried out risk management effectively,
decision-making, supervision and other risk
management responsibilities, formed a scientific and effective
system with division of duties and set up three lines of defense

clarified
execution,

for risk management. The first line of defense consisted of sales
management divisions, factories and bidding and procurement
directly in charge of each of risk management; the second line
of defense comprised the risk and internal control management
committee, functional and support divisions and the risk
management division in charge of the overall planning and
supervising of risk management; and the third line of defense
was composed of the Audit Committee, the internal audit
division and the discipline inspection office in charge of verifying

risk management.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management (including ESG related
risks) and internal control systems. The Audit Committee
is the supervisory and evaluation office of risk and internal
control management, which guides and supervises the Group
in carrying out risk management. The risk and internal control
management committee, being a committee established under
the Audit Committee, is the highest coordination and business
affairs office for risk management. The committee is composed
of the first level officials in charge of various divisions, and
chaired by the chief executive officer of the Group. The risk
management division is directly under the risk management
and audit divisions of the Group, reporting to the head of
the risk management and audit divisions. As the centralized
management department of the Group’s risk management, the
risk management division is responsible for the Company’s
day-to-day arrangement, coordination, supervision, analysis and
reporting of risk management.
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The risk management division has developed a "Risk
Management Workflow”, which divides the workflow into
five major sections, namely () risk identification, (1) risk
assessment, (Ill) risk response, (IV) risk monitoring and (V]
risk management reporting, and clarifies and unifies the
workflow trend of risk management as well as the roles and
functions of relevant departments, implementation steps and
so on. To regulate the system and set out unified management
requirements for workflow execution, the department has
specifically set out the work requirements for each section in
the workflow as follows:

(1) Risk identification

Risk identification is the first step and the basis for risk
management. It refers to the process of analysing and
discovering, by the staff in each business area and at each
level of the Company, the potential factors that may impact
on the achievement of business objectives. The Group may
take the initiative to select appropriate, effective ways to
cope with and handle risks only if it is able to identify its own
risks comprehensively and correctly.

The Group’s risk identification is carried out in two main
lines. The first one is a routine check on risk identification
arranged and initiated by the risk management division once
a year, and the second one is a temporary risk identification
initiated by each of the affairs divisions and factories in line
with the management needs. The job requirements for risk
identification are as follows:

(1) Time of risk identification: the Group will initiate routine
risk identification for the coming year in the fourth
quarter of each year. The risk management division will
issue the relevant notice and collect internal and external
information (such as changes in China’s relevant policies
or industry regulatory requirements, the Company’'s
strategic and operational objectives for the current period
as well as major findings on the risk management and
internal audit supervision for the previous year] for the
preparation of annual risk alerts;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Scope of risk identification: there are inherent risks in
conducting any business activities. Each of the affairs
divisions, functional divisions and factories are required
to organize risk identification on a unified basis according
to the required dates of starting and ending the risk
identification as notified by the risk management division.
Management staff and risk counterpart staff at each
level are the main organizers of risk identification and
are required to boost the risk management awareness
among all staff internally and to comprehensively identify
various internal and external risks which impact on the
achievement of objectives;
Areas of risk identification: in commencing a risk
identification process, each affairs division, functional
division and factory are required to sort out and collect
risks comprehensively and systematically in line with
the Group’s risk management framework which consists
of seven dimensional areas including strategy, market,
finance, operations, law and compliance, quality and food
safety as well as sustainable development, taking into
account the factors that impact on the achievement of the
Company’s business objectives;

Principle of risk identification: it is necessary to follow
the three basic principles including comprehensiveness,
systematicness and continuity;

Method of risk identification: employing the risk
identification methods commonly used by enterprises
as well as a variety of ways and methods to collect a
wide range of risks associated with the Group’s business
areas;

Summarizing and submitting findings on risk
identification: risk counterpart staff of each affairs
division, functional division and factory are required to
describe each risk identified strictly in accordance with
the Company’'s common risk language and compile a
list of risks identified at the affairs division/functional
division/factory level which, after being verified and
confirmed by the affairs division, functional division
and factory manager, shall be submitted by the risk
counterpart staff of affairs division, functional division
and factory to the risk management division of the Group;
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(7) Organization of risk seminars: specifically for the findings
on risk identification submitted by each affairs division,
functional division and factory, the risk management
division is required to sort out the differences regarding
the unclearly defined leading role in risk management
and incomplete description of risks;

(8

Establishment and improvement of the risk database: the
risk management division is required to establish and
improve the risk database of the Group as an essential
basis for risk management based on the findings on
risk identification submitted by each affairs division,
functional division and factory annually;

(9

Other requirements: in addition to the routine risk
identification carried out by the Group each year, each of
affairs divisions, functional divisions and factories are
required to carry out temporary risk identification in line
with their own internal actual situations. The workflow
and methods shall be carried out with reference to the
above criteria.

(ll) Risk assessment

Risk assessment refers to the risk assessment conducted
on the basis of the possibility of occurrence and the degree
of impact of a risk. In particular, possibility refers to the
probability of occurrence of a risk, and the degree of impact
means the degree of impact of the occurrence of a risk
created on the target. The scope of impact covers daily
operations, laws and regulations, financial loss, food hygiene
and safety, environmental protection, corporate reputation
and so on. By comparing various risks, the significant risks
are arranged, and the priority to manage these risks in
chronological order and the strategies to cope with them are
determined initially. The specific job requirements include:

(1) the cycle of a risk assessment (conduct regularly once a
year);

(2) to carry out a risk assessment at different levels;
(3) to assess and identify significant risks at different levels;

(4) to build up a team of risk assessment experts;
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(5) to set risk score weight across affairs divisions/functional (5) 5 E A Bee P T MR B =T
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Risk response refers to the strategies and plans determined [2, ﬁﬁ?ﬁ“ﬁ%?§$@ﬂ B IE B & & A5k
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risk and opportunity, and focus on emphasized management THEREREE:

of and response to significant risks at each level. The specific
workflow includes:

(1) to determine the main unit in charge of the Group's (1) $E.§KH R(BRRE ek
significant risks (including ESG related risks); eEERB) TEREEMET
(2) to make preparations for responding to and notifying of (2) [ B %9 4 % B 58 A0
risk;
(3) to develop strategies for analysing and responding to (3) &\ Fx > AT B2 & ¥ 5% WS &l E
risks;
(4) to execute and modify measures for responding to risks. 4) B ES R ERITHEEE -
(IV) Risk monitoring (m) WPz ES 42
Risk monitoring is a mechanism or method used by the EREESEERERRNER BR
management to understand and determine whether risk }_\, EETEREEANINITIREN T EH
management is functioning continuously and effectively % B RERHE BRI BEERNK
under the changing internal and external environment. It is flkHE E—EHEETERREEDN
a continuous process aimed at evaluating the effectiveness B BIREEREE - W REETH
of risk control, detecting control deficiencies and making ERNBEBRE ARBTIEEZERET:

improvement in a timely manner. The specific work
requirements are as follows:

(1) Division of duties in risk monitoring: significant risks N BEREZEREI T AEEEMEX
lincluding ESG related risks) at Group level are monitored 2, Bz (@ﬁ RE - HERE) A*H 7 2
by the risk management division throughout the process. %) MR g B R A 22 BT B Ak A
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affairs division/factory level are monitored by the risk AZRREE  BRERITTE M
counterpart staff of the functional divisions/affairs =

divisions/factories throughout the process;
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(2) Frequency of risk monitoring: significant risks at Group
level are monitored quarterly, while significant risks
(including ESG related risks) at functional division/affairs
division/factory level are monitored quarterly or monthly
by the functional divisions/affairs divisions/factories on a
selective basis;

(3

Particulars of risk monitoring: risk monitoring covers
the implementation and effectiveness of strategies for
responding to significant risks at each level as well as the
monitoring and early warning of significant risk events
and related risk information within the industry.

(V) Risk management reporting

Risk management reporting includes the report submitted
to the superior risk management division annually as well as
the information and communication details generated in each
part of the process of carrying out risk management. The
specific requirements for risk management reporting are as
follows:

(1) Risk management reporting to the Audit Committee:
report at least once a year, as required by the Audit

Committee;

(2

Reporting to the risk and internal control committee:
report at least twice a year, as required by the risk and
internal control committee;

(3

Other risk management forms and reports: while the
risk management system and workflow (refers to risk
identification, assessment, response and monitoring)
are being carried out, the functional divisions/affairs
divisions/factories shall, as required by the risk
management division, submit all kinds of process
management form and information report in a timely
and quality manner to ensure that the Group’'s risk
management information is communicated and reported
smoothly.
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As part of the drive to improve the internal control systems
and pursuant to the direction of the Stock Exchange in the
news release published on 27 September 2019, the Company
appointed an independent international accounting firm on 25
October 2019, as the Company’s internal control consultant
(the “Internal Control Consultant”] to conduct a thorough
review (the “Review”]) of and make recommendations
to improve the Company’s internal controls to ensure
compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Review
was completed on 27 November 2019, and the report of the
Review has been issued by the Internal Control Consultant
and submitted to the Stock Exchange on the same date.

Procedures implemented by the Internal Control Consultant
as part of the Review include:

(i) conducting interviews with the relevant management
personnel and staff of the Company, and conducting site
review of the relevant documents relating to internal
control at the same time;

(i) conducting walk through testing on relevant internal
control processes and systems;

(iiiJconducting sample testing on relevant internal controls to
determine whether the internal controls of the Company
are consistent with the requirements of the management
and the relevant policies and procedures handbook,

(ivibased on the results of procedures (ii] and (iii) above,
identifying deficiencies of internal controls of the
Company and making appropriate recommendations to
improve them.

The Internal Control Consultant identified findings and made
recommendations to the Company on the issues regarding
the Internal Rules on Connected Transactions currently in
effect, procedure for identification of connected persons,
independent review of the list of the connected persons
and written rules in relation to price enquiry procedures in
connected transactions in supply transactions.
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All the recommendations of the Internal Control Consultant
as set out in the report of the Review have been implemented
by the Company and a follow-up review (the “Follow-up
Review”) on the Company’'s internal controls by the
Internal Control Consultant was completed on 23 January
2020. Report of the Follow-up Review has been issued by
the Internal Control Consultant on 23 January 2020 and
submitted to the Stock Exchange on 24 January 2020.

Procedures implemented by the Internal Control Consultant
as part of the Follow-up Review include:

(i) conducting follow-up review of the rectification measures
implemented by the Company;

(ii) discussing the procedures of the rectification measures
with the relevant management personnel and staff of the
Company; and

(iii)conducting walk through testing on the rectified internal
control processes and systems.

Having considered the findings and results of the Follow-up
Review, the Board concurs with the Internal Control
Consultant’s view and are of the view that the Group’s
internal controls to ensure compliance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules are sufficient to meet the obligations under
the Listing Rules. For further details of the internal control
reviews, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 8 November 2019, 11 December 2019 and 7 February
2020.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2022.

At the board meeting held on 29 March 2023, the Board, as
supported by the Audit Committee as well as the internal
audit findings, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December 2022,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual review also covered the financial reporting and
internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences
and relevant resources.
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The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s directors,
officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.

MANAGEMENT OF CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

To ensure compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has implemented the “Rules for Management of
Connected Transactions” (B & X 5 B B E)) with effect
from 20 January 2020, with emphasis on the following areas:

e Maintenance of the list of connected persons and connected
transactions;

e Procedure for identifying connected transactions other than
those with members of the Mengniu Group and Danone;

e Procedure for aggregating connected transactions and
managing the aggregated transaction amount; and

e Monitoring mechanism for the annual caps of continuing
connected transactions.

Procedures for identifying connected transactions are as
follows:

(I) The first control gate — Business Unit

All business units of the Company shall act as the first
gatekeeper and maintain a high degree of sensitivity and
alertness to connected transactions.

(1) When negotiating any business contract, it is necessary
to take the initiative to check with the other party of the
contract whether it is a connected person of the Company
and conduct research and verification on the list of
connected persons;
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(2) When signing any business contract, it is necessary
to add an option for declaration of connection to the
contract with reference to the "Rules for Management
of Connected Transactions” ({BE & X 5 & B & E)).
Currently, the option for declaration of connection
is mainly targeted at the Company’'s substantial
shareholders, Mengniu Group;

(3

Contracts confirmed as connected transactions must be
countersigned to the Compliance Department in the OA
system;

(4) The pricing of connected transaction contracts strictly
follows the principles of fairness and impartiality;

(5) The time limit for signing the connected transaction
contracts shall not exceed three years; and

(6) It is forbidden to make connected transactions first and
then to supplement contracts or backdate the connected
transaction contracts.

(Il The second control gate — Legal Department

(1) To supervise the review of any draft business contract
initiated by the business unit and check whether the
contract text includes the option for declaration of
connection. If there is no option for declaration of
connection, the draft contract will be returned to the
business unit.

(2

If the connection is declared as “the contracted party
is a connected company”, the business unit must be
reminded and requested to countersign the contracts to
the Compliance Department in the OA system.

(Il) The third control gate — OA system

The Compliance Department ensures that the latest list
of connected persons is imported into the OA system back
office. When the business unit initiates a contract review
at the “contract process” in the OA system, the OA system
will automatically search for and match the “contract
counterpart” with the back-office list. The system will
forcibly add the Compliance Department to the signing
approval flow.
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(IV) The fourth control gate — Seal Management (W) EMEEFRA — EPEEEM
Department
(1) If any business contract is found to lack the option for N BEEREMEHARRIBEERR
declaration of connection, the contract shall not be BIE GRTETUEE:
stamped;
(2) If the connection is declared as “the contracting party (2) EHBRBEBRERBATYEERRIE
is a connected company”, but the contract process of RETBERBEERLE] BOARHEHN
the OA system is not countersigned to the Compliance ERBERREELEHR/N & F
Department, the contract shall not be stamped. TETLES -
EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ S B8 4 B A B2 A B4 B Y 2 T
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about AAFINEZEEMEHEEHM KR KROBA
their reporting responsibilities for the financial statements are .2 B EERF R ARF R I8 7% BADWwE ]
set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” of — &1 ©

this Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration & £2022F 128318t FE - KRR BN/
paid/payable to the Company’s current auditors, KPMG, Certified BN AAFTREZHRMEF R M F7H

Public Accountants, is set out below: Fr et mEmsEsnT:
Fee paid/
payable
21/
Category of services Bk 7% %8 Bl ENEA
RMB'000
AREF T
Audit services!! EZRBW 2,700
Other assurance services!? EMmEFERBK 1,280
Non-audit services® EEZREO 552
Total ot 4,502
Notes: B 5 -
1. Audit services for the 2022 financial statements. (1) 2022F A IS MR BT R

2. Assurance services related to the special deals in connection with the (2] AR EHENEINZTINEERY -
Privatization Proposal.

3. Services related to tax consultation, etc. (3) MBEREHEERE -
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration & £2022F12A31BItEE » AR B R/
paid/payable to the Company’s former auditors, Ernst & Young, JEff AR A AT % EEN & ok € 51 A0 F 75 At (3

Certified Public Accountants, is set out below: ¥R RHMET 0T
Fee paid/
payable
g/
Category of services PR 7% %8 Bl ENEA
RMB'000
ARET T
Audit services!V EiZREW 3,050
Non-audit services IEBEZ R —
Other assurance services!? HEiEFRE 805
Total 5t 3,855
Notes: B AL
1. Audit services for the 2021 financial statements. (1) 205G HMEREBTRY

2. Assurance services related to the special deals in connection with the (2) FAELREZHBEOENZIINEERE °

Privatization Proposal.

COMPANY SECRETARY REWE

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris is the company secretary of the ZHESELBARRNARWME - L4
Company. Mr. Kwok is the financial controller and company AZAXARGIZEBRAAFERFILEER QA
secretary of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited ([a (4 A EDND(—HBEBIHMERLTH
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock R &) * & 15 R 5% : 2319) & BF 75 42 BS 38 R 7]
code: 2319) (“Mengniu Dairy”) (the holding company of the MZE MAEFBSTMAS @8 EEASE
Company), a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified HFARSAMAECEREE - L LI I
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of AARARAEE - FLEBFEREFTEHRE
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Kwok is not an employee 1 4% 8 Mf &% + /O 1 2 & 54 <7 B B7 & =7 81
of the Company. Mr. Kwok contacts the management of the N BBAHMAETRTMLLEARF
Company and reports to the chairman of the Board and/or the EEEHMZ WMEFLEIER HAQ
chief executive officer of the Company through Ms. Alisa Wu FRI{TE A X ESR - BELEEHEREREE
of CEQ’s Office, when necessary in accordance with the code 20229 12A31HItFEELX BT DRI5/ N
provisions set out in the CG Code in Appendix 14 of the Listing R R E 5 -

Rules. Mr. Kwok has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15

hours of relevant professional trainings during the year ended

31 December 2022.

76 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’'s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meetings and other general meetings. The general meetings
of the Company provide a platform for communication between
the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as
well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer
shareholders’ questions at general meetings. A notice to
shareholders is sent by the Company at least 20 clear business
days before the annual general meeting and at least 10 clear
business days in all other general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
not made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of
Association. The Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website (www.yashili.hk], where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company's financial information, corporate
governance practices, biographical information of the Board and
other information are available for public access.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company engages with shareholders through various
communication channels and a Shareholders” Communication
Policy is in place to ensure that shareholders’ views and
concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly
reviewed to ensure its effectiveness and the results were
satisfactory.
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The Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as
follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report and,
where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the
interim report and, where applicable, its summary interim
report; (c] a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e] a
circular; and (f] a proxy form. The Corporate Communication
of the Company will be published on the Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required
by the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be
provided to Shareholders and non-registered holders of the
Company’s securities in both English and Chinese versions
or where permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner
as required by the Listing Rules.

(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.)
and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles of
Association) on the Stock Exchange’'s website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

—

(c) Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.yashili.hk].
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(d) Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forum for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company
shall provide Shareholders with relevant information on
the resolutions(s] proposed at a general meeting in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate
in general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote
at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable
to attend the meetings. Where appropriate or required,
the Chairman of the Board and other Board members, the
chairmen of board committees or their delegates, and the
external auditors should attend general meetings of the
Company to answer Shareholders’ questions [(if any]. The
chairman of the independent board committee (if any) should
also be available to answer questions at any general meeting
to approve a connected transaction or any other transaction
that is subject to independent Shareholders’ approval.

(e) Shareholders’ Enquiries

Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’'s Hong Kong branch
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, by submitting enquiries online at
www.computershare.com/hk/contact or calling its hotline at
+852 2862 8555, or going in person to its office at 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to
be put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries
to the company secretary by email: ir@yashili.cn or by post
to Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the
Company at +852-2845 1230 for any assistance.

S EERRE ()

dBRRXE

KRB REAFRAEGREMBRRAD
RAAFEBRRERBEBBENEEFS - AR
A EIL IR LT AR R A AR F R A AR R
REHEEBRREASLRENAZENR
BER  IRENERGEZSENER -
LEREEARRENIAZERIEL A
BIBFRRTE - ARBIHERELERE
AReEMPMAELERAEREZAENR
REEERELRAERMMIKE - £6 8
RFENBRT EFC€XF EME
EgNE EFZBETZEENEEL
EZEMRRE - AR INE % SR E
AABWBRREARE T A£E FEZKERIR
MmA) - BYE=ZEE(WMA)NE
BhEEEEAMERER SR EME
HACEIREENRSNBRERS
ﬁﬁﬁ’:‘@i@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ% °

(el RREH

BAREREENES

REAFBBEARBNETBEROBPL EL
PRBEBBRREFLFELAERARIN ML
(www.computershare.com/hk/contact]
A& - B 4T 242 +852 2862 85553
EVERNAHEMRBEABIFEREANE
RI18FAMALIIMEN R R E(EHL A
BRRERNER -

MEEERAVNAEABRLEEARS
HtHEE

—MBmME AR TEEROBRES
WEH - RRAFEBEE (AU A
ir@yashili.cn) = =k B IE 77 = (Mo 4k B &
75 SR 8 4 4 4T 182625 R K E32
BAZ)BERNT AL WE - BE
MEEMBY  IRERARAGRB A
+852-2845 1230) °

BITAEERERERAT
2022 F %R

79


http://www.computershare.com/hk/contact
http://www.computershare.com/hk/contact

80

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERRE (FE)

(f) Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms

Investor/analysts briefings, roadshows (both domestic and
international), media interviews, marketing activities for
investors and specialist industry forums etc. will be launched
on a required basis.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeqguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each separate substantial issue at
general meetings, including the election of individual directors.
All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as a director are available on the Company’s
website (www.yashili.hk].

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSAL AT GENERAL MEETING

Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
any one or more members of the Company holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s] himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will
not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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CONTACT DETAILS BEER
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as MBEAWO EXHBAMARTTFERENE
mentioned above to the Company: sk Esk:
Address: Room A, 32nd Floor 4k BB
COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road i 9 /&
Causeway Bay A ITE2625 R B K E
Hong Kong 2EBAE
Telephone: +852 2845 1230 B +852 2845 1230
Fax: +852 2845 1231 BE: +852 2845 1231
Email: ir@yashili.cn B H ir@yashili.cn
Contact person: Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris mA: HMEERE

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must depositandsend A% 4 5M BEMEFEIAEEZ2EET
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, Zk - - BA K BERHXEHGE B AMET) Z
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide [EAGFEMNETHE Faiur - WIRHE K S
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give % BEER L &M UFEEER - BE
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as B R A BIFE ERBETUHE -
required by law.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES

EFSREHEER

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu

Aged 54, was appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Board, and was
redesignated as a non-executive director of the Company on 15
September 2016. Mr. Lu was a director for each of the following
subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili International
Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou Hong Kong
International Co., Limited and Mengya International Group
Limited (formerly known as Scient International Group Limited)
from 27 April 2015 to 9 January 2017. Mr. Lu is currently an
executive director and the CEOQ of Mengniu Dairy (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2319], a non-executive director and the chairman of the board of
China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited. (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1432], as well
as a non-independent director and the chairman of the board
of Shanghai Milkground Food Tech Co,. Ltd. (a company listed
on the Shanghai stock exchange, stock code: 600882]). From
March 2017 to February 2023, Mr. Lu served as a non-executive
director and the chairman of the board of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1117). Mr. Lu is also a director of
International Dairy Federation. Mr. Lu was the Vice President
(Greater China) of Danone Early Life Nutrition Greater China
and had been with the Danone Group and Dumex Baby Food Co.,
Ltd. for over 10 years. During the tenure at the Danone Group,
he demonstrated strong strategic business and market planning
capabilities. With strong leadership, management skills and
in-depth knowledge of markets, Mr. Lu contributed significantly
to the success of the Danone Group’s baby nutrition business in
China. Prior to joining the Danone Group, Mr. Lu spent 9 years
with Johnson & Johnson (China) Company Limited and almost
4 years with General Electric Company (China). Mr. Lu has over
18 years of experience in sales and marketing and has been
served in general manager or senior management roles for over
10 years. He has extensive experience in the management of
fast-moving consumer products and dairy companies and has
an excellent understanding and the in-depth knowledge of the
PRC market. Mr. Lu obtained his bachelor degree from Shanghai
Fudan University.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED])

Mr. Zhang Ping

Aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee on 27 April
2015. Mr. Zhang was appointed as the authorized representative
of the Company on 16 March 2018. He has been also a director of
Yashili International Group Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
since 27 April 2015. Mr. Zhang joined the Mengniu Group in
2014 and is currently an executive director, vice president and
the chief financial officer of China Mengniu Dairy Company
Limited. He has over 33 years of experience in the industry of
fast-moving consumer goods, specializing in the management
of operation, finance and audit as well as risk control. Mr.
Zhang successively worked as the manager of internal audit and
system development, finance director in Swire Beverages Co.,
Ltd., general manager of its bottler manufacturing company
and chief executive officer in Coca-Cola Bottler Manufacturing
Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang graduated from Beijing Information
Science and Technology University with a Master degree in
management engineering. Mr. Zhang has been a non-executive
director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1117) since 22 March 2016, a non-executive director of China
Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1432) since 25 August
2020, a director of Shanghai Milkground Food Tech Co,. Ltd. (a
company listed on the Shanghai stock exchange, stock code:
600882) since 27 September 2021 and an executive director of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2319) since 1
December 2021.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

EENEEEBE(E)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan

Aged 40, was appointed as an executive director, Chief Executive
Officer and authorized representative of the Company on 8
January 2020. Mr. Yan has also been a director for each of
the following subsidiaries of the Company, namely Yashili
International Ltd., Yashili International Group Limited, Newou
Hong Kong International Co., Limited and Mengya International
Group Limited (formerly known as Scient International Group
Limited) since 8 January 2020. Mr. Yan has seventeen years
of working experience in Mengniu Dairy (together with its
subsidiaries, the “Mengniu Group”), and has accumulated
extensive sales and management experience in the dairy
products industry. Mr. Yan was formerly the assistant vice
president of Mengniu Dairy, and had also been the general
manager of the sales management center of Mengniu Group’s
room temperature product business division since January 2017,
leading the room temperature sales team to achieve continuous
high growth in sales revenue and market share. During his
term of office, Mr. Yan was also in charge of Xinjiang Mengniu
Dairy Company Limited (T8 X 4% 2% B R 2 7]) (the "Xinjiang
Company”], which runs an operation with integrated production
and sales of room temperature, low temperature and frozen
products. With his outstanding ability to manage the entire
business chain, the performance of Xinjiang Company recorded
steady growth and achieved continuous growth in profits in last
three years. Prior to this, Mr. Yan held different management
positions within the Mengniu Group, including general manager
of Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (A
SEHEFMuIA R R BEREE QA (milk powder segment)
in Central/East China region and general manager of Mengniu
Henan region. Mr. Yan obtained an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from the University of Texas at Arlington,
and obtained a Doctorate degree in Business Administration
from the City University of Hong Kong.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED])

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben

Aged 74, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company, the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Audit Committee on 15 November 2013. Mr. Mok has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
China Foods Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 506) since 29 August 2017. Mr. Mok
served as a senior consultant for COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited in 2012. Mr. Mok had served as a general manager of
Beijing Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2011. From
1993 to 2001, he was a general manager of Hangzhou BC Foods
Company Limited and Nanjing BC Foods Company Limited. Mr.
Mok also served as the general manager of Swire Beverages
Limited responsible for overseeing bottling plant of Swire
Beverages Limited in China. Mr. Mok was awarded a Bachelor
degree of Economics from McGill University, Canada in 1975.

Mr. Cheng Shoutai

Aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company, and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 15
November 2013. Mr. Cheng is a practicing lawyer of the People’s
Republic of China, the chief partner of Tahota Law Firm, a law
firm based in China. Mr. Cheng also serves as the vice president
of the All China Lawyers Association (/1 ¥ 2 [ 72 Rl i & ),
an arbitrator of the China International Economic and Trade
Arbitration Commission (CIETAC) (7 B EZES M E
B &% 8) and a legal advisor of the People’s Government of
Sichuan Province. Mr. Cheng holds a Doctorate’s degree in civil
and commercial law from Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics. Mr. Cheng is honored with the titles of “Model
Worker in the Judicial Administration System in Countrywide
(2EFETTHRAS S EIEE)", National Outstanding Lawyer,
Chambers Asia Pacific Asia’s Leading Lawyer for Business (£
1B 8 22 K i [& £ H 75 7% 2 AT), China Top Ten Influential Lawyers
of Asia Legal Business (ALB) (52 i % % 5 ) and LEGALBAND
“China Top Lawyers of 2020” (LEGALBAND “20204 E # H T8
M ZRD") and was one of the Fangyuan Top Ten Elite Lawyers
of the Year as well as the First Session of Top Ten Outstanding
Lawyers Graduated from Southwest University of Political
Science and Law.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED)

EENEEEBE(E)

Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company, the chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 27
November 2013. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience in
public accounting and auditing, corporate finance, merger and
acquisition and initial public offerings. Mr. Lee served at Ernst
& Young from September 1980 to September 2009. Mr. Lee was
a partner of Ernst & Young and held key leadership positions in
the business development of Ernst & Young in China. Mr. Lee is
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia
and New Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants respectively. From 2007 to 2017, Mr. Lee was a
member of Chinese People’'s Political Consultative Conference
of Hunan Province.

Mr. Lee is an independent non-executive director of Chaowei
Power Holdings Limited (stock code: 951), China Modern Dairy
Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1117}, GCL New Energy Holdings
Limited (stock code: 451), GOME Retail Holdings Limited (stock
code: 493), NVC Lighting Holding Limited (stock code: 2222),
West China Cement Limited (stock code: 2233) and Guotai Junan
Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2611) (the above companies are
all listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Lee is
also an independent non-executive director of Intchains Group
Limited (a company listed on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange, stock
code: ICG). From July 2014 to June 2022, Mr. Lee served as
an independent non-executive director of WH Group Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 288). From July 2014 to December 2020, Mr. Lee
also served as an independent non-executive director of China
Rundong Auto Group Limited (a company which was delisted
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1365]).
From March 2011 to February 2020, Mr. Lee also served as an
independent non-executive director of Tibet Water Resources
Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1115). From July 2014 to September 2015, Mr. Lee
also served as a non-executive director of China Environmental
Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1237). From
November 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Lee was also an independent
non-executive director of CITIC Securities Company Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6030) as
well as the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030]).
Mr. Lee was an independent non-executive director of China
Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 966)
from October 2009 to August 2013. Mr. Lee was an independent
non-executive director of Sino Vanadium Inc. (a company which
was delisted on the TSX Venture Exchange in December 2011,
stock code: SVX] from September 2009 to December 2011.
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DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES (CONTINUED])

Mr. Lee graduated from Kingston University (formerly known as
Kingston Polytechnic) in London with a Bachelor degree in Arts
in July 1980 and further obtained his postgraduate diploma in
business from Curtin University of Technology in Australia in
February 1988.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Chen Limin

Aged 43, has over 20 years of work experience in accounting
and financial management. Prior to her appointment as the CFO,
Ms. Chen served as Senior Director at the finance management
department of Mengniu Group. Ms. Chen joined the Mengniu
Group in May 2003 and had held various positions at the Mengniu
Group. Ms. Chen has a Master of Business Administration
degree from Inner Mongolia University of Finance and
Economics. Ms. Chen is a member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Kwok Wai Cheong, Chris

Aged 50, was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company on 10 April 2019. He is also the financial controller
and company secretary of Mengniu Dairy. Prior to joining
the Mengniu Group in May 2007, Mr. Kwok was the financial
controller of a Hong Kong listed company and had also served
in an international accounting firm. Mr. Kwok graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a Bachelor degree in
accountancy. Mr. Kwok is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in
presenting their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’'s future business
development and outlook of the Company’s business, possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and
important events affecting the Company occurred during the
year ended 31 December 2022 are provided in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
10 to 41 of this Annual Report. An account of the Company’s
relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
paragraphs headed “Emolument Policy”, “Retirement Benefits
Schemes” and “Major Customers and Suppliers” of this Report
of the Directors.

An analysis of the Group’'s performance during the year ended
31 December 2022 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 10 to 41 of this Annual Report.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance
by reference to environmental and social related policies, as
well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Company will be provided in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” which
will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.yashili.hk] and a
printed copy of the same will be despatched to the shareholders
of the Company upon request.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out
in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year under review.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit/loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 and the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements
on pages 129 to 242 of this Annual Report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the
year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised] of the
Cayman Islands was RMBO million.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year under review
amounted to approximately RMB1 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group held
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB1,417.3
million. Movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2022 and during the period from the end of the year
of 2022 to the date of this Report of the Directors were:

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu (Chairman]
Mr. Qin Peng!

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Gu Peiji (alias Philip Gu)®@

Executive director:
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan (Chief Executive Officer)
Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben
Mr. Cheng Shoutai
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway

Notes:

(1) Resigned on 9 March 2023
[2) Resigned on 9 March 2023

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of the existing independent
non-executive directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 82 to 87 of this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below, there was no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors in the Board has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
which will continue thereafter unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the service contract, including by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party to the other. No Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their heirs,
executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company had the following interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO”)), which have been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions which
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company are taken
and deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which
are required to be and are recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code contained in the Listing Rules:

Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company:

EERBETBRAERKRSD - HER
DRESHERER KR

R2022F12A318 - AR EENEETHK
ABRARBRERE ZE(EX LB B &
BIESTNECRAFERBHERI(EFFRBE
BB EXVE B D - ARG RESRF
BEERBEESRBEKRAEXVEETR ES
DEEDHNERRR BRI ERSOAS (B
HBEERARAETEMTBRAEBBREZRAKX
HEKIZEREXHEEERERBEENE
ERKRB)RBALHERNBEFERSRBPER
BIEIHEETFHRENESLMOER AR -
IREBELTRAUMBEFETASITHE R
RARBRMERIABENT

BB R D IR A 2

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued share
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares capital?
ERITREN
EEnA B EatE EERHAE BABD
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Beneficial owner 15,924,640 (L) 0.34%
BERTE ERlEAA
Notes: Bt 3 -

1 Grant of 25,427,020 phantom shares by the Company to Mr. Yan Zhiyuan, in
which 7,623,780 phantom shares were realized and 1,878,600 phantom shares
were canceled, pursuant to the phantom share incentive scheme adopted
by the Company on 15 July 2020. The phantom share incentive scheme does
not involve the grant of options over new shares or other new securities that
may be issued by the Company (or any of its subsidiaries). The recipients of
phantom shares do not own any Shares, nor enjoy voting rights or allotment
rights of the Shares by virtue of holding the phantom shares.

2 The total issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 was 4,745,560,296.

(L) The interestis held in long position.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ interests in the shares of Mengniu Dairy (being a
holding company of the Company and an associated corporation
of the Company):

EFTERE(HE)

EEZRRFIE(RDAI KR QR K& A8 B
EE) B R

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued share

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares capital

EBRITRAN

Expns B EatE EBER#E MOBFDL

Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu Beneficial owner 20,515,046 (L) 0.52%
E gL EDEAA

Mr. Zhang Ping Beneficial owner 3,090,357 (L) 0.08%
RFEE EmEARA

Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Beneficial owner 82,255 (L) 0.00%
BEESLLE ERlEAA

Note: Bt 5

(L) Allthe shares are held in long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFOJ], which
had been recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which had been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code contained in the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, at no time was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors and chief executives of the Company
(including their spouse and children under 18 years of age] to
hold any interest or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO].
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme (the
“Pre-IP0O Share Option Scheme”) on 8 October 2010, and
adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 8 October 2010. Details of the Share Option Scheme are as
follows:

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme for the
purpose of motivating eligible participants to optimize their
future contributions to the Group and/or reward them for
their past contributions, attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining on-going relationships with such eligible
participants who are significant to and/or whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success
of the Group.

The maximum number of the ordinary shares of the Company
(the “Shares”) which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue as at 1 November 2010 (the “Listing Date”), that
is, 350,000,000 Shares, which represented approximately 7.38%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of this report.
No option may be granted to any participant of the Share Option
Scheme such that the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
that person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest
grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share capital from
time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as determined
by the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the
grant. There is no minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. Participants of the Share
Option Scheme are required to pay the Company HK$1.00 upon
acceptance of the grant on or before the 28 days after the
offer date. The exercise price of the options is determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than
whichever is the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a Share;

(b) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets on the offer date; and
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the Listing Date, after which no further
options will be granted or offered.

On 23 July 2013, China Mengniu International Company Limited
(“Mengniu International”) made a voluntary general offer to
option holders of the Company (“Option Offer”), to cancel the
outstanding options granted under the Pre-lPO Share Option
Scheme and the Share Option Scheme. Please refer to the
composite offer and response document issued by the Company,
Mengniu Dairy and Mengniu International relating to, among
other things, the Option Offer dated 23 July 2013 for further
details.

On 13 August 2013 (being the final closing date of the Option
Offer], the Option Offer was accepted in respect of 52,088,266
options. The underlying options together with all the rights
attached thereto were cancelled and given up and all the
outstanding options automatically lapsed upon acceptance of the
Option Offer.

The Share Option Scheme expired on 1 November 2020, after
which no further option was granted or offered. As at 1 January
2022 and 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding option
granted by the Company.

PHANTOM SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

To motivate the employees to maximize the value of and share
the results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group, the Company adopted the Phantom
Share Incentive Scheme (the "Phantom Share Incentive
Scheme”) on 15 July 2020 for certain key management team,
middle and senior management personnel and key personnel
who have a material impact on the operating performance
and sustainable development of the Company (the “Incentive
Recipients”).

Phantom Share Incentive Scheme does not involve the grant
of new or existing shares or options over new shares or other
securities of the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and
therefore, it does not fall within the ambit of, and is not subject
to, the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Phantom Share Incentive Scheme shall be valid for a period of
10 years commencing from the effective date of the Scheme
(the “Effective Period”). The Board could terminate the Scheme
before the expiry of the Effective Period if the Board considers
it necessary. The total number of Phantom Shares to be granted
under the Effective Period shall not exceed 474,556,029 Shares.
The Incentive Recipients do not own any shares, nor enjoy voting
rights or allotment rights of the shares. Phantom Shares cannot
be transferred or used as security or for repayment of debts.

On 15 July 2020, the Board approved the initial grant of
59,660,700 Phantom Shares under the Phantom Share Incentive
Scheme.

On 15 July 2021, the Board approved the grant of 62,619,900
Phantom Shares under the Phantom Share Incentive Scheme.

On 15 July 2022, the Board approved the further grant of
47,232,800 Phantom Shares under the Phantom Share Incentive
Scheme.

For further details of the Phantom Share Incentive Scheme and
the grant of Phantom Shares on 15 July 2020, 15 July 2021 and
15 July 2022, please refer to the announcements issued by the
Company on 16 July 2020, 15 July 2021 and 15 July 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouses or
minor children, or were such rights exercised by them, or was
the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities (including debentures) of the Company or any other
body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND FERRRN AR EER GRS K
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING 7y
SHARES

So far as is known to the Director or chief executives of the BARGBTEERETEZETHABHA B
Company, as at 31 December 2022, the persons or corporations 2022412 A318 » A A A 8k H B X E 5
(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who B MBI H T HEERIEEH LB S K
had interest or short positions in the shares and underlying fIZEXVEBFE2RID AN IE X EHTEFARQ
shares of the Company or its associated corporation(s) which ARz AR > K AR AREZEF K H
were required to be disclosed to the Company under the &K FE3IVKEBEAFTENETLMAMN
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which #&mIABMA LK EZB (WIFEARAES
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section HEZFTHAEB)WT:

336 of the SFO were as follows:

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares® shareholding®
HRESD
=x 2% 331 EERHES Elald
Mengniu Dairy Interests in a controlled 2,422,117,713 51.04%
corporation’
S4ILE EEHEERER
Beneficial owner? 1,186,390,074 25.00%
EamEA A2
Mengniu International Beneficial owner! 2,422,117,713 51.04%
=4 B EmEAAN
Danone SA3 Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
B SA3 EEGDEE &
Danone Baby and Medical Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
Nutrition BV3
Danone Baby and Medical A E ) =
Nutrition BV3
Nutricia International BV? Interests in a controlled corporation 1,186,390,074 25.00%
Nutricia International BV3 ZEHEENE R
Danone Asia? Beneficial owner 1,186,390,074 25.00%
Eae e EmERBA
Vanguard International Interests in a controlled corporation 303,462,119 6.39%
Investment Co., Ltd4
Vanguard International REHEENE R
Investment Co., Ltd4
Zhang Yangui* Interests in a controlled corporation 303,462,119 6.39%
o JE e R EE R R
Zhang International Investment Beneficial owner 303,462,119 6.39%
Ltd4
RRBEEFERERRR A EmEAA
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Notes:

1 As at 31 December 2022, Mengniu Dairy held 99.95% interest in Mengniu
International and Mengniu International directly held the relevant Shares.

2 0On 6 May 2022, Mengniu Dairy and Danone Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd.
("“Danone Asia”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant
to which Danone Asia conditionally agreed to sell, and Mengniu Dairy
conditionally agreed to acquire (or procure the acquisition of}), 1,186,390,074
Shares, subject to the terms and conditions therein. The aforementioned
transaction was completed on 9 March 2023.

3 As at 31 December 2022, Danone SA held 100% interest in Danone Baby
and Medical Nutrition BV. Danone Baby and Medical Nutrition BV held 100%
interest in Nutricia International BV. Nutricia International BV held 100%
interest in Danone Asia and Danone Asia directly held the relevant shares.

4 As at 31 December 2022, Zhang International Investment Ltd. was held as to
35.06% by Vanguard International Investment Co., Ltd, which is in turn wholly
owned by Mr. Zhang Yangui.

5 Allthe shares are held in long position.

6 The total issued Shares of the Company as at 31 December 2022 was
4,745,560,296.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
are not aware of any other person or corporation having an
interest or short position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company or its associated corporation(s) which would require to
be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected persons
(a) Mengniu Dairy and Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Mengniu International, a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, holds
51.04% of the shares of the Company and is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Mengniu Dairy is
a connected person of the Company. As Inner Mongolia
Mengniu is a subsidiary of Mengniu Dairy, Inner Mongolia
Mengniu is a connected person of the Company.
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1 R2022FNA3NAB EHAERABESFFERE®
99.95% %z MEFEEBEEZZEERKN

2 M202245H6H © 5 4 7 ¥ 1 Danone Asia Baby
Nutrition Pte. Ltd. ([ZR MDD L —BHEEWH
R EZRDNEARERELEE M43
EAEGMNR W (SR K U E) 1,186,390,074 % A%
HEBEETZRENGEARREE - HE
R2023F3A9IA KK E »

3 20224 12A31H - 82 SAHF B Danone Baby and
Medical Nutrition BV #)100% # # ° Danone Baby
and Medical Nutrition BV £f A Nutricia International
BV#100% #E 28 = Nutricia International BV & &
BET M AII00% HE MERTIMNEEFEBEER

T/\ °

4 20224 12HA31H » Vanguard International
Investment Co., Ltd#F ARKBE KRR EFR QA H
35.06% 1 % * ifiVanguard International Investment

Co, LtdRI SRR EREHA »
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6 TR2022F12A31MH ARAREBHTRMHDLEA
4,745,560,296 % °
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(b) Danone Trading ELN BV (“Danone Trading”), Danone Asia

Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“DAPH"), Shanghai Nutri Go
Food Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Nutri Go”) and DanTrade B.V.
(“DanTrade”)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Danone Asia, a
subsidiary of Danone SA, had a 25.0% shareholding interest
in the Company. Therefore, Danone SA was a connected
person of the Company. As each of Danone Trading, DAPH,
Shanghai Nutri Go and DanTrade is an indirect subsidiary
of Danone SA and a member of the Danone Group, each of
Danone Trading, DAPH, Shanghai Nutri Go and DanTrade was
a connected person of the Company.

Connected transactions

1.

Dumex China Disposal

On 6 May 2022, Yashili International Group Co. Ltd.* (4 &= F
B 2= @ B R A A1) (“Yashili (Guangdong)”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Dumex China SPA”) with DAPH, pursuant to
which Yashili (Guangdong] conditionally agreed to sell, and
DAPH conditionally agreed to acquire, 100% of the equity
interests in Dumex China (the “Dumex China Disposal”],
for a consideration of RMB870 million subject to terms
and conditions contained in the Dumex China SPA. On 16
August 2022, the independent Shareholders approved,
among others, the Dumex China Disposal. Please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 6 May 2022 and 16
August 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 29 July
2022 for further details.

All Directors (including all independent non-executive
Directors and excluding all non-executive Directors, who
have abstained from voting on the relevant board resolution)
are of the view that (a) the terms of the Dumex China
Disposal are fair and reasonable so far as the independent
Shareholders are concerned; and (b) the Dumex China
Disposal, albeit not in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group, is on normal commercial terms and
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

EFTERE(HE)

(b) Danone Trading ELN BV ([Danone

Trading]) * Danone Asia Pacific
Holdings Pte. Ltd. ((DAPH]) + L& ¥
EERMARAR(TLEEREEDR
DanTrade B.V. ([DanTrade])

R E E2022612A3B FE B -
SAH)F RBEZERE G MEA RNRQF25.0%
iz AERSARARANH
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

HHEMEXS

Continuing connected transactions

1. BRERAFTERE

1. Trademark Licensing Agreement

On 25 September 2015, as one of the conditions precedent
to the completion of the equity transfer agreement in
relation to the entire equity interests in Oushi Mengniu
(Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd. ("Oushi Mengniu”],
Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu and Inner Mongolia
Mengniu entered into a trademark licensing agreement
(the “Trademark Licensing Agreement”) pursuant to which
Inner Mongolia Mengniu (as licensor]) agreed to grant
Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong] and its affiliates (as
licensees) a nontransferable and non-exclusive right to
use and sub-license certain registered trademarks (the
“Trademarks”) of Inner Mongolia Mengniu in the PRC, which
are subject to change by Inner Mongolia Mengniu from
time to time, for a term commencing from the date of the
Trademark Licensing Agreement for a period of (i) 50 years,
or [ii) the operation period of Oushi Mengniu, whichever is
later. The Trademark Licensing Agreement may be renewed
subject to the negotiations among the parties in the future.
The annual license fee is equal to (a) 3% of the net sales
revenue arising from the sale of the pediatric milk formula
products and milk powder products for adults for which the
Trademarks are used (the “Products”] by Yashili (Guangdong])
and its affiliates during that respective year, and (b](i] 3% of
the net sales revenue arising from the sale of the Products
by Oushi Mengniu during that respective year, or (i) RMB18.0
million, whichever is higher. The net sales revenue of Oushi
Mengniu shall start to accrue (i) following the completion of
the registration of the capital reduction as further described
in the joint announcement of the Company and Mengniu
Dairy dated 21 September 2015 and the circular of the
Company dated 29 October 2015, or (ii) from 1 January 2016,
whichever is earlier. The annual license fee shall be paid by
Oushi Mengniu, Yashili (Guangdong] and its affiliates within
two months after the end of each year. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 25 September 2015 for
further details.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Directors are of the view that the entering into of the
Trademark Licensing Agreement will benefit the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole in the following respects: (i)
the Company can benefit from the brand of Mengniu Dairy,
the “Mengniu” trademark is highly recognized in the PRC and
the use of the "“Mengniu” trademark would be beneficial to
the sale of the Company’s adult milk powder products and
maintain the market share of Oushi Mengniu’s infant milk
powder; and (ii] through the "Mengniu” trademark license,
the Company could access more support from Mengniu Dairy
in terms of brand resources.

On 22 December 2017, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a confirmation
letter in relation to the Trademark Licensing Agreement,
pursuant to which the parties agreed that for each of the
years of 2017 and 2018:

— no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong] to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the
use of the Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing
Agreement provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi
Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates) for
the promotion, marketing, advertising and distribution of
the Products (the “Marketing Expenses”) in any such year
shall not be less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of
the Products to third party customers in such year; and

— in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by
Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates)
in any year are less than 3% of the revenue from the
sales of the Products to third party customers in such
year, Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) shall pay the
shortfall to Inner Mongolia Mengniu within two months
after the end of such year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

On 12 July 2019, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental
confirmation letter (the “Supplemental Confirmation Letter”)
in relation to the Trademark Licensing Agreement, pursuant
to which the parties agreed that for each of the years of 2019,
2020 and 2021:

— no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong] to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the
use of the Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing
Agreement, provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi
Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates) for
the promotion, marketing, advertising and distribution of
the Products (the “Marketing Expenses”] in any such year
shall not be less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of
the Products to third party customers in such year; and

— in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by
Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates)
in any year are less than 3% of the revenue from the
sales of the Products to third party customers in such
year, Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) shall pay the
shortfall to Inner Mongolia Mengniu within two months
after the end of such year.

The Directors [(including the independent non-executive
Directors but excluding Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr.
Zhang Ping) are of the view that the entering into of the
Supplemental Confirmation Letter will benefit the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole as the arrangements
provided in the Supplemental Confirmation Letter would
support the Company’s promotional and marketing activities
for the Products, which are important components of the
product portfolio of the Company in the future, and thereby
increasing the market share of and sales revenue of the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

On 9 July 2020, Yashili (Guangdong], Oushi Mengniu and Inner
Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental agreement
to the Trademark Licensing Agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”), pursuant to which, among others, [i]
Yashili New Zealand, an affiliate of Yashili (Guangdong])
incorporated in New Zealand, is designated as a licensee
under the Trademark Licensing Agreement, and may use
and sub-license the Trademarks in New Zealand and use
the Trademarks in the manufacturing of the Products in
New Zealand, and such Products may be imported to the
PRC for promotion, advertising, marketing and distribution;
and (ii] the Supplemental Confirmation Letter shall apply
to the Trademark Licensing Agreement as amended by the
Supplemental Agreement.

On 16 August 2021, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental
agreement to the Trademark Licensing Agreement (the
“2021 Supplemental Agreement”], pursuant to which, among
others: [(i] certain milk powder products, oatmeal, milk
tablets, solid probiotic beverages and children snacks shall
be added into the definition of Products under the Trademark
Licensing Agreement; (ii) the licensees shall have the right
to sub-license the Trademarks to their affiliated company,
Mengniu Oushi Nutrition Food Co., Ltd, provided that the
scope, the products and the terms of the sublicense are
consistent with that of the license; (iii) the licensees may
entrust third parties with the processing, manufacturing
and selling of certain licensed products and sub-license
the Trademarks to such third parties subject to the scope
and the terms of the Trademark Licensing Agreement and
the 2021 Supplemental Agreement; (iv] the Supplemental
Confirmation Letter shall apply to the Trademark Licensing
Agreement as amended by the 2021 Supplemental
Agreement; and (v) the 2021 Supplemental Agreement is an
effective supplement to and of the same force and effect as
the Trademark Licensing Agreement.

The Directors are of the view that the Supplemental
Agreement, the 2021 Supplemental Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would enable the
Group to promote the advertising and distribution of its
products through the Mengniu brand.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

On 22 December 2021, Yashili (Guangdong), Oushi Mengniu
and Inner Mongolia Mengniu entered into a supplemental
agreement in relation to the Confirmation Letter (the “2021
Supplemental Agreement in relation to the Confirmation
Letter”), pursuant to which the parties agreed that for each
of the years of 2022, 2023 and 2024:

— no license fee shall be payable by Oushi Mengniu and
Yashili (Guangdong] to Inner Mongolia Mengniu for the
use of the Trademarks under the Trademark Licensing
Agreement and any supplemental agreements thereto,
provided that the expenses incurred by Oushi Mengniu
and Yashili (Guangdong] (and its affiliates) for the
promotion, marketing, advertising and distribution of the
Products (the “Marketing Expenses”) in any such year
shall not be less than 3% of the revenue from the sales of
the Products to third party customers in such year; and

— in the event that the Marketing Expenses incurred by
Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) (and its affiliates)
in any year are less than 3% of the revenue from the
sales of the Products to third party customers in such
year, Oushi Mengniu and Yashili (Guangdong) shall pay the
shortfall to Inner Mongolia Mengniu within two months
after the end of such year.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors but excluding Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr.
Zhang Ping] are of the view that the entering into of the 2021
Supplemental Agreement in relation to the Confirmation
Letter will benefit the Company and its shareholders
as a whole as the arrangements provided in the 2021
Supplemental Agreement in relation to the Confirmation
Letter would support the Company’'s promotional and
marketing activities for the Products, which are important
components of the product portfolio of the Company in the
future, thereby increasing the market share of and sales
revenue of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, pursuant to the 2021
Supplemental Agreement in relation to the Confirmation
Letter, no license fee is payable by Oushi Mengniu, Yashili
(Guangdong) and its affiliates to Inner Mongolia Mengniu
under the Trademark Licensing Agreement.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

2. Manufacturing and Supply Agreement

On 27 May 2016, Dumex China entered into a manufacturing
and supply agreement (the “Manufacturing and Supplying
Agreement”) with Danone Trading, an indirect subsidiary
of Danone SA, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed
to purchase and Danone Trading agreed to sell certain
products for infant nutrition from time to time during the
term from the completion of acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Dumex China to 31 December 2027. The prices
shall be negotiated each year prior to the start of the year
and shall be calculated based on the cost of the relevant
infant nutrition products supplied plus a markup of 10%
and with reference to the volume forecasts provided by
the Dumex China to Danone Trading. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 27 May 2016 ("May 2016
Announcement”] for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the Manufacturing
and Supply Agreement enables Dumex China to secure a
long-term supply of four tailored nutrition products from the
Danone Group, which would complement the existing product
portfolio of the Group and enhance the bargaining power the
Group in channel distribution.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Manufacturing and
Supply Agreement was RMBO, which was less than the cap of
RMB14 million as disclosed in the May 2016 Announcement.

. Processing Agreement with Shanghai Nutri Go

On 23 March 2018, Dumex China, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a processing agreement (the
“2018 Processing Agreement”) with Shanghai Nutri Go
pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to provide processing
services in respect of NutriGo nutrition packs to Shanghai
Nutri Go from time to time from 23 March 2018 to 22 March
2019. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 March 2018 for further details.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

On 4 June 2019, Dumex China entered into a processing
agreement (the “2019 Processing Agreement”) with Shanghai
Nutri Go, pursuant to which Dumex China agreed to provide
processing services in respect of NutriGo nutrition packs to
Shanghai Nutri Go from time to time from 4 June 2019 to 3
June 2020. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 4 June 2019 (the “4 June 2019 Announcement”) for
further details.

On 4 June 2020, Dumex China and Shanghai Nutri Go
entered into a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental
Agreement”] to (i] extend the term of the 2019 Processing
Agreement to the period from 4 June 2020 to 30 June
2020; and (ii) amend certain terms of the 2019 Processing
Agreement. Save as described above, the transactions
contemplated under the Supplemental Agreement shall
comply with the terms of the 2019 Processing Agreement.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4
June 2020 (the “4 June 2020 Announcement”] for further
details.

On 8 June 2021, Yashili (Guangdong] and Shanghai Nutri Go
entered into a processing agreement (the “2021 Processing
Agreement”]), pursuant to which Yashili (Guangdong)
agreed to provide processing services in respect of Nutri
Go nutrition packs to Shanghai Nutri Go from time to
time from 8 June 2021 to 7 June 2022. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 8 June 2021 (the "8
June 2021 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions
contemplated under the 2018 Processing Agreement, the
2019 Processing Agreement, the Supplemental Agreement
and the 2021 Processing Agreement with Shanghai Nutri Go
would generate revenue for the Group and enable the Group
to explore additional business opportunities in the future.

On 22 November 2021, the Board adjusted upward the annual
cap for the period from 8 June 2021 to 31 December 2021
from RMBO0.5 million to RMB2 million and the annual cap for
the period from 1 January 2022 to 7 June 2022 from RMBO0.5
million to RMB3 million. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 22 November 2021 (the “22 November
2021 Announcement”) for further details.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

On 11 July 2022, Yashili (Guangdong] and Shanghai Nutri Go
entered into a processing agreement (the “2022 Processing
Agreement”), pursuant to which Yashili (Guangdong)
agreed to provide processing services in respect of NutriGo
nutrition packs to Shanghai Nutri Go from time to time
during the term of the 2022 Processing Agreement. The cap
in respect of the transactions contemplated under the 2022
Processing Agreement during the period from 11 July 2022
to 31 December 2022 shall be RMB2 million, and the cap in
respect of the transactions contemplated under the 2022
Processing Agreement during the period from 1 January
2023 to 10 July 2023 shall be RMB3 million. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 11 July 2022 (the “11
July 2022 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors are of the view that the transactions
contemplated under the 2022 Processing Agreement would
generate revenue for the Group and enable the Group to
explore additional business opportunities in the future.

For the period from 1 January 2022 to 7 June 2022, the value
of the transactions contemplated under the 2021 Processing
Agreement was RMB1 million, which was less than the cap
of RMB3 million for the period from 1 January 2022 to 7 June
2022 as disclosed in the 22 November 2021 Announcement.

For the period from 11 July 2022 to 31 December 2022,
the value of the transactions contemplated under the 2022
Processing Agreement was RMBO0.1 million, which was less
than the cap of RMB2 million for the period from 11 July
2022 to 31 December 2022 as disclosed in the 11 July 2022
Announcement.

. Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy

On 29 June 2018, the Company entered into a Framework
Agreement (the “Framework Agreement with Mengniu
Dairy”) with Mengniu Dairy in relation to (i) purchase of
goods by the Mengniu Group from the Group (“Type | CCT");
(ii) purchase of goods by the Group from the Mengniu Group
(“Type Il CCT"); (iii) provision of services by the Mengniu
Group to the Group ("Type Ill CCT"); and (iv] provision of
services by the Group to the Mengniu Group (“Type IV CCT").
The Framework Agreement has a term of three years
commencing from the date of the approval of the independent
Shareholders (the “Effective Date”).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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The goods under the Type | CCT and Type Il CCT are mainly
raw materials for dairy products, raw materials for food,
food additives (including but not limited to whole milk
powder, skimmed milk powder, white sugar, etc.), auxiliary
materials, packing materials, semi-finished goods and
finished goods. The list of goods may be updated from time
to time according to the business needs of the Group and
the Mengniu Group. The services under the Type Il CCT
and Type IV CCT are mainly testing services, storage and
leasing services, marketing and sales services, IT services,
labour services, advisory services and management
services. The scope of services may be updated from time
to time according to the business needs of the Group and
the Mengniu Group. The price and terms of the transactions
under the Framework Agreement shall be determined in the
ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms,
negotiated on an arm’s length basis and no less favourable
to the Group than those available to the Group from
independent third parties.

Please refer to (i) the announcement of the Company dated
2 July 2018 in relation to the entering into of the Framework
Agreement with Mengniu Dairy, (ii)] the announcement of
the Company dated 31 December 2018 in relation to, among
others, the revision of proposed annual caps of the continuing
connected transactions under the Framework Agreement
with Mengniu Dairy, (iii) the circular of the Company dated
22 February 2019 ("22 February 2019 Circular”) and (iv]
the announcement of the Company dated 12 March 2019 for
further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from
the independent board committee included in the 22
February 2019 Circular)) are of the view that the Framework
Agreement with Mengniu Dairy and the transactions
contemplated thereunder would enable the Group to achieve
greater synergies with the Mengniu Group. In particular, (i)
the purchase of goods and services from the Mengniu Group
will enable the Group to realize stable and quality sourcing
and reduce purchase costs; and (ii] the provision of goods
and services by the Group to the Mengniu Group will diversify
and increase the Group’s income and most importantly
improve the capacity utilization of the Group.

108 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SEMERFERNRFEEERSR
FINBETHRIERAKEREME R
WERHM RRANEEEETERZ
R - BBEEHH BEES) W
BEMM FERmAXm- BRBEENL
CARAKRELRIFTEBENEBRTED
REH FEBEIZENNRFER
BRZEHIVIETRSEEZREARS -
BRRMEEERY mHRBEERS T
R - BHRS - FHRGREERS -
REEBEAETARAEBERIFEEN
EGRETHEN ERXRBRRTRS
MEREKERIREEXEREBRETIRE
FHEGRREAVFERREE K TA
SENEBMERLTIERAEEB B
NE=ZTMERFE -

EBEZHEBE F2HOAR2RBHA
2018 F7RA2A B AR LB 4 A ¥
ERmZH QS - (1A Q R BH A2018
FRAJNBEFEB(ETR B BRI S
IENEEBZETRHERERS I B
FFELERMORE VA AFHEBA
201942 AH228 & @ K ([2019%F2H22H
B RlivIAR AR AE A201943712H

BRE -

EEPEBIFNTES HEER
ERR2019F 2822 BKPFAE MBI E
EZEgRHFRERIIRE BHEFE
¥TUMERBELAEE TRETRS
CEPRAANEBESFEEZHOH
BAHE- Agms (IAXFEERE
EmAkBREEDAEEBRREERES
HEHRR  WHERBRA: R)ASE
ErnsdssE8REmRERETZ T
LB AU A FOR KR IE A EE A URA
MEEEZMERARALAEENEELT A

;E( o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy and the
transactions contemplated thereunder were approved
by the independent Shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 12
March 2019. The Framework Agreement with Mengniu Dairy
became effective on 12 March 2019.

On 15 October 2021, the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
with Mengniu Dairy to extend the term of the Framework
Agreement for a period from 12 March 2022 to 31 December
2024 (the "Extension”). The transactions contemplated under
the Framework Agreement (as extended pursuant to the
Supplemental Agreement] will be conducted on the same
pricing and payment terms as provided in the Framework
Agreement as disclosed in the 2018 Announcements and
the 2019 Circular. The Group expected that the Mengniu
Group would increase its purchase amount of the goods
from the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021,
which is Type | CCT under the Framework Agreement. As a
result, the Board adjusted the annual cap in respect of Type
| CCT contemplated under the Framework Agreement for
the year ended 31 December 2021 from RMB350 million to
RMB400 million (the “2021 Annual Cap”]. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 15 October 2021 and
30 November 2021 and the circular of the Company dated
10 November 2021 (the “10 November 2021 Circular”) for
further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 10 November
2021 Circular]) are of the view that the Extension and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would enable the
Group to achieve greater synergies with the Mengniu Group.
In particular, (i) the purchase of goods and services from
the Mengniu Group will enable the Group to realise stable
and quality sourcing and reduce purchase costs; and (ii] the
provision of goods and services by the Group to the Mengniu
Group will diversify and increase the Group’s income and
most importantly the capacity utilisation of the Group.
The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the revision of 2021 Annual
Cap would enable the Group to further utilise its capacity
and increase the Group’s income.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

The revision of 2021 Annual Cap, the Extension, the
Supplemental Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder (including the proposed annual caps] were
approved by the independent Shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30 November 2021.

The Group expected that the Group would increase its
purchase amount of the goods from the Mengniu Group for
each of the three years of 2022, 2023 and 2024, which will be
Type Il CCT contemplated under the Framework Agreement.
As a result, the Board proposed to adjust upward the annual
caps in respect of Type Il CCT to RMB1,200 million, RMB1,500
million and RMB1,900 million for the years of 2022, 2023
and 2024, respectively (“Type Il Annual Caps”). The revision
of Type Il Annual Caps was approved by the independent
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 27 June 2022. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 25 April 2022 and 27
June 2022 and the Circular of the Company dated 7 June
2022 (the “7 June 2022 Circular”).

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors whose views are set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 7 June 2022
Circular) are of the view that the revision of Type Il Annual
Caps would enable the Group to secure stable and quality
supply of goods from the Mengniu Group despite the
challenging market environment and reduce costs.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the value of
transactions under the Framework Agreement with Mengniu
Dairy was RMB179.6 million, RMB629.3 million, RMB27.2
million, RMB19.0 million for Type | CCT, Type Il CCT, Type
ILL CCT and Type IV CCT, respectively, which was less than
RMB860 million, RMB1,200 million, RMB6é9 million and
RMB67 million, respectively, as disclosed in the 7 June 2022
Circular.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

5. 2020 Supply Agreement with DAPH, Danone Trading,

DanTrade and Their Affiliates

On 19 November 2019, Yashili New Zealand entered into
a supply agreement (the “2020 Supply Agreement”) with
DAPH, Danone Trading, DanTrade and their affiliates (the
“Purchasers under the 2020 Supply Agreement”), pursuant
to which Yashili New Zealand agreed to supply, and the
Purchasers under the 2020 Supply Agreement agreed to
purchase, base powder and dairy ingredients from time
to time. The 2020 Supply Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are subject to the approval by the
independent Shareholders. If the approval of the 2020 Supply
Agreement by the independent Shareholders is obtained
before 1 January 2020, the 2020 Supply Agreement shall take
effect on 1 January 2020, and shall remain in force until 31
December 2020 unless otherwise agreed by the parties in
writing. If the approval of the 2020 Supply Agreement by the
independent Shareholders is obtained after 1 January 2020,
the 2020 Supply Agreement shall take effect on the date
on which it is approved by the independent Shareholders,
and shall remain in force until 31 December 2020 unless
otherwise agreed by the parties in writing. Please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 19 November 2019
and 31 December 2019 and circular of the Company dated 12
December 2019 (the “12 December 2019 Circular”) for further
details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 12 December
2019 Circular]) are of the view that the 2020 Supply
Agreement would enable Yashili New Zealand to improve its
utilisation rate, thereby achieving greater synergies between
the Group and Danone.

The 2020 Supply Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder were approved by the independent
Shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 31 December 2019. The 2020
Supply Agreement became effective on 1 January 2020.

EFTERE(HE)

5. EBEDAPH - Danone Trading * DanTrade &

BREREE DT E M A202045 4 i 5

MR2019F11A198 - ¥ /8 B F % 8
DAPH - Danone Trading * DanTrade & %
EMEE AR (2020 EHMEETE
R AT % (2020 S EHZE )
Bl TAFILERETEMEHE M
2000FEEHE B TERREARKEE
EBRILBER - 20200FHERELHE
EHTRETHORZBAKEIREIAE -
i20204F 4 F& 1% 3% 7220201 516 Al %
B E O  BI2020F H ER EE R
200K 1 AR AER T iEHEHENR
F2020F12A31H (BRI HBTEE
% 5E) ° 2020 4F £ & 3 &% 72 20204F 1 A
18 % BB S B Bt & 0 BI20204F /&
HEREREBLREESEES - I
i 4 E A M 220205128318 (B JE =T
HWAEBTEERHBE) EHRE—FTFHE
FLHEARAAEHA2019F11A198 &
2019F12A3MBM A ERARGHE A
2019412 8128 & i@ 1% (2019 F12 B12A
BE@) -

EEEEBIUERTES HERH
R209FNANHBRANBIYIESEZR
BERER)RE 20205 # EWH# 5
BNRTAFIERALESETBE -
MM — e A EEHEERE 2 EOR
&) 2 FE o

2020FHEHE R EIBE THETHRS
RARQNBE2019FE12A3MTHBRTHRE
BRI K & 8 L B AL - 20204
FE W s PR 2020 1 A1B A &K -

BEREERERERLE 111

2022 F %R



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

On 13 November 2020, Yashili New Zealand entered into an
agreement with DAPH and DanTrade to extend the term of
the 2020 Supply Agreement for a period of one year from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 and to amend certain
terms of the 2020 Supply Agreement (the “Extension”].
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 13
November 2020 and 23 December 2020 and the circular of
the Company dated 4 December 2020 (the “4 December 2020
Circular”) for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 4 December
2020 Circular])) are of the view that the Extension would
enable Yashili New Zealand to improve its utilisation rate,
thereby achieving greater synergies between the Group and
Danone.

The Extension and the transactions contemplated thereunder
were approved by the independent Shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 23 December 2020. The Extension became
effective on 1 January 2021.

On 17 December 2021, Yashili New Zealand entered into an
agreement (the “Extension No. 2”) with DAPH to extend the
term of the 2020 Supply Agreement for a period of one year
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 and to amend
certain terms of the 2020 Supply Agreement. The annual
cap in respect of the total consideration of the transactions
contemplated under the 2020 Supply Agreement (as extended
pursuant to the Extension No. 2} from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022 shall be RMB52 million. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 December 2021 for
further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the Extension No. 2 and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would enable Yashili
New Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving
greater synergies between the Group and Danone.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Group expected that the Purchasers would increase
their purchase amount of the Products under the 2020
Supply Agreement from the Yashili New Zealand during the
year ended 31 December 2022 due to the expected increase
in the Purchasers’ demand for the Products. Therefore, on
17 June 2022, the Board adjusted upward the annual cap of
the 2020 Supply Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2022 from RMB52 million to RMB150 million. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 17 June 2022 (the
“17 June 2022 Announcement”) for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors but excluding Mr. Qin Peng and Mr. Gu Peiji (alias
Philip Gu) who are Directors nominated by Danone and
abstained from voting on the board resolution) are of the
view that the 2020 Supply Agreement and the transactions
thereunder (with the revised annual cap) would enable Yashili
New Zealand to further improve its utilisation rate, thereby
achieving greater synergies between the Group and Danone.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the value of
the transactions contemplated under the 2020 Supply
Agreement was RMB122.2 million, which was less than the
cap of RMB150 million as disclosed in the 17 June 2022
Announcement.

On 14 December 2022, Yashili New Zealand entered into
an agreement (the “Extension No. 3") with DAPH to extend
the term of the 2020 Supply Agreement for a period of two
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024 and to
amend certain terms of the 2020 Supply Agreement. The
annual caps in respect of the total consideration of the
transactions contemplated under the 2020 Supply Agreement
(as extended pursuant to the Extension No. 3] for the years
of 2023 and 2024 shall be RMB50 million and RMB50 million,
respectively. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 14 December 2022 for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors] are of the view that the Extension No. 3 and the
transactions contemplated thereunder would enable Yashili
New Zealand to improve its utilisation rate, thereby achieving
greater synergies between the Group and Danone.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

6. BEEFAXTVERNRRERERD R

6. Accounts Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement with

Mengniu Dairy

On 22 October 2021, the Company entered into an accounts
receivables transfer framework agreement (the “Accounts
Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement”) with Mengniu
Dairy, pursuant to which the Company (on behalf of the
Group) agreed to transfer, and Mengniu Dairy (on behalf
of the Mengniu Group) agreed to accept, the Accounts
Receivables from time to time from the date on which the
Accounts Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder is approved by the
independent Shareholders until 31 December 2023. Please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 22 October
2021 and 30 November 2021 and the circular of the Company
dated 15 November 2021 (the “15 November 2021 Circular”)
for further details.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors (whose views were set out in the letter from the
independent board committee included in the 15 November
2021 Circular]) are of the view that the Accounts Receivables
Transfer Framework Agreement and the transactions

contemplated thereunder will (i) revitalize the Group’s
assets; (ii) reduce its amount of accounts receivables so as
to optimize its asset structure; (iii) allow expedite realisation

of the accounts receivables which will in turn enhance
the Group’'s working capital efficiency; and (iv] increase
the Group’'s liquidity and improve its asset efficiency
and financial condition, thereby optimizing its financial
statements.

The Accounts Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the
proposed annual caps) were approved by the independent
Shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 30 November 2021. The
Accounts Receivables Transfer Framework Agreement
became effective on 30 November 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the value of the
transactions contemplated under the Accounts Receivables
Transfer Framework Agreement was RMBO million, which
was less than the cap of RMB500 million for the year of 2022
as disclosed in the 15 November 2021 Circular.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The pricing policies set out in the relevant announcements
and circulars (where applicable) of the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions set out
above have been followed when determining the price and
terms of the transactions conducted during the year.

Other than the connected transactions and the continuing
connected transactions set out above, in respect of which
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules have been complied with, no contract
of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed these connected transactions and confirmed
that such transactions were entered into:

— in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

— on normal commercial terms or better; and

— according to the agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. KPMG has
issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in this Annual Report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules on the Main
Board. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party
transactions as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements constitutes non-exempt connected
transaction or non-exempt continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rues. The
Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The Directors named in the paragraphs below held offices
in businesses, which are considered to compete or likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Each of Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu and Mr. Zhang Ping held offices
in the Mengniu Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.
Mengniu Dairy is a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Bellamy’'s Australia Limited, which is an Australian organic
infant formula and baby food provider, acquired by the Mengniu
Group in 2019, is engaged in, among others, manufacturing and
distribution of milk formula. Each of Mr. Qin Peng and Mr. Gu
Peiji (alias Philip Gu) held offices in Danone. Danone Asia, a
member of the Danone Group, was a substantial shareholder
of the Company. Danone is engaged in, among others,

manufacturing and distribution of milk formula.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed
by separate entities with independent management and
administration. The Directors are of the view that the Group
is capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and
at arm’s length from, the businesses of these entities. When
making decisions, the relevant Directors, in performance of
their duty as Director, have acted and will continue to act in the

best interests of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
respective associates had any interest in any company or
business which competes or may compete with the business of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ service Contracts” above, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands
where the Company is incorporated applicable to the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit,
qualifications and competence of individual employees and
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee periodically.
The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

The Company has previously adopted two share option schemes
and one Phantom Share Incentive Scheme to motivate and
reward its Directors and eligible employees. Details of the
schemes are set out in the paragraphs headed “Share Option
Schemes” and “Phantom Share Incentive Scheme” above.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentages of basic salaries
of the employees to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions are charged
to the consolidated income statements as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the state-managed retirement
benefits scheme. The Group has no other material obligation for
the payment of pension benefits beyond the annual contributions
described above.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’'s total
contributions to the retirement benefits schemes charged in
the income statement amounted to RMB37.8 million. There are
no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. Details
of the Group's retirement benefits scheme and the basis of
calculation are set out in notes 2.4 and 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five
largest customers were 5.8% and 14.8% of the Group’s total
sales respectively. Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers combined were less than 30% of the
Group’s total sales. Aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’'s largest and five largest suppliers were 13.8% and
50.5% of the Group’s total purchases respectively. At no time
during the year ended 31 December 2022 did a Director, his/
her associate(s) or a shareholder, which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital,
have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed, with
the Company’s management and the external auditors, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company
and discussed auditing, risk management, internal control,
whistleblowing policy and system and financial reporting
matters, including the review of the Group’s financial
statements’ for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS

On 3 May 2022, the Board announced that (i) Ernst & Young
would retire as the auditors of the Company upon expiration
of its current term of office at the conclusion of the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022 (the "2022
AGM”] and [ii) the Board has resolved, with recommendation
from the audit committee of the Company, to propose the
appointment of KPMG as the new auditors of the Company
following the retirement of Ernst & Young, subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at the 2022 AGM. On 8 June 2022,
the Shareholders approved the appointment of KPMG as the
auditors of the Company to hold office with effect immediately
after the conclusion of the 2022 AGM until the conclusion of the
next annual general meeting of the Company.

As a result, the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by KPMG.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float of not less than 23.42% of the Company’s
issued shares pursuant to a waiver granted to the Company by
the Stock Exchange for the period from the Listing Date.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of short-term and long-term bank loans of the
Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements. Other than such bank loans,
the Group had no other bank loans.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Details of foreign currency risk are set out in note 38(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EFTERE(HE)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 42 to
81 of this Annual Report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the five financial years ended 31 December 2022 is set
out on pages 241 to 242 of this Annual Report.

PROPOSED PRIVATISATION OF THE COMPANY AND
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

A discussion of the proposed privatisation of the Company and
the events after the reporting period is provided under the
paragraphs headed “Proposed Privatisation of the Company”
and “Events After the Reporting Period” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 32 to 33 of this
Annual Report.

On behalf of the Board

Jeffrey, Minfang Lu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of
Yashili International Holdings Ltd
{Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“the Company”]) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 129 to 240, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRSs”]) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"]. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman lIslands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED])
BYZBE RS (E)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment testing of goodwill
Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies in note 2.4 Impairment of non-financial
assets.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B A E (&)

How the matter was addressed ZEREETTP
The Key Audit Matter in our audit BRENEE = 1017 BB Y
Goodwill amounting to Our audit procedures to assess the M2022F12A31 HEMEARTERERENSE
RMB802,236,000 represented impairment of goodwill included the B BAERARYE HEFEENUT:

11.32% of the Group’s total assets
as at 31 December 2022.

Goodwill is allocated to the cash
generating unit ("CGU") group
and impairment test of goodwill
is performed by management at
least annually by comparing the
carrying value with the recoverable
amount of the CGU group, which is
the higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal. The
value in use of the CGU group was
determined by management using a
discounted cash flow forecast.

We identified assessing impairment
of goodwill as a key audit matter
because of the magnitude of
the goodwill and because the
preparation of discounted cash flow
forecast involves the exercise of
significant management judgement
in determining key assumptions,
particularly the future sales
growth rates, corresponding gross
margin rates and the discount rate
applied, which could be subject to
management bias.

following:

e understanding and evaluating
the design and implementation
of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;

e assessing management’s
identification of the CGU group
to which goodwill is allocated
and the allocation of assets and
liabilities to the CGU group with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e discussing future operating plans
with management and comparing
key assumptions in the
discounted cash flow forecast,
such as the future sales growth
rates, and corresponding gross
margin rates with the approved
budget and with reference to
historical sales growth rates
and corresponding gross margin
rates;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED])

BYZBE RS (E)

How the matter was addressed
The Key Audit Matter in our audit

BEBEET S
2101 i

with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists,
evaluating the methodology
adopted with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards; and
assessing the discount rate
used in the discounted cash
flow forecast by comparing with
range of discount rates adopted
by companies in the similar
industries;

evaluating the sensitivity analysis
prepared by management for
each of the key assumptions,
including future sales growth
rates, corresponding gross
margin rates and discount rate
adopted in the discounted cash
flow forecast and considering
whether there are any indicators
of management bias;

performing a retrospective
review of last year’s impairment
assessment and comparing the
forecast data with the current
year's results to assess the
reasonableness of the prior
year's discounted cash flow
forecast and making enquiries of
management as to the reasons
for any significant variations
identified and whether these have
been considered in the forecast

of the current year; and

assessing the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
impairment assessment with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting
standards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise

appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED])
BYZBE RS (E)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

126 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BB E S B RRAERE
MEE

HMHWER RUYSHBBRRERESD
THFERRRFRERMEFNERER
RARMBAERE THABRRMER
MZBEHRE - AREESZBRRER -
WAREEEMAE - HFAB T ARED
NE BEMEMALTESHAEEZRE
£ -

PERIFEHKFINRE BEFERER
RCEBBFEADETHEF EX—F
RERRAFER BB - SHRRAA
MR FFRERIE MRAERAHEM
EENEREXRAEZESHMBRRE
A & 4K R B 7% R P AR B RO EOR E 0 R
ERMERRATRBIEERXN -

R (BB BIERD TR MBIES -
RMERTELAN  RBTELEERE
& - BT

o BRI AERNRFHRERMERS G
MBBRERFEERFERRANER @ &
AARMTEGEFABREELRAR B
REDRZRMEENENRE (FRR
PMERMER - HRRFFAIEFRBER
wiE BEER ERRL HEBER
MER S 2 £ B R B EEKEFM
BHONBEANERREOERSRKE
HHEBRMEMMENHERRAN
R B

e THREFIMABMANIBIZEH - ARGE
ENEFREF BENTIHEERR
MEHHERIEERER -

s HEEFEMRAETHRNBE N RE
HEst bt MAERENSENE -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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BMBLIENFABREMEMER UK
SERHBIENRERERIROITESRG
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED])
BYZBE RS (E)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we W EFBF ZETEENETEH  BRMET
determine those matters that were of most significance in the WEEBEH ARAHFBERENBEFEA
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current EZ G EMEKBERETSE BRMAEX
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe EXRIREAPHMEL TR BIEZEEZER
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation TAFAHBBELEEH HEBHER
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in HEBER T WRAEFEHERMBSEFE
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter BEEZHEAEKNEAZEBBAELNAR
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse  F|2§ * BRfIRE N EERESFEBZEAE -
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this HEAAXBUZEMBFEHNETEEEGEA

independent auditor’s report is Yu Wai Sum. RRZED °

KPMG EFREMERAR
Certified Public Accountants HEEIA

8th Floor, Prince’s Building HEFIR

10 Chater Road AT B105R

Central, Hong Kong KNFRKRE8E

29 March 2023 2023F3H29H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

B L0\
StHEEER
Year ended 31 December 2022 &; £2022F12 A31H It F &
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M & AR T T ARET T
Revenue A 5 3,738,212 4,434,700
Cost of sales Fi=l= DN 7 (2,687,867) (2,974,679)
Gross profit S 1,050,345 1,460,021
Other income and gains HAb g A R = 5 125,149 59,461
Selling and distribution expenses HEREHEHABX (1,088,206) (1,146,819)
Administrative expenses 17T R X (233,132) (239,301)
Provision of impairment of financial & #l & &= B B F 1B &
assets, net (153) (2,669)
Other expenses and losses H b AE K b (83,432) (275,542)
Finance income B 7% U A 7 50,054 72,948
Finance costs B 7% Ak AN 8 (23,528) (21,181)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BR i A &5 18 7 (202,903) (93,082)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTiaf (BA) /KR 11 (27,814) 11,719
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE A EESZBR & A A
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT BEFEANEIR (230,717) (81,363)
Loss per share BRREE
Basic and diluted BN IR
(RMB cents) (ANR®ED) 12 (4.9) (1.7)
The notes on pages 136 to 240 form part of these financial Z136E F2L0ENMHWNTB AT BT KN —
statements. i
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= AN
SHESKER
Year ended 31 December 2022 & E£2022F12A8318 IFFE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEFIE (230,717) (81,363)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR S EHft&ZE W EH
THE YEAR (AFTER TAX) (BRB#&)
ltems that may be reclassified to profit HEZAIEHHEEEBEHN
or loss in subsequent periods: HH:
Exchange differences on translation of HBEBINEKNIE K =58
foreign operations 18,393 (114,335)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR S EHRZHMt&ZAG K E
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 18,393 (114,335)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FEFRAKZHAE
THE YEAR (212,324) (195,698)

The notes on pages 136 to 240 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SHBEHKAER

At 31 December 2022 2022412 A31H

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARET T AR F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENMRE 13 1,617,293 1,538,718
Construction in progress EETITR 14 166,583 20,318
Investment properties BEME 15 61,067 62,508
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 16 53,309 93,165
Intangible assets B EE 17 58,867 145,532
Goodwill E2 18 802,236 991,236
Deferred tax assets IR 7 IH B E 20 283,224 382,369
Long-term bank deposits RHBRTHENX 26 245,124 370,558
Debt investments measured at LA B 88 AKX R 5T 2 /Y
amortised cost BREKRE 19 — 24,532
Prepayments, other receivables and FEff ZX1E - Hfth B UL
other assets RIEREMEE 23 786 1,011
Total non-current assets IEREBEEBLTE 3,088,489 3,629,947
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 21 1,074,443 815,970
Trade receivables E 5 e I 5k 22 409,212 414,730
Prepayments, other receivables and FEff ZIE « Hfth fE IR
other assets RIE N H A& E 23 104,262 107,519
Other current financial assets EmisemiEE 24 — 93,865
Derivative financial assets PTEeRIAE 25 — 1,901
Pledged deposits RE 2T 26 98,840 90,354
Cash and bank balances e & IRITHE & 26 1,791,001 2,125,047
Assets held for sale BIEHEEE 27 521,675 =
Total current assets MEEERR 3,999,433 3,649,386
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBE
Trade and bills payables BHENZREE 28 627,306 813,885
Other payables and accruals H At JE R %
JEst & A 29 509,107 569,228
Interest-bearing bank and other FFER 1T R E AL AR
borrowings 30 479,742 320,758
Derivative financial liabilities MEsmBE 25 5,686 407
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 7,297 6,575
Tax payable JE < 3 18 3,109 92
Liabilities held for sale BELHEARE 27 23,850 =
Total current liabilities B S e 1,656,097 1,710,945
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 2,343,336 1,938,441
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERTBER
LIABILITIES 5,431,825 5,568,388
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
& e AR R R (8)
At 31 December 2022 2022412 H31H

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M =¥ AR T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other R R 1T R H Ath 8 5K
borrowings 30 99,000 —
Deferred income IR FE W = 31 13,932 10,074
Lease liabilities HEaFE 16 2,885 7,220
Deferred tax liabilities EEFMEHAERE 20 = 23,035
Total non-current liabilities EnBEELEE 115,817 40,329
NET ASSETS EEFE 5,316,008 5,528,059
EQUITY EH
Equity attributable to owners of the SFER &2 7K E
parent BEA
Share capital & < 32 399,352 399,352
Reserves &% 1 4,916,656 5,128,707
TOTAL EQUITY EEE 5,316,008 5,528,059

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  #2023F3A29H & & = g #it /& &k & # T

29 March 2023. % o
Mr. Yan Zhiyuan Mr. Zhang Ping
BEBEEE RFEE
Director Director
EFE EE

The notes on pages 136 to 240 form part of these financial 25136% F240B MM T B A IEH K M —
statements. B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SHEREHR

Year ended 31 December 2022 #H 20229 12A831H IFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRRBAAREREA
Capital PRC Share option
Share redemption statutory Other capital reserve/share  Translation ~Contributed Merger  Retained Total
Share capital  premium reserve reserve reserve award reserve reserve surplus reserve  earnings Equity
RftEE  rEEE  REEE BRERR/
ks RHERE L1 L1 BE  REZDEE ERHE H4RR  A0EE  RE2A @it
RMB'000  RMB'OD0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000

ARBTR ARETRL ARBTR AR%TR ARETR AR®TR ARETR ARBTR ARETRL ARSTR ARETR

[note32)  [note 400l [note 40(ii)  (note 40l note 40(ivll ~ [note 40(v))  [note 40[vil]
(Rr3n) (R zsof)  (KFsza0ti) (B 4ol (Hisaolvl)  (RFsEaol) (B zE40l)
Asat 1 January 2021 R2021£1818 399352 3845616 818* 187,901 44,615]* 18922 2261% 1367204 (8B0S0L)F  TITN62 5T
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - - - - - (81363 (81,363
Other comprehensive income for the year: FRAMGA RS
Exchange differences on translation of financial NERENELE

statements - - - - - - [1143%) - - - (11433
Total comprehensive income for the year FEGAKGAE - - - - - - [143%) - - (81,363 [195,698)
Statutory reserves appropriated BAEERE - - - 6,789 - - - - - (6,789) -
Share option and share award arrangements** EHERBEADE - - - - - 640 - - - - 840
As at 31 December 2021 R20215128318 399352 3849616 818 194,690 (44,815 19,562 (93,074) 1,367,206 (850,504] 689,010 5,528,059
Asat 1 January 2022 R202E1R18 399,352 3,845,616* 818* 194,690* 44,615)% 19,562¢ (93,074) 1,367,204 (850,504)*  689,010¢ 5,528,059
Loss for the year EEFR - - - - - - - - - (snn (20m
Other comprehensive income for the year: FRAMGARE

Exchange differences on translation of financial SERRAEER

statements - - - - - - 18,393 - - - 18,393
Total comprehensive income for the year FERANAEE - - - - - - 18393 - - nn (212,3%)
Statutory reserves appropriated BAERRE - - - 6,89 - - - - - (6,89%) -
Share option and share award arrangements** SHERREADSE - - - - - m - - - - m
As at 31 December 2022 R202512A318 399,352 3,845,616* 818* 201,586 44,615)% 19,835 (74,681)F 1,367,204  (850,504)*  451,397F  5316,008

These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of *

RMB4,916,656,000, (2021: RMB5,128,707,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

* ok

The amount represented the fair value amortisation of share options and **

share awards, which were granted by China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited

(“Mengniu Dairy”), the Company’s ultimate holding company, to the Group’'s

eligible directors and management under Mengniu Diary’s share award

scheme and share option scheme, for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The notes on pages 136 to 240 form part of these financial

statements.

g

ZERBLBARNREAHBTBHERR K P
B B AR 4,916,656,0007T (2021F : A R
5,128,707,0007%) °

FIREEAEE22FENANALFEFREFI
EAERDAI(RFAE])  ARAZHKELFERRA -
BREERZHEIREIBAIRNEBRFEEMNH
NWEENEEERTORZINHENAIABEREE -

136 F20EM M X B A B HRERMN —

5 o

BEREERZERERLT 133

2022 F %R



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHEARNE

Year ended 31 December 2022 & E£2022F12A8318 IFFE

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR T ARBET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KRETEREEN
ACTIVITIES RERE
Loss before tax i B B 48 (202,903) (93,082)
Adjustments for: AEIER :
Depreciation of property, M- - BEREHETE
plant and equipment 7 108,454 127,230
Depreciation of investment properties KEMERE 7 5,019 4,567
Amortisation of intangible assets & B 7 19,774 19,306
Amortisation of right-of-use assets A E # 7 10,862 11,430
Amortisation of other non-current assets  EH {th 3E 7% &) & & # 4 7 3,828 2,045
Amortisation of deferred income iR JE U S B 5 31 (1,142) 874
Net loss on disposal of inventories FEREFEL 5,421 10,604
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME - BERFZE
plant and equipment BF (M z) /18 K 5,6 (2,277) 3,065
Net gain from transactions related to HArla X 510 B 32 5 1)
Arla business ey 5 (55,750) =
Impairment of trade and other B 5 & Hh UK
receivables, net VoRERE RS 7 153 2,669
Impairment of trademarks ERENCAE 6 — 200,000
Net gain on disposal of B B 1R 8
debt investments measured B AN 5 = H)
at amortised cost BEREKREFRR (2,288) —
Impairment of inventories FTEKRBER b 39,960 48,078
Interest income A B A (23,850) (57,148)
Interest expense B X 8 23,528 21,181
Foreign exchange differences, net 518 a5 /5 5,6 24,167 (14,614)
Expenses of equity-settled % #E 4 H IR 19 X A
share-based payment X 273 640
CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL: EEELREH
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEEOEMm,m (334,250) 97,642
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & 5 & W BR 3
(B ) 17,401 (433,117)
Decrease in other current financial HEihme & Em R
assets 93,865 —
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TE AT FRIE ~ H b FE R
other receivables and other assets B R B EE
(1) (2,384) 58,730
Increase in pledged deposits RFESFHEM (666) (40,354)
Decrease in trade and bills payables, B EMNER
other payables and accruals H b FE < 5 IE F0
FEET & R R A (219,166) (228,756)
CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING RETERFTAKN
ACTIVITIES BERE (491,971) (259,010)
Income tax e (3,384) (5,392)
CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING KLESEE FTRAM
ACTIVITIES HERETFE (495,355) (264,402)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
EHBEERER(E)
Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR AR T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETZBEEMN
ACTIVITIES HERE
Purchases of items of property, plant BEME BEREE
and equipment (7,118) (50,012)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWHE BERRE
property, plant and equipment FiT 18 18 10,816 15,763
Government grants received W B 1) BT 48 BY 5,000 —
Net cash inflow on disposal of EBBEEFHRERA
businesses 5 55,909 —
Additions to construction in progress EETIIEIEB /BN (177,839) (170,008)
Purchases of intangible assets BEELEE (22,493) (17,935)

Decrease/(increase) in long-term bank RAEIRITIF A

deposits B (38 n) 125,434 (104,554)
Proceeds from disposal of debt HENBBRKAGTEN

investments measured at amortised B & TS 1A

cost 25,600 =

Purchases of other financial assets and BEEEMEMEEMN
derivative financial instruments MEEMIT A (15,578) (713,035)

Proceeds from disposal of other financial H & E it £ & & E M 67

assets and derivative financial Ee BT EMERE

instruments 16,430 810,686
New time deposits with original maturity REH B A= AN £

of more than three months B4R 17 17 SR EY 3 N (35,794) (164,224)
Receipts of time deposits with original REBMAA=MANK L

maturity of more than three months Y8R 1717 3} B 21 &Y

Y 5 488,549 262,630

Decrease in pledged time deposits B E B AF SRR 2 = 9,108
Interest received 2 WA B 23,850 55,933
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing REZBELE (FFH)

activities MBS TR 492,766 (65,648)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REEBEEN

ACTIVITIES HERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERAFERE 33(b) 786,623 838,758
Repayment of bank loans EERITEX 33(b) (549,046) (883,483)
New bank deposits pledged for bank HIRITERAEBN

loans A7 K935 0 (78,174) (20,000)
Release of bank deposits pledged for HIRTERAEBN

bank loans B B 4K 4 17 3ROUKR 70,354 150,261
Principal portion of lease payments HENROEE B 33(b) (7,907) (8,892)
Interest paid AT F B (48,145) (22,963)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEZFBHELEN

ReRETFE 173,705 53,681

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BERBESEWEM,

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R &) B8 171,116 (276,369)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHRERBELEEY

of year 26 1,529,931 1,818,288
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, EXZFHUHEERE S

net ZEYNEE TR 6,802 (11,988)
Cash at bank and on hand classified as PEABELHENRT

held for sale EREES 27 (59,209) —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRESRESZEEY

OF YEAR 26 1,648,640 1,529,931

The notes on pages 136 to 240 form part of these financial $136E F240E WM T B A B IR RN —
statements. )
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S F B 55 80 R P i

Year ended 31 December 2022 & E£2022F12A8318 IFFE

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Yashili International Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”] was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3 June 2010 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Chapter 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale
of dairy and nourishment products.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company is China
Mengniu International Company Limited (BVI). The ultimate
holding company of the Company is China Mengniu Dairy
Company Limited (Cayman).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Particulars of issued

1. RAIREBER

HEINMBEEERERAA(EL2F]) R
20106 ABEHIRIEH EH B R REFE22
(W91 FEE=ZRED - et REFT)E
HEMBETMKLAEREEBR AR -
H 5 fit #% = & b 4k A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

AEEFZERERELHEARDRE
B e

EERA EEHERATNATERFE
FREBRADFBVI - SEREZERDFR
PEFFURARAT(HE) -
FARER

ARAREBFRABMNFBOT:

Percentage of equity

business and paid up capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AL/ BRARE/
ELRERBE ARmERGFE ARARENREESE ETEXH

Company name Notes Direct Indirect

RAER (i3 E# GE:3

Yashili International Ltd. BVI 1 share 100% — Investment holding
(“Yashili (BVI)")

L HERAR LA (Vashili ERRLES 1K 100% - REER
(BVI))

Yashili International Group Hong Kong 1 share - 100%  Investment holding
Limited (*Yashili (HK)")

ELMEREEARRAA &b 1 - 100% REZK
(LA (FR))

Newou Hong Kong Hong Kong 1 share - 100%  Import and export of
International Co., Limited dairy products and
(“Newou Hong Kong') related materials

NREAERARAA &b 1K - 100% #EOARRREHE
([HEER)) H
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1.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

registration and Particulars of issued

FLRELR ()

Percentage of equity

. RRAIREEER (&)

business and paid up capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
FmRL/ BRETRE/
BRREERY EMERFE FAREENRERD TEER

Company name Notes Direct Indirect

DAL (i EE B #

Yashili New Zealand Dairy New Zealand NZD287,032,059 - 100%  Production and sale of
Co., Limited (“Yashili New dairy products
Zealand’)

HERRELHAZERAA il 3 7 7 7. 287,032,059 T - 100% 4ERHENZR
([HEWLE

Qushi Mengniu [Inner (i} The People’s Republic of RMBA470,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
Mongolia) Dairy Products China ["PRC"]/The PRC dairy products
Co., Ltd. ("Oushi Mengniu”) except for Hong Kong

(“Mainland China")

RRGBERTARRER REARANE A R #470,000,0007 - 100% AERHEARM

BEERA(RERS]) (TR E) /R EE BRI
("hE A

Yashili International Baby i) & (i) PRC/Mainland China RMB531,815,600 - 100%  Production and sale of
Nourishment Co., Ltd. dairy products
("Yashili Nourishment”)

ETHERENREER mE /B AR AR %531,815,6007T - 100% HERHEELHM
ERDA(RLAERR))

Yashili Dairy (Maanshan) (il PRC/Mainland China RMB1,320,000,000 - 100%  Wholesale and retail of
Trading Limited ("Maanshan dairy products
Trading”)

BELAAX(SRILHEER TE/ AR A B #1,320,000,0007C - 100% ARMHEERTE
RE(RBLHE]

Yashili International Group Ltd. (i} & (il PRC/Mainland China RMB2,176,105,300 - 100%  Production and sale of
("Yashili (Guangdong)”) dairy products

ELtHERRBARAF ME/PEARE AR H#2,176,105,3007 - 100% AERHEARR
(MELR(ERR)])

Shanxi Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (i) PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
("Yashili (Shanxi)”) dairy products

WEELHMAZERAT ME/PEARE A K #300,000,0007 - 100% EERHEARE
(MELROUE))

BEIRERERERLDE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAIREBER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) FATIER(HE)
Place of
incorporation/
registration and Particulars of issued Percentage of equity
business and paid up capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
gmAL/ BRARE/
BRREERY EMERFE FAREENRERSLE ETEEER

Company name Notes Direct Indirect

DAL i3 HE B #

Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. i) PRC/Mainland China RMB2,226,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
("Dumex’] dairy products

SEBEYRRRERAA hE/RE AR A K 1#2,226,000,0007T - 100% ZERHEAHR
EZ 33

Yashili (Inner Mongolia) (i)  PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
Nutrition Co., Ltd. (*Yashili dairy products
(Inner Mongolia)”)

REOELHNERRBRAA hE/RE AR A5 %10,000,0007C - 100% 4£ERHEAHM
(ELH(RE)])

Mengniu Oushi Nutritional [il  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
Food Co., Ltd. ["Mengniu dairy products
Oushi’)

SEBtERRAERAR hE/mE AR A R #50,000,0007 - 100% HERHEAEE
(R4t

Niuyaniu {Inner Mongolial [il ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB400,000,000 - 100%  Production and sale of
Dairy Products Co., Ltd. dairy products
[“Niuyaniu’)

NELFEFARRERER PE /B ARE A R #400,000,0007 - 100% 4ERHEAZm
AGIES £3)

138 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARIREBE R (§)
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

‘.H
>
)
W
=
¥ W

(] These companies are registered as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises under PRC law.

AIARPBEKYONIINEDRE -

;gi:
i
5

(i) These companies are limited liability companies i ZEraARPRKYNERET
established in the PRC. The official names of these NEl - ZERIMERBTE AR
companies are in Chinese and the English names are for MERXEFEZEHRSZE -

reference only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, EERBLERBINZARAIFRAAIEE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the HAEBANFEEEHBRTE  SUEK
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the AEFBEEFEZEADLD - EFR
net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries ABIREHEMFRAR AR EENFES
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of BRATE -

excessive length.

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION L2 EE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared ZELHTERRDIBEERE RS %
in accordance with IFRSs (which include all International AR Eexxh BB BREERH
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting FEREENEReTRELEN  HES
Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the HEAREZRERINBEEEETURSE S
International Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB”) and NAEGE BEMTHEHEENE
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies BHESRETEFUALBESTEN %S5
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical EBRREBIEFES K ANEN&HE - 3%
cost convention, except for other current financial assets LZAHMBERRUARE(TAREDZ
and structural bank deposits which have been measured B - R AP FIEHBEHFAERR
at fair value. These consolidated financial statements are EIRWNTAE

presented in Renminbi ("RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation apEE

The consolidated financial statements include the financial AR ERERETEANR EETF A (5
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively MAEIAER])NE £20229012A318 1t
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December FEMB KRR -

2022.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity], FARIREBRAAR EESEEZEIEH®
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control EEBREABILLERE) - 2 AEFRAERZR
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to B R ECENTIMAE SN BEES
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and ROk BEAEE N BRAEEEKREDNE
has the ability to affect those returns through its power TEEIAZEMSIR RN S EBIA
over the investee [i.e., existing rights that give the Group EEEHWRENCEMEB IS MM
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the EHEFRERN) B ANE B BT
investee). ZWKEDRE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued) 25| EE(E)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary; [ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and [(iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i] the fair value of the
consideration received; (ii] the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs
issued by the IASB to these financial statements for the
current accounting period:

— Amendments to |IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment:
Proceeds before intended use

— Amendments to IAS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets: Onerous contracts-cost of
fulfilling a contract

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARD

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of new or amended standard,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

238 DR A& AR B 35 R 2

Al
HEAYKHKREMZB  IASBEEMH
ZIEFERRLE T ER 15 LR

AEEH T2022F12A8318 I FE £ &
BERARERTBREFRA - ELEEET
BREA TR ERNEEBEMNEE -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning

on or after
ERMARETHB
MR &

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

Amendments to |IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements: Classification of liabilities as
current or non-current

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:

Definition of accounting estimates

Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred

tax related to assets and liabilities arising from

a single transaction

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on

the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’'s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash — generating unit (group of cash-generating units)
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units)
is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted] in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole] at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment proper ties and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale], the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiJis a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 75 AR MY 5 (&)

Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary

of the other entity);

(iii)the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same

third party;

(ivlone entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v] the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers of
the post-employment benefit plan;

(vil the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a);

(vl a person identified in (al(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);

and

[viil the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

148 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

(b) 3% 77 R 7 & T HIAE AT

LWEEETHRBE(E)

R A L (48)

o
=
&
i
Bria)
kol

i) ZEBHEAEEBR —£E MK

(i) — A & &8
ps

(v) AR RAE N ET 8 5T E
A%ZXE@YEZIKEIH
I

BEE UERENKEFG

(vi) &

" %Bﬂ[a]lﬁﬁﬁ LA 4% )k

Vil R@INBRTM A THZE
AREEBIBEZERE(HZ
BRENETEEBABENKE:

m} ?ﬁ“@

BE
E’J

ﬁ
(=]

\r
I

Vil ZERBXEEANTE—ERD
EI%%E@/\EHE%FﬁEI‘X
ERARENERAA -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS
5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-
current assets held for sale and discontinued operations”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Plant and buildings 13-47 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
Office equipment and others 3-5years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in buildings (including
the leasehold property held as right-of-use asset which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its
residual value. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
investment properties. The estimated useful lives are 50
years. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reassessed at each reporting date.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations

(i) Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset (or
disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that
will be transferred in the transaction.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

LWEEETHRBE(E)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Continued)

FRDRENMSAFENEEH(])

(i) Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

i) ¥RBEERFESE R

When the group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when
the above criteria for classification as held for sale
are met, regardless of whether the group will retain a
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale,
the measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group] is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting
policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal,
the non-current assets (except for certain assets as
explained below), or disposal groups, are recognised
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of
the Group and the Company are concerned are deferred
tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits,
financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to
be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere in note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a
non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or is
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or
amortised.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations (Continued)

(ii) Discontinued operations

B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

LWEEETHRBE(E)

FRDRENSAFENEEH(K)

(I ERIEREEEL

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale [(see (i) above), if earlier. It also
occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the statement of profit

or loss, which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
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operation; and

— the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or
on the disposal, of the assets or disposal groupl(s]

constituting the discontinued operation.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Office software

Office software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 5 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products,
commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease [that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land use right 50 years
Plant and building 3 to 6 years
Machinery and equipment 5years
Motor vehicles 2 to 4 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

LWEEETHRBE(E)

Leases (Continued) HE(E)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

EREBEAGE)

(b) Lease liabilities

(b) HE&E

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
commencement date, because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c] Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset are accounted
for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING LWEEETHRBEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets BRERHMEMEE
Initial recognition and measurement NHRERNTE
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as SRHEENVITHERBESEABET
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through ERBEREA ARBEKEMEES R
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or ShALEBEEEZOAAXTE -
loss.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition VEERABENEREEPER AR S
depends on the financial asset’'s contractual cash flow MEENAARESRERBURAER
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing EEELESREENELERN -BES
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not FEWZEBIABSE ABERK S ANEE
contain a significant financing component or for which the ERATHEEAMEXNSZENE
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting BEEARAZIN  REBMFZUARAE
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group BiftEemEE NMEaRmEETUR
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in REBEFEBEEEHAAEBFENAZSE
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or A - TEREEAEN S NEEBD K
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain AEEET ARG REERE
a significant financing component or for which the Group BHEMETHNRGEREE  2RTX
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the [ ARSI KT E -

transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured ABTELSREERBENIRE K A
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive UWAREBEFEEEZHAAELMES
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely WHEEEBZNEREE %R EE
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI”) on the principal REMEELARERE SERERNE
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that EARINAEEATENAS LFA
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value ([sPPI)- EBmE B EmEEREN - 3
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. REREANINAEEARASHEN LS

ENENEREEMRRANBEE
THHEEGFE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investment s at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement
of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments])

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

160 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RERHMS RS EGR)
% @R ()

NaRBEFELAHEHEHFTAEMLES
WHHmeREE(EHTR)

RARABEFELEZHAAEME
BRENEBKREMS  MEBKRA I
EEHRREZXRTHEINBESRE
BT ZERBERKAFENT R
BEMRANTAGFE EBRAREEE
PHASEMES RS - RIERERR
ERREMEERENRA I NEER
PREMBRER -

NAaREBEFEAZEHFTAEMEAR
s (RERENEREE

AEBENABKREENF2HFRE
MHEENRSTEZETANR S
AENEEABEEERETR/STH
MG EREREDBER/ARREE
AAEREEH AR MBS S W w g
BE -2 BEREBREBEIANTRED BIH#E
) o

EETREENKAENELETEHE
EIREEGREFR EXTHEBELERE
EHEGRTHEIA/SEBEA - BEREH
BAHEENMNARAERARAEEERS
THEANUEWAE BIFELAEER
WamhEER - BB s /& EK
A HERBERT  ZFWSEFTAEME
BlE UAARBEFEEEMEAK
SR BRENFREZRBENG -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit
or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either
a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required
or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets] is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL]. For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime
ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

For debt investment s at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt investments are considered to have low
credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that
evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit ratings
of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs;

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs;

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts, to hedge its foreign currency
risk. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the
fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the
definition of a derivative as defined by IFRS 9 is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss as cost of sales. Commodity
contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for
the purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item
in accordance with the Group’'s expected purchase, sale or
usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis
and in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’'s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside prof it or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

e inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over
the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal
annual instalments.
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with
no or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction
of a qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the
government loans is determined using the effective interest
rate method, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the government
loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest,
which is the difference between the initial carrying value
of the loans and the proceeds received, is treated as a
government grant and released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.

The Group takes advantage of practical expedient in IFRS 15
and does not disclose the remaining performance obligation
as all the Group’s sale contracts have an original expected
duration of less than one year.

(a) Sale of dairy and nourishment products

Revenue from the sale of dairy and nourishment products
is recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the dairy and nourishment products.

Some contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment
products provide customers with rights of return. The
rights of return give rise to variable consideration.
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a) Sale of dairy and nourishment products (Continued)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will
not be returned because this method best predicts the
amount of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled. The requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining
estimates of variable consideration are applied in order
to determine the amount of variable consideration that
can be included in the transaction price. For goods
that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a
refund liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset
(and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is
also recognised for the right to recover products from a
customer.

(b

Consigned processing service

Revenue from the consigned processing ser vice is
recognised when dairy and nourishment products is
delivered.

Rental income

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Interest income

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING LWEEETHRBEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued) U ARERD (48)
Dividend income B2’ A
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right EEWAREASBRRESKE RIEN
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that BABER AR ERBENZEF
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow HRAERARNEEARESEERN]
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured SEHEE -
reliably.
Service income BR % U A
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services BERENHER BITEHomERME
are rendered and payment is generally due upon completion REmMETHmET NREFTEEEFR
of customer acceptance. Revenues from services rendered WRKEL - RGREBERAFTERE
are derived principally from the testing service performed EEEEMNBRBRSE - WAL RKIRE
by the Group. Revenue is recognised when the services are HEFER -
rendered.
Contract assets AREE
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange AREEREBRLARTPLHE R RIG LA
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the ERXZEENEN MEAEFEER
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a PYNEEB sk ENZI Bz BESE
customer before the customer pays consideration or before MIXNEEPLPHRITTHEBERSE - B4&
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned REENMERFETEETE BRESE
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject BEEEFTREISNAES  HERBHF
to impairment assessment, details of which are included in RemEEREZTHE -

the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities SFHE&RE

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received A BEREREAEED W EZEPLE B K
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer ENZE(MEEEZ)BEAEELND
before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Motk e BEREAEEE
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the TEARERAKA (10 HEBBE @
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of HRENIEHEEEETRPR) o

the related goods or services to the customer).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(a] The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognized for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is
measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods, and
any potential decreases in the value of the returned goods.
The Group updates the measurement of the asset recorded
for any revisions to the expected level of returns, and any
additional decreases in the value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable])
from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer. The
Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the
corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING LWEEETHRBEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits EREF
Defined contribution plans REMKFTE
The Group's subsidiaries operating in Mainland China REBTPRHEAELSENFAR 28
participate in a central defined contribution retirement HEL2ELMAEMMNM T RFTEEN P RR
benefit plan managed by the local municipal government THFEKRENE  EEERITIBE
in the locations in which they operate. Contributions are RAIHGSEBEANEBE LA E W RE
made based on a percentage of the companies’ payroll costs FRARTHFERENGEOREL - &
and are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or REBEAHBRRAZHE - BREF
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules ZIMZEAEGEE SMEEEE ] HANE
of the central defined contribution retirement benefit plan. RIRAH I KERN G U HZ -

Contributions to the plan vest immediately, there are no
forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to
reduce the existing level of contribution.

Short-term employee benefits EHEERERN

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an EHEEEMNEEDERTBEEESE -
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service WRIRHEBARGEY ARAX -

is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be MAEB M EEBERENOREMES
paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if HEZrTREETEEINEBESE A
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to ETREa S s - B TEEE I 5 B
pay this amount as a result of past services provided by the ReREXDAHEBTFTINNSER
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. RER -

Termination benefits BEREA

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when HEBINAEERTREROZERNE
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits PR A EEER SN A REFND
and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving EHRAREMETRENFHER -

the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments

The Group operates share option schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’'s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated ser vice requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are
met. An additional expense is recognised for any modification
that increases the total fair value of the equity-settled
transactions or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. The
directors did not recommend the payment of dividend.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately
as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency based on the assessment of its specific facts and
circumstances. Once the functional currency is determined,
it can be changed only if there is a change to the underlying
transactions, events and conditions. As the Group mainly
operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item [i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetar
y asset or non-monetar y liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
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2., SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING WEESTHERBEE(E)

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
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3.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue
from contracts with customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration
and assessing the constraint for the sale of dairy and
nourishment products

e Certain contracts for the sale of dairy and nourishment
products include a right of return that give rise to variable
consideration. In estimating the variable consideration,

the Group is required to use either the expected value

method or the most likely amount method based on which
method better predicts the amount of consideration to

which it will be entitled.

e Before including any amount of variable consideration
in the transaction price, the Group considers whether
the amount of variable consideration is constrained.
The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical
experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable
consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period,
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

that have a significant risk of causing a material

within the next financial year, are described below.

3. EXE AR (&)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units ("CGU"s) and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December
2022 was RMB802,236,000 (2021: RMB991,236,000). Further
details are given in note 18.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into business units based on their
products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(a) Milk powder products — this segment includes the
manufacture and sale of milk powder
products in the PRC and overseas.

development,

(b) Other milk powder products — this segment includes the
production and sale of base powder.

(c) Dissolvable products — this segment includes the
development, manufacture and sale of soymilk powder,
rice flour and cereal products.

(d) Other operations mainly include the sale of surplus raw
materials, and consigned processing operation. The
results of these operations are included in the “others”
column.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the purpose of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the senior executive
management team assesses the performance of the
operating segments based on a measure of “reportable
“revenue less cost of sales and
. The Group

does not allocate other income and gains, net finance costs,

segment profit”, i.e.,
allocated selling and distribution expenses”

unallocated other expenses to its segments, as the senior
executive management does not use such information to
allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the
operating segments. Segment assets and liabilities are
not regularly reported to the Group’'s senior executive
management and therefore information of reportable
segment assets and liabilities is not presented in these
financial statements.

b BEDHER (FH)

REREDBEFGEDBRE RS E
BR mafR{THERBEERGRIEMAZ
ﬁ”“‘hiwﬁh+i(%FW}J&£ﬁﬁ%
P AS A0 AT o> ) 85 B N AR 85 B S J) R T
BEENBONKRR - AKETE %ﬁ@
WA KW R FERE - Tl
MEMFEXERX DA E”$$ RA
EERTHREBABLTEEA LRE
MOBRERELED WBAFHEERR -
HRAAEEITEERNAERITHREREA
BEEHOMEERAG Bt WFH
BHREALBEBL2IAEZERDBLEERA
BEEER -

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with DEEEEREZEELA2ENERETMER
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third FoEHEMEANERBETRS ©
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
Year ended 31 December 2022
BEW2F12RNBLEEE
Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
MHER HunneEs HRER Hi Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETR AR®Tn AR¥Tn AR¥Tx
Segment revenue [note 5 2 3 WA (K 525)
Sales to external customers HEFHNSDEP 2,968,217 511,750 195,004 63,241 3,738,212
Intersegment sales PHEEE - 156,964 - = 156,964
2,968,217 668,714 195,004 63,241 3,895,176
Elimination of intersegment sales # %% S HE - (156,964) — — (156,964)
Revenue LA 3,738,212
Segment results PHEE (72,992) (15,951) 46,074 5,008 (37,861)
Finance income B A 50,054
Finance costs [other than interest BIBK R (TBHEHEEER
on lease liabilities) FEXH) (22,866)
Other income and gains Hip A Rz 125,149
Unallocated other expenses ROEME % (317,379)
Loss before tax BHAEE (202,903)
Other segment information Htt A HEH
Total depreciation and hERBEHER
amortisation 117,836 20,316 7,761 2,044 147,937
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 75 AR MY 5 (&)

Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

4L OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

b BEDERER (F)

Year ended 31 December 2021

HENNF12ANALEE
Milk powder Other milk Dissolvable
products powder products products Others Total
MRER EHNBER REER L4 A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
AREFTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue [note 5 2 3 WA (K 525)
Sales to external customers HETHNEEP 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 124,774 4,434,700
Intersegment sales 2 BEHE - 37,800 - = 37,800
3,650,352 476,153 221,221 124,774 4,472,500
Elimination of intersegment sales # % S 3 & - (37,800) = = (37,800)
Revenue LY 4,434,700
Segment results IHEE 260,532 (507) 12,725 40,452 313,202
Finance income /3 N 72,948
Finance costs [other than interest Ef B A (TAEHERER
on lease liabilities| FEZH) (20,587)
Other income and gains L ON € 59,461
Unallocated other expenses APRSHEMZ L (518,106)
Loss before tax BEAIER (93,082)
Other segment information Hit o HEH
Total depreciation and
amortisation FTEREHLER 86,433 32,369 14,776 31,000 164,578
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

L. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4, &5 IPER (F)
Geographical information HEZFFE

Revenues from external Specified non-current

customers assets
HBEFHEBRA BEFRBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTIT ARBTRE ARB T

Mainland China H B A R 3,429,359 4,106,570 1,588,635 1,871,665
Overseas N @ 308,853 328,130 971,506 980,823

3,738,212 4,434,700 2,560,141 2,852,488

The revenue information above is based on the locations of W AERUAEFFAEEE D -
the customers.

Information about a major customer FEERMER
Revenue of approximately RMB177,482,000 (2021: ‘U AF L A R ®177,482,0007T (2021
RMB228,693,000) was derived from sales by other milk F AR ¥228,693,0007T) T3 K B H 4h 1)
powder products segment to a single customer, including MEROIBME-—FPNEE - BFMA
sales to a group of entities which are known to be under EAMEZEFPAREGNN —BEEEHE
common control with that customer. g -
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - HIg A R Uk =&
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHFTWAT:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR® T T
Revenue from contracts with customers KIFELEEFFI VAR
KA
Sale of goods iH & E m 3,736,166 4,385,818
Consigned processing services RFER M IR 2,046 48,882

3,738,212 4,434,700
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - HAttir A Rk 2= (4&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers KIEHERIIIERAKA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information: (i) WAEEBHA:
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from LT ERAEBR KBRS
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the MNEAERWADESHEE BEA:

segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BENRFNANBLEE
Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
nhER HENBER HEER Rt &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR

Segments ik
Types of goods or services EmR% 85
Sale of goods HEEm 2,968,217 511,750 193,872 62,327 3,736,166
Consigned processing services RERMIRE - - 1,132 914 2,046
Total revenue from contracts with  KEEE P VAR

customers HLON 2,968,217 511,750 195,004 63,241 3,738,212
Geographical markets HEmS
Mainland China NS 2,961,780 209,334 195,004 63,241 3,429,359
Overseas 34 6,437 302,416 - - 308,853
Total revenue from contracts with KB EZEFiI VAR

customers LA 2,968,217 511,750 195,004 63,241 3,738,212
Timing of revenue recognition BARZES
Goods transferred at a point in time R\ B X § 1) 2,968,217 511,750 193,872 62,327 3,736,166
Services transferred at a point of 765 2 B R

time - - 1,132 914 2,046
Total revenue from contracts with K BEE P LA R

customers &N 2,968,217 511,750 195,004 63,241 3,738,212
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A831H It F &

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA - E AU A U= ()
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) KIEHERITIERAKA (18)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information: (Continued) (i) WAEEBM: (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HEZWNENANBILERE
Other milk
Milk powder powder  Dissolvable
products products products Others Total
THER EtHHER HHER Kt Ch

RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
ARBETL  AREBTR ARETR ARETT ARETR

Segments 23
Types of goods or services ERREER
Sale of goods HEEmM 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 75,892 4,385,818
Consigned processing services RERMIRE - - - 48,882 48,882
Total revenue from contracts with KB EEFiI VAR

customers LA 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 124,774 4,434,700
Geographical markets HEMS
Mainland China A B 3,611,723 228,698 221,221 44,928 4,106,570
Overseas 89 38,629 209,655 - 79,846 328,130
Total revenue from contracts with K EEEFiI VAR

customers @A 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 124,774 4,434,700
Timing of revenue recognition LN AT
Goods transferred at a point in time AR Z &Y 3,650,352 438,353 221,221 75,892 4,385,818
Services transferred at a point of 18 % T Ak R

time - - - 48,882 48,882
Total revenue from contracts with K EEE P VAR

customers BHA 3650352 433 2100 4T 443,700
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

5. Wr A - E AU AR U s (&)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

EEEERITISAKA ()

(i) Disaggregated revenue information: (Continued)

i) WAEEHA: (&)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were

TRBETRABREHAERD  ®E
BREFMARBETRARNBER

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of EHEBAEBHRASLEE:
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AR T T
Revenue recognised that was FHERBES
included in contract liabilities at the  7£ 3k % B (N & R A9
beginning of the reporting period: WA
Sale of goods HEEm 160,033 220,522
(i) Performance obligations il EAEH
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is AEENBAEBOT

summarised below:

Sale of dairy and nourishment products

Revenue from the sale of dairy and nourishment products
is recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the dairy and nourishment products.

Consigned processing services

Revenue from the provision of consigned processing

HELWRNEE S
HEARRMERERDRAEE
EEHBRBREFOBMBER
BEREXHARSNERSH -
5101 TR 7

AR AN T AR 75 &9 W A FL & G A

service is recognised when dairy and nourishment EEEMIXNEHRR -

products are delivered.
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

5. Wr A - E AU AR U s (&)

Hitp A R am o

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AREBTT
Other income and gains Hoh e A R as
Gross rental income from investment REMEMELEMR
property operating leases EHE2 KA
— Income relating to fixed lease — EEHEERA
payments 11,737 11,234
Write back payable of accounts B AT FE S BR 3K 1,998 7,998
Government grants X 76 B
— Compensation for expenses —HEEEXHEN
incurred wm1E 12,866 1,573
— Compensation for acquisition of —HBEEEAEMNME
assets 1,142 240
— Taxes refunded — R 994 778
Net gain on disposal of property, plant B E¥ % ' K EMEE
and equipment el 2,277 =
Foreign exchange gains, net bE 5 W 2= 5 5R — 14,614
Investment income % & W= 2,236 865
Service income (Notel(i)) Bk 75 W A (R (i) 18,044 3,512
Net gain from transactions related to BArla X BB R 5
Arla business (Notelii)) 3 W zs (RE (i) 55,750 -
Others H 18,105 18,647
125,149 59,461
Noteli): The Group entered into service contracts with subsidiaries of ) AEBESIIIENFRATIREEL
Mengniu Dairy to provide a series of services. RHE—FRFIRE -
Note(ii): On 30 September 2022, the Group, entered into the Business sE(ii) 0 20224 9A30H © A% [E HArla Foods amba

Transfer Agreements (“the Disposal”) with Arla Foods amba (“Arla”)
and Arla Foods Dairy Products Technical Service (Beijing) Co., Ltd.,
(“Arla Beijing”, a wholly owned subsidiary of Arlal, collectively as
the Buyers, to sell the distribution business of Arla brand infant milk
formula products and other products manufactured by Arla and its
affiliates in Mainland China and Hong Kong (the “Arla Business”)
and all right, title and interest in and to the assets primarily used
in Arla Business, including certain tangible and intangible assets
such as inventories, intellectual property rights, books and records,
contracts and certain employees working with the Arla Business (the
“Arla Assets”). The Disposal was completed on 30 September 2022
and the consideration has been settled during the year. The cash
consideration received less of cash disposed as part of the disposal
is recorded as “net cash inflow on disposal of business” in the
investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(TArlal) #1 Arla & & 3L 8 & +% 1T BR % (4t
R)BEBRAE ([Arladt =] Arlat) 2 & +
AR EKRIERER AT EBEERE
([HE]) HEAraRBEHDREFTDH
EMAMArlaRk HEB AR ERERKEMNS
BEENEMERODHER ([Arlagki])
UREZHARAraEBHEENMAEF -
FEEMTZ BRELBEVNEREE -
MEE MHBEE EEMLE - AR
EfRtFEArla¥ B THEHNELEES ([Arla&
Bl RREEEN2022F9A308 /K @ 4
BERFERNLES - WENBRSHE  BE
EERE-—BIoNEERSE  EEHRER
EHMERNRETDILEAIEBEE
FHERAL
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. KA - HB A KWK 2= (48)
(Continued)
The consideration for the Disposal comprises EUR15,000,000 X ERH E R E (B 515,000,000
and the cost price for the Arla Assets approximately EUR JT M Arla®& E #) 5K 2 (B 1% £93,000,0008%
3,000,000, which resulted in a total of RMB123,506,000. I BEA A ARE123,506,0007T °
For the year ended 31 December 2022, taking into account B E2022F12A31H It FEE - Z E B 1k
of the Disposal and other transactions related the Arla REEMBEAraXBHEANEMRIS -
Business, the net gain to the profit or loss related to the Arla ANEEFEEZPEMN ERBEBEANFIKZS
Business for the year amounted to RMB55,750,000. A AN R #55,750,0007T
6. OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES 6. HpAz MIB K
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
Impairment of trademarks (SRR RE] — 200,000
Write down of inventories GFENKEEE 39,960 48,078
Donations B 970 1,934
Net Loss on disposal of inventories FEREFEX 5,421 10,604
Net loss on disposal of property, plant REFMBEEFEXR
and equipment = 3,065
Foreign exchange losses, net BE 18 K FHE 24,167 =
Others H 12,914 11,861
83,432 275,542
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

7. BRBLAIE B

AEBMOBATBEIENG,(EN)T

(crediting): VI B IERFTEMSE:
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREF T
Cost of goods sold BEmiHEK A 2,686,321 2,932,606
Cost of consigned processing services REMIK AR 1,546 42,073
2,687,867 2,974,679
Depreciation of items of property, plant Mk - BERERENE
and equipment 108,454 127,230
Depreciation of investment properties REMETE 5,019 4,567
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEESH 10,862 11,430
Amortisation of other non-current assets HiERE B E & 3,828 2,045
Amortisation of intangible assets BEREEHH 19,774 19,306
Total depreciation and amortisation WEREHARE 147,937 164,578
Impairment of trademarks BIE R E - 200,000
Lease payments not included in the HEEBGBHINHEER
measurement of lease liabilities 38,654 49,803
Auditor’s remuneration ZE A & 3,980 3,113
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERFE(TEREEEK
directors’ and chief executive’s TETHABEFMH
remuneration (note 9)): (i 5x9))
Wages, salaries and allowances T8 He k2R 464,642 499,342
Expense of termination benefits Bl (e 10,833 14,012
Pension scheme contributions RIKE 3 5~ 37,823 36,027
Expenses of equity-settled share-based BELERNIFRZ
payment expenses 273 640
513,571 550,021
Interest income B WA (50,054) (63,285)
Other investment income H 1% &&= — (9,588
Fair value gains on derivative instruments, 1A T AR AEE
net SE) M & — (75)
Total financial income I N K (50,054) (72,948)
Impairment of trade and other receivables, & 5 & H fth & Ux 5O & %
net BX 153 2,669
Write down of inventories FERBERE 39,960 48,078
Net loss on disposal of inventories FERBEFEX 5,421 10,604

*

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the

employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

*

AEEY EECAEAOLKMEFTTBEMRE
MARRFERBRAKREBEL 2 HK -

HEFEABRERERLIA 193
2022 F %R
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Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BH#g R A
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable ZBERAFABEHEEN
within five years HITERAF B 15,553 20,587
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEHNNE 662 594
Fair value losses on derivative PAESRIAERAREBE
instruments, net HEE K 7,313 =
23,528 21,181
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EEREEHTESTMH
REMUNERATION
The Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the B IE BB QB & F 53831 (1)(a) » (b)
years, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) (MAORE_FD(BRESRERH
(a, (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and B e B 5R) - AT :
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
Fees we 750 750
Other emoluments H b &
Salaries, allowances and e EMK
benefits in kind YA = 6,582 3,889
Performance related bonuses HEEEBENE S 5,403 6,968
Pension scheme contributions RIREFF 2R 4b 53
12,029 10,910
12,779 11,660

194 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a)Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

9. EEREFRHUITEFTM(E)

(Q)BIFMITES

AEEXNEBIFUTEETNE

during the year were as follows: BT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT R ARETTT
— Mr. Mok Wai Bun Ben —EEErE 250 250
— Mr. Cheng Shoutai —RBTFREE 250 250
— Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway —FABEEE 250 250
750 750

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2021: nil).

(b)Executive directors, non-executive directors and

AEEEEINGEBIIENITES
B EH At = B (20214F : 48) -

bJRITESE » FRTEENERIIT

the chief executive B
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions remuneration
e 2R HEE BRe
He ENFE BBNRS FHE R FMas
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 AR®TR AR%TR AR%Tn AR%Tn AR%Tn
Executive directors HTES - 6,582 5,403 bh 12,029
— Mr. Yan Zhiyuan i) -BHE(
Non-executive directors EHTEE
— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu —BEMEE - - - = =
— Mr. Qin Peng ot Fiks - = = = =
— Mr. Zhang Ping — & FPeter i 4 - = = = =
— Mr. Gu Peiji -EREERE - - - - -
- 6,582 5,403 A 12,029
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SO BRI ()
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b)Executive directors, non-executive directors and

9. EEREFRHUITEFTM(E)

(bIRITEE - FRITEEHHERRT

the chief executive (Continued) B(#E)
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
e RER BER Bike
ik ENfE  BBEN#s A ek
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
2021 ARETT AR®TT ARETT AR%TT ARET:
Executive directors HIEE
— Mr. Yan Zhiyuan (i) -BFE( - 3,889 6,968 53 10,910
Non-executive directors EHTEZR
— Mr. Jeffrey, Minfang Lu —BEMEE - - - = =
— Mr. Qin Peng o Pk - = = = =
— Mr. Zhang Ping — & FPeter £ & - - - = —
— Mr. Gu Peiji -BERERHE - — - — =
- 3,889 6,968 53 10,910

(i) On 8 January 2020, Mr. Yan Zhiyuan was appointed as the chief (i)

executive officer. T8 °
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES WEEESMESES
The five highest paid employees during the year included AEERMN &=

one director (2021: one), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 9(b) above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining four (2021: four) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of
the Company are as follows:

MR2020F1A8H BERLTEETEREHR

AT HBEE—A(2021
F:—()ES FHEESHNESEHE
REXKHFAIDHEE AXFEEIZNFMHE
(2021 : WAL FEES - EFHEHIT
ENESHFaRTHRABNMEN T :

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind # & ~ 2B & B9 A %5 9,641 10,414

Performance related bonuses HESEFHEMNES 8,102 7,993
Pension scheme contributions (defined BRI HR(ER

contribution schemes) HEE B 169 145

17,912 18,552
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A831H It F &

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

1.

The number of the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

NEEGRsSMEEE (&)

e AR TARMIFEERIFERFEH
TEMNESFHNEEHRBEDNT

Number of employees

EE®H

2022 2021

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 76 #£3,500,0017C &
75 4,000,000 2 1

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 78 ¥ 4,500,0017T &
7 5 000,000 7T 1 =

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 75 %5 000,0017T &
7 5 500,000 7T — 2

HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000 75 #8,000,0017C &
75 #8,500,000 7T 1 1
4 4

INCOME TAX

PRC income tax has been provided at the rate of 25% (2021:
25%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC
during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries
(or jurisdictions) in which the Group operates.

(I iy

PEAEMSHEEFRNETBREEDN
& 51 2R B R 1225% (20214F : 25%)
BT R ET & o H b 3b 1R B AR R R B9 B
BHIEAEEEEMERR (KAEER)
MIRITHREE -

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET AREFT

Current income tax BN EA pT 15 F° 10,297 (4)
Deferred income tax BIEFTE M 17,517 (11,715)
Tax charge/(credit) for the year RNEEHRBEER, (K RE) 27,814 (11,719)
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 11.

A reconciliation of the income tax charge/(credit) applicable
to loss before tax at the PRC statutory income tax rate

and the income tax charge/(credit] at the Group’s effective

income tax rate for the year is as follows:

UED)

Frigwi (&)

EFEEAN - SRR AEEZ T BEDRE M
SUHBXAENMEHRER, (GER) -
HEERAKEERMASHBRERGFENR
BHRER (ER) HEHOT:

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARE T AREBFT

Loss before tax B AT (& 18) (202,903) (93,082)
At the PRC statutory tax rate of 25% o BE B E25%

(2021: 25%) (i) (20214F : 25%) (i) (50,726) (23,271)
Effect of non-deductible expenses TAAIMFALH T E 3,252 1,242
Effect of tax rate differences (i) TR X5 2 (i) (767) (18,009]
Tax losses not recognised AIERRIEEE 81,661 50,994
Utilisation of tax losses and temporary B F A R #E R E B M

differences previously not recognised TRHEER (2,383) (14,166)
Effect of super tax deduction on WMERXBREENY

research and development expenses T (2,805) (1,925)
Reversal of tax losses previously & [o] 5F Bl B R B T 7

recognised =S 6,396 =
Effect of non-taxable income - ONEA (6,814) (6,584)
Tax charge/(credit) for the year AEEMBER

(43R0 27,814 (11,719)

(i) Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC passed by the
Tenth National People’'s Congress on 16 March 2007 (the “Income Tax
Law"), the statutory income tax rate of the Group’s subsidiaries located in
Mainland China is 25%, except for Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia) Dairy
Products Co., Ltd. ("Oushi Mengniu”]) which is subject to a preferential
tax rate of 15% in accordance with “The Notice of Tax Policies Relating
to The Implementation of Western China Development Strategy”, and Ya
Ou Duo (Inner Mongolia) Nutrition & Food Co., Ltd. ("Ya Ou Duo”) which is
subject to a preferential tax rate of 20% in accordance with “The Notice
of Preferential Policies Relating to The Taxation of Small and Low-profit

Enterprise”.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2022 is calculated at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New Zealand, Yashili New
Zealand is subject to income tax at a rate of 28% (2021: 28%) in New
Zealand.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the losses for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 4,745,560,296 (2021: 4,745,560,296) in
issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021:
nil).

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are
based on:

REBARERERESEAARLNE
RE R

EREAEBEEDIREFAI AR LR
EEBEAEABEEERAFASHEITY
A A D04 1 B4,745,560,296 8% (2021
F 1 4,745,560,296 %) 5t & -

RNEBEE 2202281283165 1F - & E
oM E R % 17 (2021 12A31H -
) o

AAEEREANBEBEESEERNT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR AREF T
Losses: E518 -
Losses attributable to ordinary equity RARETETRER
holders of the parent, used in the BEBEBEONE QA
basic and diluted loss per share TRERTE ARG
calculations &5 18 (230,717) (81,363)
Number of shares
gk =]
2022 2021
000 ‘000
TR T &
Shares: B
Weighted average number of ordinary AESRERMN
shares for the purpose of the BEBEEMAN
basic and diluted loss per share 5@ Ak 0 19 &
calculations 4,745,560 4,745,560

BEREERZERERLE 199

2022 F %R



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT BYE BERZE

Machinery Office
Freehold Plant and and Motor  equipment
land buildings  equipment vehicles  and others Total
BAER
BErt BERET HERRE KaE  HARE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 2022% AR®TRE ARBTR AR¥Tn AR¥ETR AR%®Tn ARETR
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2022 M2022461818 49,163 918,866 1,777,097 8,662 85,435 2,839,223
Additions 58 - - 956 - 6,162 7,118
Transfer from construction in EREAEETR
progress [note 14) (B 2 14) - 1,707 35,650 - 4,829 42,186
Transfer to investment ERERENE
properties (note 15) (F 5£15) (3,789) - - - (3,789)
Disposals RE - (1,747) (1,077) (1,019) (6,132) (9,975)
Reclassification to assets ENBARAREEE
classified as held for sale - (351,501) (286,723) (87) (61,342) (699,653)
Exchange realignment g 717 5,076 12,287 — 231 18,311
At 31 December 2022 ®2022€12A318 49,880 568,612 1,538,190 7,556 29,183 2,193,421
Accumulated depreciationand Bt ERHEE:
impairment:
At 1 January 2022 2022451818 = (342,788) (891,554) (7,156) (59,007)  (1,300,505)
Depreciation provided during the ~ A REITE
year [note 7) (Wi 7) - (31,604) (64,912) (29) (11,909)  (108,454)
Transfers to investment ERERENE
properties (note 1) (M £E15) - 211 - - - 211
Disposals RE - 1,334 1,003 960 4,765 8,062
Reclassification to assets ENBARAREEAE
classified as held for sale - 345,415 225,507 86 58,967 629,975
Exchange realignment ExHE - (758) 4,553) - (106) (5,417)
At 31 December 2022 M2022F12 8318 = (28,190) (734,509) (6,139) (7,290) (776,128)
Net carrying amount: RERE:
At 31 December 2022 M2022412A318 49,880 540,422 803,681 1,617 21,893 1,617,293
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 # £2022F12A831H It F &

BYE - BENRKRE(E)

Machinery Office
Freehold Plant and and Motor  equipment
land buildings  equipment vehicles  and others Total
BRER
BELH RERET BERR BHE  HEHR ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
2021 005 ARBTLE AREBTR AREBTRT ARETT AR%TR ARETR
Cost: RA:
At 1 January 2021 R202151A18 53,108 973,941 1,663,976 14,305 71,638 2,776,768
Additions HE - 5237 34,059 326 12,102 51,724
Transfer from construction in BEAKEIR
progress [note 14) (W E14) - 17,954 157,366 = 4,651 179,971
Transfers to investment BRERENE
properties (note 15) (F 5£15) = (13,052 = = = (13,052
Disposals RE - (36,146) (16,728) (5,933) (2,251) (61,058)
Exchange realignment EXRE (3,945) (29,068) (61,576) (36) (505) (95,130)
At 31 December 2021 R2021612A318 49,163 918,866 1,777,097 8,662 85,435 2,839,223
Accumulated depreciationand R FERHEE:
impairment:
At 1 January 2021 R202151 718 = (344,431 (841,223) (12,089] (48,558]  (1,246,301)
Depreciation provided during the ~ FR:HREITE
year [note 7) (K gx7) - (35,158) (78,251) (542) (13279)  (127,230)
Transfers to investment BERERENSE
properties (note 15) (W 15) - 9,901 - - = 9,901
Disposals RE - 21,824 10,290 5,441 2,557 40,112
Exchange realignment ExFE - 5,076 17,630 34 273 23,013
At 31 December 2021 R2021612A318 = (342,788) (891,554 (7,156) (59,007)  (1,300,505)
Net carrying amount: RERE:
At 31 December 2021 R2021612A318 49,163 576,078 885,543 1,506 26,428 1,538,718

BEREERZERERLT 201

2022 F %R
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SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

14. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS WEEIR
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5E ARMF T ARETF T
Cost DN
At beginning of the year R F 7 20,318 49,199
Additions b 188,468 151,403
Transfer to property, plant and HEBEEME BEK
equipment F & 13 (42,186) (179,971)
Exchange realignment BE % 8 B (17) (313)
At end of the year RER 166,583 20,318
Carrying amount at 31 December RI12A3MERNEmEEAE 166,583 20,318
15.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15.REWE
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 AR® T AR T
Cost: AN :
At beginning of the year R F 1) 85,317 72,265
Transfer from property, plant and HEEBYE BER
equipment B 13 3,789 13,052
At end of the year RER 89,106 85,317
Accumulated depreciation: Rt &
At beginning of the year R F A (22,809) (8,341)
Depreciation charge for the year FRTE 7 (5,019) (4,567)
Transfer from property, plant and EEAME BEK
equipment =1 13 (211) (9,901)
At end of the year RER (28,039) (22,809)
Carrying amount at end of the year REXRWIREEE 61,067 62,508

The Group’s investment properties consist of several units
and car parking slots in a commercial building in Mainland
China. As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of the
investment properties was approximately RMB183,308,000
(2021: RMB185,160,000) estimated based on income method.
The fair value measurement falls into level 3 of the fair value

hierarchy.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

16. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of plant and
buildings, machinery and equipment, motor vehicles used in
its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods
of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under
the terms of these land leases. Leases of plant and buildings
generally have lease terms between 3 and 6 years. Leases
of machinery and equipment generally have lease terms of
5 years, while motor vehicles generally have lease terms
between 2 and 4 years. Other equipment generally has lease
terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.
The lease contracts of buildings and machinery include
extension and termination options. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

16. 82 E

EBEREA

AEBHRERERET  HBERRE
BRRHEZREEEAR - BB-XREX
T BEHEHEH/OFHHEE L EB
#OREBEIHEREGESR B TEFE
TR -BEREFNHEHENRABRER
3E6F MENEBENHEHRAERER
5 ERRBENEEHNRAR R2EL
FoHMbRBRFHEHERR/ M2 A
YTEH HEEFERRE - HRBFR
B HEABTHMAIRILIEEE - B
FoRERRFESEEZIEEMNER
EHENEE -

) ERAEEE

A 4 B ) 52 A E 0 PR T B DA
RABHEBERDT -

Plantand Machinery and Land use
buildings equipment Motor vehicles rights Total
HEREF HERZE EgRE IthERE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AR®ETT AR¥ETT AR®TRT ARETR
As at 1 January 2021 HZ2021F1818 16,931 586 649 83,254 101,420
Additions KEEM 3,420 - - - 3,420
Depreciation charge REHH (7,971) (488) (597) (2,374) (11,430)
Exchange differences on BEENEBEN
translation of foreign EfZES
operations (95) (98) (52) = (245)
As at 31 December 2021 and HE2NF12838ER
1 January 2022 2022%181A 12,285 — - 80,880 93,165
Additions REEM 3,175 2,350 90 - 5,615
Disposals RE (1,426) - - - (1,426)
Depreciation charge KE#H (7,906) (912) (35) (2,009) (10,862
Early termination of lease BAORMER
contract 1,390 - - - 1,390
Reclassification to assets ENBAREREEE
classified as held for sale - - - (34,847) (34,647)
Exchange differences on BERNEHEN
translation of foreign ERER
operations 23 48 3 - T4
As at 31 December 2022 HZ2022%128318 7,541 1,486 58 44,224 53,309
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. & (%)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) i F-Y 2:PNE D
(b) Lease liabilities b HERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the AREBEBNHEEENERESEMUNL
movements during the year are as follows: NEME IS RMT :
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBF T
Carrying amount at 1 January FHREEE 13,795 19,539
New leases MigHE 5,615 3,379
Accretion of interest recognised TN ERE R A B
during the year 662 594
Exchange differences on translation 2 & /& 5h 2 15 1)
of foreign operations ME H Z R 25 (231)
Payments  fF (8,569) (9,486)
Early termination of lease contract AR A& R (1,346) —
Carrying amount at 31 December FREEEE 10,182 13,795
Current portion AARBERE 7,297 6,575
Non-current portion FAERBEE 2,885 7,220
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBENIN A TARE B ®EM
note 38 to the financial statements. FE38H FE o
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to ) AEEERANEEBERBRAOT :
leases are as follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF T AR® T
Interest on lease liabilities HERBENER 662 594
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {F FAEZ EN & 10,862 11,430
Expense relating to short-term EHEHENTEEER
leases 37,034 48,175
Expense relating to leases of KEHENHEEHR
low-value assets 1,620 1,628
Total amount recognised in profit or & B 25t
loss 50,178 61,827
(d) The total cash out flow for leases and future cash (d) H E BB IR 2 M B A K R F
outflows relating to leases that have not yet commenced MHEHENRKRRES RO RIFR
are disclosed in note 33 and note 34 respectively, to the Bt SE33 A0 M 5E34 ©

financial statements.
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16. LEASES (Continued) 16. 88 (&)
The Group as a lessor ESHBA
The Group leases its investment properties [(note 15) of EFEBHEEREYREHETHEEY X (M
commercial properties under operating lease arrangements. FI5)HIETKERE - ZHEKR
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay EREABAGHES  TRETBBER
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments FHARES - SEAFERNEAK
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental A & A R ¥11,737,0007T (2021 : A R ¥
income recognised by the Group during the year was 11,234,0007T) °

RMB11,737,000 (2021: RMB11,234,000].

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted minimum lease HE=2022F12A318  AEEHEBEE
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under SRR RESEHEN AT R KA
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as EEREWZWT:
follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR AR T
Within one year —F R 3,877 8,497
After one year but within two years —FEWEAR 2,027 6,451
After two years but within three years MENE=FUARA 862 1,856
After three years but within four years =FAEHFENRRA 408 1,262
After four years but within five years MELA ERFUR — 920
After five years AFMNE — 371
7,174 19,357
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1.8®]EEE

Software Trademarks Total
0 (R =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2022 2022%12H31AH Mt 3 AR TR AR¥T AR¥T
Cost at 1 January 2022, FHFE
net of accumulated
amortisation 62,485 83,047 145,532
Purchased iy 22,493 — 22,493
Disposals & (6,749) = (6,749)
Amortisation provided NG ¥
during the year 7 (19,774) — (19,774)
Reclassification to assets ~ E 5 *E/é_'r%ﬁ
classified as held for EEE
sale (110) (83,047) (83,157)
Exchange realignment bE & & &) 522 — 522
At 31 December 2022 F 315)? B 58,867 — 58,867
At 31 December 2022 FR
Cost B AR 125,741 — 125,741
Accumulated amortisation 25+ # 84 & B E
and impairment (66,874) — (66,874)
Net carrying amount FRFEE 58,867 — 58,867
Software Trademarks Total
;1 ERE =
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
31 December 2021 2021412 A 318 Bt 5 AR T ARBET T ARET T
Cost at 1 January 2021, FHFE
net of accumulated
amortisation 62,494 283,047 345,541
Purchased iy 19,518 — 19,518
Disposals &
Amortisation provided AN |
during the year 7 (19,306) — (19,306)
Impairment during the F R E
year — (200,000) (200,000]
Exchange realignment [ & & &) (221) — (221)
At 31 December 2021 iﬂwr (=] 62,485 83,047 145,532
At 31 December 2021 FR
Cost B AR 132,457 283,047 415,504
Accumulated amortisation 2 5t # 84 & B (&
and impairment (69,972) (200,000) (269,972)
Net carrying amount FRFE 62,485 83,047 145,532

Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in

ﬂﬂ?ﬁ}*ﬁ’]ﬁ&iﬁ BRENT

B[ 85

“Administrative expenses”, “Selling and distribution

KA HFA AT ER A -

expenses” and “Cost of sales”.
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18. GOODWILL 18. &

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January MMATBMEREEE 991,236 991,236
Reclassified as assets held-for-sale EDRAEFIEREEE (189,000) =
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A3MEMEEEEE 802,236 991,236

Impairment testing of goodwill R E AR

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating unit for
impairment testing which is in line with the way in which the
Company manages its business:

e Milk powder products cash-generating unit group

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the milk powder
products cash-generating unit group is RMB802,236,000.

The recoverable amount of the milk powder products
cash-generating unit group has been determined based
on value in use calculation using cash flow projection by
reference to a five-year-period financial budget prepared
by management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection is 15.06% (2021: 15.90%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the milk powder products CGU
group beyond the five-year period is 2% (2021: 3%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use of calculation as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021. The following describes the
key assumptions, based on which management prepared
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

al Gross margin — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the average
gross margin achieved in prior historical years, adjusted
for the expected efficiency improvements and expected
increase in production costs.

BRAXEBAWNELNBEREBEEEER
BROAABSIEINNTReELETA
& DAHORE R

e PDHEMRTELENES

WO MHERBEEESENAEGD
EE A A R#802,236,0007T °

DMERREEHRSEMESTKE S5
UK EBERIMAFHHRBEEXTE
MAaREE HARSREENFERS
WEABETULEET REREEIN
85 38 & 515.06% (20214F : 15.9%) - B %
HERAFH BB SREMNEREEE2%
(20214 : 3%) o

TE 5 B20224F R20214%12A318 89 & A
BEREAETRE TEEBEERS
mEEAETEERE RS KEN
FEBRRFLDOT

al EMX — ARNEEREENXERE
MEEDNEEREZEREFENZE
LB ERMEK - A F EE KL R
FRFEHEERANEMT T IAFE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. 78 (&)

b) Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and b) IR KR — FTAITIRXRTIE AT K AR
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant group of ERARSELENNFERR -
CGU.

c) Growth rate — The growth rate used to extrapolate the c) EXR — ARNHERFHIUER S
cash flows beyond the five-year period is based on the MEMERER UG EREERE
estimated growth rate taking into account the industry HE UWEEBTEEREER BELK
growth rate, past experience and the medium or long BErNEBAESESENAREER
term growth target of the relevant group of CGU. BEAHESE -

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market ERIEGTEHEERREBENL WHEXMERE

development of dairy products, discount rates and raw MR BEREHNTERENBEEII

materials’ price inflation are consistent with external HBIERE—3 -

information sources.

19. DEBT INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST WU RATTENBEERE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARBTFT
Debt investments BEREKE — 24,532
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 # £2022F12A831H It F &

20. DEFERRED TAX 20. 3% %E #i 16
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FRELEMSHREEBNEBEENE S
the year are as follows: m
Accelerated
depreciation
of property,
plant and
Impairment  Tax losses Accruals  equipment Others Total
BEEEM

HEWE HEFR BRRR  BAE Rt aif

Note ~ RMBO0D  RMBO0D  RMBO0D  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMB'OO

i ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2022 R2022%1 718 1079 277,889 06 (18954 12899 35933

Deferred tax [charged)/credited tothe ~ ERMERR (1K) /
statement of profit or loss during the BEMBTHRA

year l (672) (36,488) 18,909 141 593 (17,517)
Charged to other comprehensive income ~ Eftf A ME Y & - 1,504 - - - 1,504
Reclassification to assets held forsale ~ EN P EEHERELE (937) - (58,985 - (175) (60,097)
At 31 December 2022 R02%E12A31A8 9,185 242,905 36,630 (18,813) 13,317 283,224
At 1 January 2021 RNE1R1R 9,221 224,449 118,020 (9,400) 8,636 350,920

Deferred tax credited/(charged to the ~ ERABZERES/
statement of profit or loss during the (g mEL =

year l 1573 5,741 (61,314] (9,548) 4,263 11,715
Charged to other comprehensive income  Eftiz AN ER % & - (3,301) - - - (3,301)
At 31 December 2021 R20214512 4318 10,794 277,889 76,706 (18,954) 12,899 359,334

Management expects that it is probable that taxable profits TR E B RRFE A 66 R ERT
will be available against which the above tax losses and B - AT AR LA AN bt B TR B 18 K A] 4
deductible temporary differences can be utilised in the RERMEESR -

coming years.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. 3 %E B 18 (4&)
The Group has tax losses arising in New Zealand of REBRNTABELANBREEREB ARE
RMB131,629,000 on which deferred tax assets have been 131,629,0007T 2 H 7R 5 iE 7 18 & 2 (2021
recognised (31 December 2021: RMB129,814,000) that are F12A8318 : A K #129,814,0007T) © A
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable W HAEEER AT RKEREF

profits of the companies in which the losses arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in China of REBRIPRHEELANBBEEEBAARE
RMB848,406,000 on which deferred tax assets have been 848,406,000 T HERIEE T T8 & &£ (2021
recognised (31 December 2021: RMB998,330,000). The tax F12A318 : A K #998,330,0007T) » A
losses arising in Mainland China will expire in one to five FRERKEEEANBEEEERN —Z2RF
years for offsetting against future taxable profits. The tax JEm A A KRER RHN - REBE
losses arising in Hong Kong are available indefinitely for AR IEGEREBEEBHRAEREELE
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in EEAO AR KRKEZRH SR

which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of BEEBRBEBEELT AL TNYIEBEER:
the following items:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBTF T
Tax losses arising in China (i) 7 AR E A A R TE B 4R () 406,150 1,169,740
Tax losses arising in New Zealand (i) R #@E LN
75 I8 /85 18 (i) 524,583 398,021
930,733 1,567,761
(i) The above tax losses arising in Mainland China are i) P IEBEEPRREKREEEN
available for a maximum of five years to offset against MEBEEBBEATANEERAAEELEE
future taxable profits of the companies in which the HERERMMNBERZHE - Lt
losses arose. The above tax losses arising in Hong Kong, EEEREBEENBEBENE
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future fREFIK B B AR R R IER & F -
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect R EMEENELERBEEL R T
of the above item as it is not considered probable that NER REARAEETKAIEHSE
there will be taxable profit available to offset against the ARERBFBAUNEERBAB
tax losses in the future. HERE -
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B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. 3 %E B 18 (4&)
(ii) The above tax losses are available indefinitely for (i) bzt 7% 78 &5 48 7] LA 4 PR EA 3K 44 &5 18
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies NABH AR K ER ZF

in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect MM SENELEHRBEEEIL KT
of the above item as it is not considered probable that NHER REARAEB TNAAgE#ES
there will be taxable profit available to offset against the AKRERBAEAANKE RS A
tax losses in the future. HEE -

The following deferred tax liabilities have not been AEZHEEHRBEE:

recognised in respect of the following item:

At 31 December 2022, temporary differences relating to 202212 A31H » B E A Bl K BE K 7
the undistributed profits of the subsidiaries established in HNF Al ARSEMNE BB 2 REE
Mainland China amounted to RMB1,267,822,000 (31 December B2 A ANK¥1,267,822,0007T (2021612 A
2021: RMB906,313,000). Deferred tax liabilities have not been 31H : A R #906,313,0000T) ° HERA AR
recognised in respect of the withholding tax that would be AEHEEEPERENFARNKES
payable on the distribution of these retained earnings, as the K WHERDLHEENAIR O R G
Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries in Mg ewnie  MABERN DI
Mainland China and the directors have determined that these EBEANBEESMNNTBREMRE
profits are not likely to be distributed in the foreseeable EEBREEERE -
future.
21. INVENTORIES .78
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMF T AR F T
Finished goods X G 266,754 299,925
Work in progress X fh 475,555 219,108
Raw materials R4 289,135 261,370
Packing materials B M 34,486 32,366
Low-value consumables NP PE 8,513 3,201
1,074,443 815,970
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SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 2.8 S W

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Trade receivables B 5 WK 415,976 426,513

Loss allowance for expected credit BHEERBXRRE
losses & (6,764) (11,783)
409,212 414,730

The Group normally allows a credit limit and credit term to
its customers which are adjustable in certain circumstances.
The Group closely monitors overdue balances. The Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, and there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivables. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

AEEBERTEPBEEEEREMNE
EHR YAERERATHE - XK
BEZELRARGRE ARENEFE
WHERETRAENNEFPAR B
BEEAGEETRAR AKBEHEES
EMRAFAEAERMmIEMBERE
MTH BHRERLEHREHNE -

R BRSO B B A R BRI
HEEHOKRRTAOT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARBTF T

Within 3 months =@ ANURA 307,500 365,080
3 to 6 months =Z=~@EA 64,309 46,198
6 months to 1 year NEAZE—F 36,026 2,679
1 to 2 years —FEMF 1,377 773
409,212 414,730
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2.E BN (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BoOEWHRBRERENES DT

trade receivables are as follows:

2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 ARB TR AR®T T
At beginning of year R E A 11,783 12,053
Impairment losses, net WEEKFE 7 (5,019) (270)
At end of year RER 6,764 11,783
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date BEREAHAeRABEERETRAE
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. o LN EEHEREBEL -  BHEXE
The provision rates are based on the ageing of the balances REBREUBABREANSESZEFPEND
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss AMEEPRI)NREKRET - 2t &
patterns (i.e., by customer type). The calculation reflects the RETHEMELER  E¥RKEBEMN
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and R ERBMAESNBENBAEENY &
reasonable and supportable information that is available at AIAR R AR R B MR R TE A8 & BB A
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and XENEM -
forecasts of future economic conditions.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk AEBZESRUAFEARBEBNEER
exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a provision EN 4= R SRS R 7 B
matrix:
Ageing
iR iR
Less than
1year 1to2years Over2years Total
As at 31 December 2022 R2022%12 8318 —FUR —-FEMF MmEN £ )
Expected credit loss rate HEHERBELAX 1% 67% 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) BEREEE
(ARBTT) 411,862 4,114 - 415,976
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEREBEX
(ARET ) 4,027 2,737 - 6,764
Ageing
AR iR
Less than
Tyear 1to2years Over2years Total
As at 31 December 2021 72021412 A31H —FUA —FEMF mE L Bat
Expected credit loss rate RHERBELEX 1% 83% 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) HMEREEE
(ARBTT) 420,121 4,425 1,967 426,513
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEREBEX
(ARET L) 6,164 3,652 1,967 11,783
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SO BRI ()
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23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND . FBFIE - HibfEW B R EHib
OTHER ASSETS EE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTF T
Tax recoverable B e B AR K 31,246 29,980
Prepayments of expenses AT E AR 35,296 24,671
Prepayments for purchase of raw BB R M B 8 T8 K
materials 3,029 23,988
Advances to sales offices B4R BB & 5,777 4,345
Others H 29,700 27,683
Less: Non-current prepayments W —FR EMRE
FEEA (786) (1,011)
Impairment allowance B % — (2,137)
104,262 107,519
Except the non-current portion disclosed above, the br Ll & 5B AN - TR FRIE - H A B UK
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are 18 K& HAth & B T8 51 1 £ — & i B sk Bk
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses within REEBHR -
one year.
24.0THER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS UHMRBEHMEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTF T
Bills receivable =iz — 93,865
At 31 December 2022, the Group’s bills receivable amounting MR2022F12A31H » A& B £ E N Z &
to nil (31 December 2021: RMB93,865,000) were measured at (2021912 A318 : AR¥ : 93,865,0007T)
fair value through profit or loss. ERUNAARBEAEEEZEHFAER

MEREESRE -
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B R SRR M EE ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 # £2022F12A831H It F &

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BATEERMTA
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR® T
Assets  Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
BE a8fE BE BE
Foreign currency forward EHINE S

contracts — 5,686 1,901 407
The Group has foreign currency forward contracts with AEEBREREXRRRR  HERTIVE
a bank to manage its exchange rate risk. These forward HISNE SR - ZEBEHNWIFIRTE H I+

contracts are not designated for hedging purposes and are A% TERALEBEEFABRITE -

measured at fair value through profit or loss.

26.CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER BRERBITERRRBETX
DEPOSITS
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTF T
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in & #f38 & /i & & AT 5
the consolidated statement of cash RELREZED
flows 1,648,640 1,529,931
Pledged deposits R & B R 1717 K 98,840 90,354
Time deposits with original maturity of REIHH A=A MU £
more than three months E H 7 R 387,485 965,674
2,134,965 2,585,959
Less: Short-term pledged deposits for  J& TR E ZRF S
banking facilities = TF 98,840 90,354
Less: Long-term bank deposits W R BAIRITER 245,124 370,558
Cash and bank balances as stated in the & £ Bf 7% #k 3% X F7 5l
consolidated statement of financial Re RIRITHE R
position 1,791,001 2,125,047
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26.CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER WHERBITEBRERRBEER

DEPOSITS (Continued)

(&)

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBFT
The above balances denominated in: AT & &5 {E 8
Re RIRITHE
— RMB - AR# 1,993,979 2,499,407
— Hong Kong dollar (“HKD") — B 7,883 10,415
— United States dollar ("USD") — X7t 98,943 33,332
— New Zealand dollar (“NZD") — A 19,195 30,683
— European dollar (“EUR") — BT 10,721 1,956
— Australian dollar ("AUD") — BT 4,244 10,166
2,134,965 2,585,959

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies.
However, under Mainland China’'s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at the prevailing market
interest rates. As at 31 December 2022, the effective annual
interest rates of short-term time deposits within initial
maturity of less than one year were approximately 0.3% to
5.29% (31 December 2021: 2.20% to 4.18%]. The effective
interest rate of long-term deposits was 3.55% to 3.85% (31
December 2021: 3.65% to 3.95%). The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2022, the short-term bank deposits of
RMB98,840,000 (31 December 2021: the long-term bank
deposits amounting to RMB50,000,000 and the short-term
bank deposits of RMB40,354,000) were pledged for bank
loans amounting to RMB284,200,000 and bank acceptance
bills (31 December 2021: bank loans amounting to
RMB120,556,000 and bank acceptance bills).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER
DEPOSITS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, there are no bank deposits pledged
for banking facilities (31 December 2021: the long-term bank
deposits amounting to RMB20,000,000 and the short-term
bank deposits amounting to RMB50,000,000 were pledged for
banking facilities).

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE

On 6 May 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd.
(“Danone APAC”]) whereby the Group has agreed to sell and
Danone APAC has agreed to purchase 100% equity interest
in Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. ("Dumex China”] within the
“Milk Powder Products” segment, subject to the approval
from independent shareholders of the Company and other
conditions precedent. On 16 August 2022, the independent
shareholders of the Company approved this disposal and
the disposal of Dumex China has been completed in March
2023 upon fulfilling other terms and conditions in the equity
transfer agreement.

The disposal of Dumex China was contemplated with other
transactions that were entered into between Mengniu, as
the controlling shareholder of the Company, and Danone
Group on 6 May 2022. In particular, Mengniu introduced an
upward adjustment to the consideration of its acquisition of
the 20% non-controlling interest in the chilled business held
by Danone Group, in order to incentivize the counterparties
to complete the acquisition of Dumex China. As a result,
the see-through amount of approximately RMB470 million
(subject to other adjustments), instead of the consideration
according to the equity transfer agreement, would be used to
calculate the gain or loss upon disposal of Dumex China.

BHEERBITERRRIFZER

(&)

H £2022F12A318 1F - EE TR
RITTFRAE (20215128318 - AR
TR HF 35 A K ¥20,000,0005T & R 1T
%2 H37F 7 A R #50,000,0007T & 'E #) o

.5 EHEEENAE

M202265H6H - A& E B Danone Asia
Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd ([Z &% 38 M | 57
YREEERE ASEERELEAR
ERDOMNAEBENMER INZ
EHENRREMBRABIZ EEPE]
100% ix 7 - B A A RA B LR FH
AR B A ARG © 202288168 » A&
RABLRERERNRNEE  EwmE R
W ED ENEMERIIE SR
AP B R E B L R2023F3A T ©

ZEZTENHHESHEELAR A IZ KK
RS ERE M R2022F 5868 5] AL
MHEBZXZHETTER - HREKFY
HBEdEEFANKREK20%3E
THIEREEMEERETTER LB
RHGEFERNEZEZELRFPEANKE - B
I WARBLITEIT(ATETEMAE)
WFEELHE SRARFTEZEZZTEN
EEHMERS MARREEEDRETH
HE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

27. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE N.FEHEEENAE (&)

(Continued)

Since the disposal of Dumex China was not yet completed AR ZE#ZPEA L ER2022512 831
as at 31 December 2022, the assets and liabilities of Dumex B &S R2022F12A31B 8 & 6
China are separately presented as assets and liabilities held AR ER  ZEZEUFENEENE
for sale in the consolidated statement of financial position at EEBI R ABIELEEEMNEE B
31 December 2022, and no impairment losses are recognised F202FENA3IBEEENAFERE
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year RS BERERBEER K -

ended 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2022, the assets and liabilities held for sale EH E2022F12A831B HIEHEBE L
comprise the following: BEEE:
2022
Notes RMB’000
Bt = ARB T
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEERHE 13 69,678
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 34,647
Intangible assets EmKEE 17 83,157
Goodwill [k 18 189,000
Deferred tax assets ELEFIAE E 20 60,097
Inventories Py 21 25,678
Trade receivables B 5 e WKk 22 156
Prepayments, other receivables  FE{fHIE - HMER AR BE R E & E 23 53
Cash and bank balances e MIRITH % 26 59,209
Assets held for sale RIFLEEE 521,675
Trade and bills payables BEHRNERZER 28 (15,997)
Other payables and accruals Hi B R R ETER 29 (3,957)
Income tax payable J& 1t P 1S 252 (3,896)
Liabilities held for sale BRIFLERR (23,850)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

28. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 # £2022F12A831H It F &

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

follows:

BEZERNRREE

RBERR BHEMNRRFREOREK
ST

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARET T

Within 3 months =@ AR 524,268 698,714
3 to 6 months =EAZENMHEA 54,371 21,143
More than é months N E A A B 48,667 94,028
627,306 813,885

Trade payables, including amounts due to related parties,
are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within one

month to three months.

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B2RNZ BREMNEBTOERR
BTHABRE—RBRR—ZE=ZEAREE -

NVHMESRRESTER

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®B T AR®F T

Accrued expenses EiIREH 139,078 63,516

Contract liabilities ARARE 56,941 160,033

Accrued payroll e 74,377 106,761
Payables for constructions of B TR

property, plant and equipment 75,907 65,278

Guarantee deposits from customers WHEF R E S 55,385 75,645

Other tax payables H A, & < 5 18 24,231 47,374

Interest payable JE A5 F) 2 42 m

Others H 83,146 50,510

509,107 569,228
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER NFTERITRHEMMER
BORROWINGS
As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2021
20224128318 R2021£128318
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB'000
BRI = (%) HEBE AR®TR  ZEAE@® HEEE  ARETR
Current ik
Bank loans — secured BAEH-FER 1300510 2023 320530 25510 2.80 2022 120,556
Credit loans EHER 2.30 to 2.95 2023 159,212 3.30 2022 200,202
Subtotal Nt 479,762 320,758
Non-current *RB
Credit loans EREX 2.90 2024 99,000 =
Subtotal Nt 99,000 -
Total Bt 578,742 320,758
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AREETF T
Bank loans denominated in RITER
— RMB - UAREKSE 542,412 320,758
— USD —AE T E 36,330 —
578,742 320,758
As at 31 December 2022, the time deposits amounting to M202212H31H 8 & 8 A R &
RMB98,840,000were pledged for bank loans amounting 98,840,000t #) & B3 77 3 % A N H 7
to RMB284,200,000 (31 December 2021: time deposits LA % B A R #284,000,0007T & iR 17 15
amounting to RMB70,000,000 were pledged for bank loans H(A2021F12B831B: @& 8 AR
amounting to RMB120,556,000). 70,000,0007T 8 7E B3 17 s 1% A R0 K # IA
HEELA R 120,556,000 7T B iR 1T 2 2K) ©
As at 31 December 2022, Yashili New Zealand pledged and 2022912 A31H - R FH A B A A
assigned to the bank the right of all its assets for a loan REMBEENRMEMKIERGR
facility of RMB41,954,000 (NZD9,500,000). As at 31 December 7 LA 1S A R ¥41,954,0007T (4 ¥
2022, the loan balance for this line of secured loan amounted 9,500,000) K E X 58 E o & 2202212
to RMB36,330,000 (NZD8,227,000). A31H ZEEREZNERBBEAA
R #36,330,0007T (4 #8,227,000) °
31. DEFERRED INCOME MIEEW &=
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T ARET T
As at beginning of the year F 1) 4 &4 10,074 9,200
Received for the year F A4 2 5,000 1,114
Amortisation for the year F A 5 (1,142) (240)
As at end of the year F R R 13,932 10,074
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31. DEFERRED INCOME (Continued) 313 SE W 5% ()
Deferred income mainly represents government grants BIEWATERREYE  WEMERMEE
relating to construction of property, plant and equipment, HHEENKTEE  EEBEEES G
which are recognised as income on a straight-line basis over AFEFRAFEHAEEGEEREA -

the expected useful life of relevant assets.

32.SHARE CAPITAL 2. A
Number of shares Nominal value
g gE| HE
000 RMB’000
TR AR TR
Authorised: 2 &t

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each &M EE0.178 T8 & @ & 10,000,000 861,600

Ordinary shares, issued and ERIT EBHE:

fully paid:

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 R20214F 2022512 A31H 4,745,560 399,352

33.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF BNEHEELERERMTE
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions QIEEFBRETH
In 2022, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use 02F - AEEBEBRLEFRESEE
assets and lease liabilities of RMB5,615,000 and MEERENIFEREXIARE
RMB5,615,000 (2021: RMB3,420,000 and RMB3,379,000], 5,615,000 1 A R %5,615,0007C
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for plant (2021: A R ®3,420,000f1 A R ®
and equipment. 3,379,000) 7 5!l &2 B8 7k 5 A &% A

HEZY-
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33.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

REHRESRERME(E)

(b)Changes in liabilities arising from financing

bR EIBDSIEHARESDNT

activities
Bank loans Lease liabilities
RATER HE&E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
(Note 30) (Note 16)
(Bt 5£30) (Bff 5E16)
At 1 January 2022 20221818 320,758 13,795
Changes from financing cash flows BEREHRENEFH
Proceeds from bank loans BERFEE ?K 1,805,501 =
Repayment of bank loans EEFTEERK (1,567,924) -
Principal portion of lease payments T & I ZK ) A4 ZH — (7,907)
Total changes from financing cash MERERNESEH
flows 237,577 (7,907)
Other changes: Hith & 8 :
New leases HiEHE — 5,615
Exchange differences on translation &8I ZEEHE X
of foreign operations =5 20,407 25
Interest expense MEER — 662
Interest paid classified as operating &2 &R E R
cash flows B AT — (662)
Early termination of lease contract LR AL R — (1,346)
Total other changes Hia B 84St 20,407 4,294
At 31 December 2022 2022412 A318 578,742 10,182
At 1 January 2021 M2021FE181H 365,857 19,539
Changes from financing cash flows BEREHRENE T
Proceeds from bank loans BERTS A 838,758 =
Repayment of bank loans EEFEER (883,483) —
Principal portion of lease payments &t H AR & ZH — (8,892)
Total changes from financing cash MERESREN
flows ney (44,725) (8,892)
Other changes: Hih &g
New leases HIEHEE — 3,379
Exchange differences on translation 3 &/ 5\ 2 15 &9 [E 3
of foreign operations = (374) (231)
Interest expense MEEA = 594
Interest paid classified as operating &ZREREFHF &
cash flows S35 — (594)
Total other changes Hih# 5 & 5t (374) 3,148
At 31 December 2021 M2021F12831H 320,758 13,795

222 YASHILI INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 7 AR MY 5 ()

Year ended 31 December 2022 #{ £2022F12A31B It FE

33.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

BEHBRERERMT(H)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (cHEEEHRE&RH
The total cash outflow for leases included in the HenERTEENHEENTRE ST
statement of cash flows is as follows: BT

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARBFTT

Within operating activities BEEEEEY (662) (594)

Within financing activities BEEMERE (7,907) (8,892)

(8,569) (9,486)

34, COMMITMENTS K-S

(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the

QI BEAHFERR AEEEARKE

end of the reporting period: BERET:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T T

Contracted, but not provided for: BEET#18 R B -
Housing and buildings BEKEEY 21,296 -
Intangible assets mAE 100 671
Plant and machinery Wk 2% B 130,480 556
151,876 1,227

(b) The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 December 2022. The future lease
payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are
RMB4,040,000 due within one year (31 December 2021:
RMB1,251,000 due within one year and RMB350,000 due in
the second to fifth years).

(b) B2022F 12 A3MB A EEEFEDE:
BHARABENEEEGR - REKMH
SRR HEAEAR —F AW
HEBHRAARKL0L0,0007T (2021
F12A318 + A R ¥1,251,0007T £ —
F R EH - AR ®350,0000T £ $ =
EERFAIE) -
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS BEHWHRS
(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in QIR EEAT B REEMPFFHIER
these financial statements, the Group had the following Bt S ANEBEZEREE T ET
material transactions with related parties during the LTERRS:
year:
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR TR AREBT T
Transactions with subsidiaries of & R E AR AR AY
the ultimate holding company FTRARINEET RS
Purchase of goods* M (i) 629,262 374,385
Sale of goods* 5 & B m* (i) 179,591 282,711
Service income* AR 75 e Ax (i) 18,960 45,570
Service fee* R 7% & F * (i) 27,150 11,720
Share option and share award P 22 5 4 K% B A R R
arrangements* FTEI* (i) 329 732
Transactions with subsidiaries of HRRERAGINEE
the ultimate holding company’s % 3R &) BT 1B A B A A
main shareholder BHRS
Purchase of packing materials BEREMH (i) 85,522 92,534
Purchase of raw materials EE R (i) 2,969 25,389
Sale of goods 3 & & m (i) — 12
Transactions with a substantial HAEBBEERTEN
shareholder and its subsidiaries KEHKEKB QA
Sale of base powder* HEEM* (i) 122,170 142,223
Purchase of raw materials* B8 R R (i) — 507
Income from consigned ZEMIIPE S
processing* U A* (i) 1,132 1,062
Consulting service expense* A RS B (i) = 1,330
Testing service income* 12 R BR 75 U A* (i) - 47
(i) The above related party transactions were conducted in accordance () FREBXZDHREESHLRRBE 2GR
with the terms mutually agreed between the parties. HEAT ©
*  The above transactions also constitute connected transactions or PR SHMER ETRALAERNRAEDN
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the BEXSFRHHEBEERS -
Listing Rules.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) B.EEH AR S (E)
(b)Outstanding balances with related parties (b)EHRB AR EERER
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARET T
TRADE RECEIVABLES B 5 ERX
A substantial shareholder and its HAEBBEEATER
subsidiaries "EHRENB AT 30,566 12,253
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding &R ZERZRAF KT QA
company 19,399 37,253
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding R &IER A RIH £ B IR
company’s main shareholder A BT B A Al = 340
49,965 49,846
PREPAYMENTS, OTHER FEATRIE  HibEW
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER MERHEMWEE
ASSETS
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding & & % A A K+ A A
company 126 2,805
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding &R ER Qa8 E B
company’s main shareholder ER:0N NN — 27
126 2,832
TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES BESENREREE
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding &R ER R E A E B
company’s main shareholder R AT B A A 33,097 47,514
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding & & 2A R K T A A
company 160,556 168,694
193,653 216,208
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS HftENREETER
Subsidiaries of the ultimate holding & #X ¥ & A 5] &9 F A A
company 9,307 13,257
A substantial shareholder and its HAEBBEEATERN
subsidiaries RERREKE QA 1,885 616
11,192 13,873

As at 31 December 2022, the above balances are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on credit
terms similar to those offered to or by independent third

parties.

the Group

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of

Key management compensation is detailed in notes 9 and

10 to the financial statements.

MR20229F12 8318 » | alt 4 %8 A& = 12
R -ESHBE ERBBEURAE
VEZFRHFESEHBILE = HIRHE

M 1E BEIRREE -

FEREEREBARHHS

FEEE AB R RMFE LY B R
RETFEIRI0 ©
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2022 F %R

225



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY WIRFERHETHNERMTE

HERESHER SELRIANERE
BT :

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
—E-CHF T %
+=ZA=+—-H +ZH=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Financial assets tWMEE AR® T ARBFTT
Financial instruments at amortised LA &R A EH
cost E@IA
Trade receivables 2 5 & WK 409,212 414,730
Prepayments, other receivables and  FE {4 5B « H b fE UL 5B
other assets & EMhEE 5,777 7116
Pledged deposits X PR il #R 17 17 K 98,840 90,354
Long-term bank deposits RHBRTHER 245,124 370,558
Cash and bank balances & RER 1T 4 R 1,791,001 2,125,047
Debt investments at amortised cost A # 8 5k K 5+ £ &9
BEERE — 24,532
Financial assets at fair value DAREBENFEEESH
through profit or loss FABENERMEE
Other current financial assets EMREemEE — 93,865
Derivative financial instruments TESM I A — 1,901
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—ZE-C —E-—4F
+=ZBA=+—H +—-_A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial liabilities THMEE ARB TR ARET T
Financial liabilities at amortised DR ATEN
cost cWMERE
Trade and bills payables EORNRERER 627,306 813,885
Other payables and accruals EmENREEGTER 326,736 255,060
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITE K 578,742 320,758
Financial liabilities at fair value DAREBEFEEESEH
through profit or loss SAEHERN
SEAaE
Derivative financial instruments MESMITEA 5,686 407
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF NERMIAZAREBERAAREER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial NEEBNSHTEAENERELAREBE
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that TEFFEURAALBEMERE 15
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: NS
Carrying amounts Fair values
REEE AREE
2022 2021 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT AR®TR AREBTT

Financial assets EWMEE
Long-term bank deposits RHRITHER 245,124 370,558 224,626 364,595
Other current financial assets HnghemEE — 93,865 — 93,865
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIA — 1,901 — 1,901
245,124 466,324 224,626 460,361
Carrying amounts Fair values
EEEE AREE
2022 2021 2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTI AR®TR ARE®ETR
Financial liabilities cRAR
Derivative financial instruments TELMIT A 5,686 407 5,686 407
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FRIRITER 578,742 320,758 519,676 320,758
584,428 321,165 525,362 321,165
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and ERHMEAEReMREFEY - &5
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, ARBEEDLSHEREFTR  BFHEIR
trade receivables, other current financial assets, derivative R Hn#eméEE  TEemIT A
financial instruments, trade payables, financial assets BIENRIE FTATERNRKIE - HfbfE
included in prepayments, other receivables and other WHEREMEENEREE AR
assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and HmENREREFERNSREBE T4
accruals, derivative financial instruments and short-term R THEH RHFABETERNALE
interest-bearing bank loans approximate to their carrying BEEEEHEEER BRELtesfT
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these EHRE B ERBAIE -
instruments.
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to
management. At each reporting date, the corporate finance
team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by management. The valuation process and results are
discussed with management twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following method and assumption were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of long-term bank deposits, other current
financial assets, structural bank deposits, derivative
financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’'s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings as at 31 December 2022 were assessed
to be insignificant.
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF NEMIAZARBERAAREREBR
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy LREER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement AEERANTERUNGHAERIADY
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: NAEFE:

Assets measured at fair value: BARBEFENEE:

Fair value measurement using
DAREFENER
Significant Significant
observable inputs observable inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2)
EXTHEEHA SRIHREHA
BB (EZZE8) B(F_FH)

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
20225128318 72021912 A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
Other current financial assets HEttndhemiEE — 93,865
Derivative financial instruments TESRMIEA — 1,901
— 95,766
Liabilities measured at fair value: BAABEFENERE:

Fair value measurement using
NAEFENER
Significant Significant
observable inputs observable inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2
EXTBEBA EAFTEE@A
BE(EZER) B(F_FH)

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
R2022%F12H318 72021412 831H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T AR T T
Financial liabilities THAE
Derivative financial instruments PTESMIA 5,686 407
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF NEMIAEZAREBERAAEER
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (%&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) D RE B RIE)
During 2022, there were no transfers of fair value FcMEER SR AEIL &E —
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers EREE_FH2ENAAEBEEERE
into or out of Level 3 for financial assets and financial BEAE =% A gEH (20215 -
liabilities (2021: nil). ) o

Assets for which fair values are
disclosed
EREAARENEE

Significant Significant
observable inputs observable inputs
(Level 2) (Level 2)
EATBEBA EATUTERHA
BE(E-Z8) #EB(E-FH)

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

720225128318 #2021F12831R°

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARETF T

Long-term bank deposits RHBRTHER 224,626 364,595
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are fair value and cash flow interest rate risks,
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally,
the senior management of the Company meets regularly
to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group's
exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of directors
of the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse and
approve the proposals made by the senior management of
the Company. Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. The Group’s accounting
policies in relation to derivative financial instruments are set
out in note 2.4 above.

(a) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the fixed
interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risk. The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and
short-term deposits are stated at amortised cost and
not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest
income is credited to profit as earned.

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest
rates of deposit and financial products with floating
interest rates by one percentage point, with all other
variables held constant, the consolidated pre-tax profit
would have no changes for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: nil), with no impact on other components
of the consolidated equity, except for retained earnings
of the Group. The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in interest rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and the
Group has applied the exposure to interest rate risk to
those financial instruments in existence at those dates.
The estimated one percentage point increase or decrease
represents management’'s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the
end of the next reporting period.

VY FEREERRRBE

AEBRTETRAINTIZSRTAR
BRABRRTENR BRERBEAFEDLR
EERER -ZFeRITANTIEZAN
DRASBEZEEE: - AKEHE
ZRERHEELEREENEMERMEE
RBE MEZFRKRFTARBEREER
BHEANHIA -

AEEZRIAEENTIEARARLR
BEEMRERENXRAR SRR -
FEERRERBEZRR - —KTE -
ApalmREEEeEMAREZOM
Ko bl FE B - B A B R A % R
o lbSh  ARREZEETHEFREGE
DR ERRAGRERERZNE
FHeo—HRME AFEREAREES
REURTREE - AKEBEBETESART
AEMEBRREAN XM aE2.4 °

RQIARRERRATEFERRE

AEBETEHEE L EEEFENEE
B NEREMEXEAR - NEE
BRUTERMERFRIZBHKA
Sl M AEEHEM - FBMEK
B ASZ R I AFF AR 25 -

W EZBMNEFEN TR LB M E
MM EERENE BRE—EAS
o mAABEEMEBEERNE . AEHZ
2022F12R3NBIEFE - & HERTF
s (2021 F EE L) HE K
EEAFEENEMRIS T EZE
WARDBEFBEBRIN - Pl HERE D
MEBREANEEHFO RN SHREHE
BAEMET ASEEBEBNF
ZEBRERBRZERHEFTENS R
TH -Fef—AE2HMERES
BEEHHANEE T —EAREHERAE
IR REAEEHHTG -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

38. 0t %5 L B B R B I IBBSR (4R

(b)Foreign currency risk

(b) 5 5 R b=

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
on bank deposits, other receivables, trade payables and
bank loans of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily
HKD, USD, NZD and EUR.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into currency forward
contracts, when necessary, to manage its foreign
exchange exposure. During the year, certain currency
forward contracts had been entered into by the Group.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the RMB exchange rates
to HKD, USD, NZD and EUR with all other variables held

AEBMIHNERREZREININE
AEZRITESR EMEKK E
ZENFRBEARRITER A EZ
BHBEXZZNEEBEAIINEE -
SIHERZEBTERBE XL
A AR BT e

AEEBBETHREE AT ENFI
ERBRREEHEIIERR LEH
ARFEBERAHN  AEEHEI
EWO - R AEEEFILETE
BEHREH -

TRITEMBEEMEBEHGERT T &
MIBERT ARBEEBY X -4
B A RBIT R B R A RE 3R W

constant, of the Group's loss before tax (due to changes in

PHEH(REREERAGNAR

the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities): BEHEH) U AEEHRAEBEENY
2o,
Increase/

(decrease) in RMB
exchange rate %

Increase/(decrease)
in loss before tax

ARBE=R B A B

EH/(TR) % LA/ (TH)
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR ARETT
If RMB weakens against the USD WMAREEETLRE (5) 4,563 833
If RMB strengthens against the USD  fd A R % E L7 (E 5 (4,563) (833)
If RMB weakens against the HKD WMARBRBTRE (5) 3,082 693
If RMB strengthens against the HKD  fig A RE 578 L7 B 5 (3,082) (693)
If RMB weakens against the NZD MAREAATEE (5) (2,749) 101
If RMB strengthens against the NZD  fig A RE X AT 7 B 5 2,749 (101)
If RMB weakens against the EUR fMARBABRTRE (5 (1,193) (826)
If RMB strengthens against the EUR ~ fd A RE LB (B 5 1,193 826
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

38. 0t %5 L B B R B I IBBSR (4R

(c) Credit risk (c) 5 & m%

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group’'s
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, bills receivable and derivative financial
assets is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from refundable rental deposits is considered to
be low, taking into account (i) the landlords’ credit rating
and (i) the remaining lease term and the period covered
by the rental deposits.

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’'s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within 90 to 180 days
from the date of billing. Debtors with balances that are
more than 12 months past due are requested to settle all
outstanding balances before any further credit is granted.
Normally, the group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

FERBREXZEFRERTHA
%%%ﬁﬁ$ilﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁm
cAKBENEERREIERA
%%KWME&fW*ﬁ K& E
RAZMASFEY EBEARER
TEERMEEMELNE SR BRK
OER AXZHFRAEERR
EEREEERRNRTRSBHE
B BEEEEETNERFH &I
MerE e REMBENHRE -
AEBRARERE WS M EED
EERRKERSEE -

EE Y L8N

AEBEHETEARREEBRRE
HAETE — Eﬁﬁuiﬁfmg
PETEAGEATH® ZEFFHE
EHERFATIMNEBRENL
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES B BEREEERERBR (&)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c)EE M (48)
Trade receivables (Continued) BESEWR(E)
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, REBEMSRMEE (BIETHEFER -
which comprise time deposits, entrusted loans and other ZAXERMEMERZ) NERER
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with KEXSHFHNELD  HFKEBRWK
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of DEREEEENEmEAE -

these assets.

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs Total
ERRM
EREX BEFANRAGREX #at
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach

5-BE  E-RRE  E=RE  Eth:
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

As at 31 December 2022 ®2022512 8318 AR®TR AR®Trn ARBTr AR%®TR AR%TR
Trade receivables* BHRY - - - 415,976 415,976
Financial assets included in BERNRIE  HibE

prepayments, other receivables and WHMAEENS

other assets REE

— Normal** —EEx 5777 - - - 5777

— Doubtful** — TR - - - - -
Pledged deposits RRHETER

— Not yet past due — R 98,840 - - - 98,840
Long-term bank deposits RBRITER

— Not yet past due - R3E 245,124 - - - 245,124
Cash and bank balances BERBTLER

— Not yet past due - K35 1,791,001 - - - 1,791,001

2,140,742 - 415,976 2,556,718
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
B R SRR M EE ()
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

38. 0t %5 L B B R B I IBBSR (4R

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c)EERMPE(18)
Trade receivables (Continued) BEEWR(E)
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs Total
NEAES
EREX BEGERESERELX @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
F-BER FoRE F-R& BlenE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000
As at 31 December 2021 R2021512 4318 AREBTT ARBTT AR®TR AREBTRT ARET:R
Trade receivables* BHREWH - - - 426,513 426,513
Financial assets included in BEBNRIE  HibE
prepayments, other receivables and WHMAEENS
other assets BEE
— Normal** —EEx 71116 - - - 7116
— Doubtful** — TR - - - - -
Pledged deposits RBHETER
— Not yet past due — R 3|E 90,35 - - - 90,354
Long-term bank deposits RBRITER
— Not yet past due - R3E 370,558 - - - 370,558
Cash and bank balances BERBTLEER
— Not yet past due - K35 2,125,047 - - - 2,125,047
2,593,075 - - 426,513 3,019,588
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

38. 0t %5 L B B R B I IBBSR (4R

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations. The Group’s objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility

through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans and other

interest-bearing loans.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

(d) 7% Bh 1 L B

AEEFRAEEUERBESAET
EERESEROAR -ZILTAEE
BEEBMIANEREE DIWMES
FWET) NI HAARELE T
BEiReRE - AKENBEERA
BEMBRTE RITERMEAM
AEREFR EETEEMEMEREMN
ZEREE -

AEBEARREBMABERHEA
MEBMBER(ZARRFTEMNFKAE
LI

Within 1 year
or on demand 1to 2 years 2to byears Total

-FERH
REX -ZME “ERE h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
As at 31 December 2022 2022128318 ARETT ARETT ARETn AR®Tn
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBIA 5,686 - - 5,686
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,587 1,730 1,311 10,628
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERTEN 479,742 99,000 - 578,742
Trade and bills payables EHRNEAREE 626,012 812 482 627,306
Other payables and accruals HERAREFER 326,736 = = 326,736
1,445,763 101,542 1,793 1,549,098

As at 31 December 2021 202112 318

Derivative financial instruments fTEE@IA 407 = = 407
Lease liabilities HEAE 6,982 5,601 2,089 14,672
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTERITER 320,758 - - 320,758
Trade and bills payables BIRANEARER 813,885 - - 813,885
Other payables and accruals i EMARETER 255,060 - - 255,060
1,397,092 5,601 2,089 1,404,782
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

38. 0t %5 L B B R B I IBBSR (4R

(e) Capital management

le)BFEH

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the year ended
31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: nil).

The Group uses different measures including an adjusted
net debt-to-equity ratio to monitor its capital. Net debt is
calculated as interest-bearing bank loans, as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position, less cash
and bank deposits. Total capital is calculated as equity
holders’ funds [i.e., total equity attributable to owners of
the parent), as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The ratios as at the end of the reporting
periods were as follows:

AEEEAEENTIEERERRE
AEBFBBERERBERREELL
KRN UXFHKEEBRREAL
BEREE -

AEEEBHEEARE  WREL
ERAOBLEREEEENRKRE
BAEL TR - H £2022412 8318 1+
FE BAEEMBEE BREXIBF
&) (202164128318 - ) -

AEBEERIRERE BRELHE
FEBEEL X UERHEEBER-
FEBUNAHEERBERATIONE
REERBRBREERRTERAES
h-BREXAUNABHEERBBERMAT
WEERAEAR (B ARKRER
BARGRAEDFESL - BER
EHRNLELEMT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AR T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTRBRITEXK
(note 30) (Ff F£30) 578,742 320,758
Lease liabilities (note 16) HE &G E6) 10,182 13,795
Less: Vo
Cash and cash equivalents [note 26) BHERKRESZEEY
(Fft 7E26) 1,648,640 1,529,931
Short-term bank deposits RAERTEX 142,361 595,116
Long-term bank deposits (note 26) REBRITER
(P 3£ 26) 245,124 370,558
Pledged bank deposits (note 26) % PR 1 8] 17 17 3K
(Fft % 26) 98,840 90,354
Net debt BEFER (1,546,041) (2,251,406)
Total equity attributable to owners BRRREREA
of the parent JEih = B K 5,316,008 5,528,059
Adjusted net debt-to-equity ratio KRR FEBER
by & (29%) (41%)

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

BREARAXEERMFRAME
EXRNIMBEMANERER -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
SO BRI ()
Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD NHERRE R
The disposal of Dumex China as detailed in Note 27 was KRN T 202353828 1R 15 I8 £ 8 & %
completed on 2 March 2023 in accordance with the equity EEK T AT ZEZPENEE
transfer agreement. Upon the completion of the disposal, BRERTKE AR TBFEEZELF
the Company has ceased to hold any interest in Dumex BEmEz ZEBPEHTEBRAR
China, and Dumex China has ceased to be a subsidiary of the AMFAF c At ZEUFENTF
Company. Since then, the financial results of Dumex China EEBTEBMARNEBNEFIHEHRE -

will no longer be consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40. AT B 35 AR R
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the MERBAARALNTOFTERAEZE W T

Company at the end of reporting period is as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KT AFRER 5,315,077 5,315,077
Total non-current assets EREE EBEE 5,315,077 5,315,077
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, other receivables and TEATFRIE - E At fE UK
other assets RERHEMEE 737,727 257,131
Cash and cash equivalents ReNBESEEY 2,139 11,798
Total current assets MENE ELRT 739,866 268,929
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B 5 182 1,042
Other payables and accruals o fE 1 50IE K FE BT
Z A 10,836 11,810
Total current liabilities mEBEERE 11,018 12,852
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 728,848 256,077
Net ASSETS EEFRHE 6,043,925 5,571,154
EQUITY R
Share capital % 7R 399,352 399,352
Reserves ER 5,644,573 5,171,802
Total equity B 6,043,925 5,571,154
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40.Statement of financial position of the company 40. 2T &1 & AR 57 R K (&)

(Continued)
Note: Bt 3T -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARMFEHEZSHOT -
Capital
redemption Contributed Translation  Accumulated
Share premium reserve surplus reserve losses  Total reserves
ROEE EFEBERE B4R ERfRE ZHER REAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
i ii v iv
At 1 January 2021 R202151 1B K & 8 3,845,616 818 1,449,863 70,617 (41,801 5,325,113
Total comprehensive income for the GaWaEE
- - - (162,495 9,184 (153,311)
At 31 December 2021 R0 FE12A318 0 & 3,845,616 1 1,449,863 (91,878) (32,617) 5,171,802
Total comprehensive income for the GEWHEE
year - - 511,591 (38,820) 472,11
At 31 December 2022 2022512 A31B ) & £ 3,845,616 1,449,863 419,713 (71,437) 5,644,573
Notes: B o
(i) Share premium (i) BtmE

(ii)

(iii)

The excess of the issued price net of any issuance expenses over the
par value of the shares issued has been credited to the share premium
account of the Company. Under the Companies Law (Revised] of the
Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital redemption reserve

On 10 June 2011 and 13 June 2011, the Company totally repurchased
its own ordinary shares of 10,000,000 at an aggregate price (including
transaction fee and commission]) of HK$18,728,000 (equivalent of
RMB15,538,000), which was deducted from reserves.

The repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly the issued
share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of these
shares. An amount equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of
HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to RMB818,000] was transferred to the capital
redemption reserve. The premium and transaction costs paid on the
repurchase and cancellation of the shares of HK$17,728,000 (equivalent
to RMB14,720,000) were charged to reserves.

PRC statutory reserve

PRC statutory reserves were established in accordance with the
relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles of association of
the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC. Transfers to the reserves were
approved by the board of Directors.

(ii)

(iii)

BTEMBRENETRDBHOSETRAT
ENHBREAARRANERMNEBR - RIEM
SRERAFAMRERT) ARARN EERS
BLANRTFARARR  HEEEEZHD KK
SRR ARRAABRNEEERBEER
BRETEIHZE -

e

R201ME6A108 K6A13H » A A A £ @ #EH
B & &) % & A%10,000,0000% - EEE(EFE
BREE) BB 18,728,000t (HHE R AR
15,538,0007T) * WE R EHEP B

BIERMDEWESE  MARRH B HTRAT
EHEREZZSFONERONEE - ZHRKRH
)T {8 7% #1,000,0007T (5B A R#818,0007T)
BARNDLOBEET -SEBRIHEBRMOAX
/9 5 8 & 32 5 Ak 7 75 #517,728,000 T (5B A
R#14,720,0000) EEREEFR K ©

BE E 8
FEOEER B RIEAAETEBRARERNA

RARABTEMBARMNEHERMART -
FEHNERDEESESHE -

BITAEERERERAT
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B OF B 75 AR MY 5 (&)

Year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F12A318 It FE

40.Statement of financial position of the company
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

iv)

(v)

(vi)

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements.

Contributed surplus

As part of the Reorganisation, the shareholders of Yashili (Guangdong)
transferred their equity interests in Yashili (Guangdong) to Yashili (HK])
on 2 July 2010. A contributed surplus of RMB1,367,204,000 was resulted
from these transfers for the purpose of the Group’'s consolidated

financial statements.

In addition, for the purpose of the Company's financial statements,
a contributed surplus of RMB1,449,863,000 arose from the issuance
of shares by the Company in exchange for the equity interests in the
subsidiaries held by the shareholders of these subsidiaries pursuant to
the Reorganisation.

Merger reserve

As part of the Reorganisation, the then shareholders of Yashili
(Guangdong) transferred their equity interests in Yashili (Guangdong)
to Yashili (HK) on 2 July 2010. A merger reserve of RMB1,367,204,000
was resulted from these transfers for the purposes of the consolidated

financial statements.

In 2015, Yashili (Guangdong) (the “acquirer”], a subsidiary of the Group,
acquired 100% interest in Oushi Mengniu (the “acquiree”), a subsidiary
of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, which was accounted for as a
business combination under common control, as both the acquirer and
acquiree are subsidiaries of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited. The
acquisition also constitutes connected transactions as defined in the
Listing Rules. The acquisition was completed on 16 November 2015. The
purchase consideration in form of cash amounted to RMB1,050,000,000
has been fully paid as at 31 December 2015.

41, APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2023.
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B aE: ()

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

BE 3L 8

EXREEEEREMBHRMmELNOMEIN
[EER -

201067828 - fEAEAM— 5% - 5
(BER)ERORREBEER LR (ER) 8 #E
mEERBLTR (BB - AEEES TR
FHPAZEEELEEHAHAR1,367,204,000
5o

BN RARRI B BRET REHAARAA
TREBLBRIMFARIKRELE T AREAENE
mEAEBEHRBARL49,863,0007T °

BOHREE

M2020F7H28 - BERE LA ERK O KR
BEHERREITAOEZBEZRELANSE
BoEREAN BN  AHBEEARK
1,367,204,0007T & 5% ¥ & i & £ ©

R05FRETFER(KRBES])  AEBEM—
RFAA - WEERESF((HEBE])M100%
Ban(FEERFIAEARARNN—RFRA) -
AL ATRRFILEBRAANTA
Al ZMERBARR —ZEHCEEH - ZRH
thEK EMRAMRENBERS - ZUER
205FMAE K - WEHBARREARK
1,050,000,0007C © 72015512 A31H 2 & %

=E
/B °

B RRAZE
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFMBHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the HEKEXTERR 2 AEE BT 7@
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BFEEAhZXE EELBEMZN
published audited financial statements, is set out below. e

The table below sets forth the summary statement of profit or TEXRH I AEBAR A RHMMIBEERHBE

loss information of the Group for the periods indicated: R

RMB million AREEETT 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Revenue A 3,011.20 3,412.00 3,649.20 4,434.70 3,738.20
Cost of sales 8B K A (1,817.40)  (2,145.20)  (2,315.40)  (2,974.70)  (2,687.90)
Gross profit EH 1,193.80 1,266.80 1,333.80 1,460.00 1,050.30
Other revenue N 91.60 28.90 102.00 59.50 125.20
Selling and distribution 4 & & &8 44 51 %

expenses (1,140.40) (963.80) (1,039.10) (1,146.80)  (1,088.20)
Administrative THRAX

expenses (208.60) (223.00) (186.60) (239.30) (233.10)
Impairment losses on & @ & E B (&

financial assets =S 1.20 (5.80) (3.80) (2.70) (0.20)
Other expenses H i 5 2 (69.90) (84.80) (151.50) (275.50) (83.40)
(Loss)/profit from SRR

operations (E#8) (132.30) 18.30 54.90 (144.80) (229.40)
Finance income B 15 W A 113.60 94.50 88.50 72.90 50.00
Finance costs B 75 B AR (16.10) (9.80) (13.70) (21.20) (23.50)
Net finance income RSN 97.50 84.70 74.80 51.70 26.50
(Loss)/profit before R BT 43 T4 A

income tax m A (&) (34.80) 102.90 129.70 (93.10) (202.90)
Income tax expense FEBREX 87.10 9.40 (28.60) 11.70 (27.80)
Profit/(loss) for the FEER

year (B 18) 52.30 112.40 101.10 (81.40) (230.70)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
AFEMBHRE(E)

The table sets forth the summary statement of financial position & 3 & 7| /& &£ & 720184 + 20194F - 2020
information as at 31 December 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022: F 2021 F K2022F12A3MHEERAGE R

MEER:

RMB million AREEER 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Non-current assets FERBEE 3,555.60 4,072.80 4,189.20 3,629.90 3,088.50
Current assets mEEE 4,166.60 3,439.70 3,602.80 3,649.40 3,999.40
Current liabilities DiERERE 2,150.00 1,799.30 2,028.90 1,710.90 1,656.10
Net current assets mEEEFE 2,016.60 1,640.40 1,573.90 1,938.50 2,343.30
Total assets less EEERRDAERE

current liabilities 5,572.20 5,713.20 5,763.10 5,568.40 5,431.80
Non-current liabilities 3ERE A& 14.40 31.50 40.00 40.30 115.80
Net assets EEE 5,557.80 5,681.70 5,723.10 5,528.10 5,316.00
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